

Wayne State University

Wayne State University Dissertations

1-1-2015

New Characterizations Of Sobolev Spaces On Heisenberg And Carnot Groups And High Order Sobolev Spaces On Eucliean Spaces

Xiaoyue Cui *Wayne State University,*

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_dissertations Part of the <u>Mathematics Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Cui, Xiaoyue, "New Characterizations Of Sobolev Spaces On Heisenberg And Carnot Groups And High Order Sobolev Spaces On Eucliean Spaces" (2015). *Wayne State University Dissertations*. 1395. https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_dissertations/1395

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@WayneState. It has been accepted for inclusion in Wayne State University Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@WayneState.

NEW CHARACTERIZATIONS OF SOBOLEV SPACES ON HEISENBERG AND CARNOT GROUPS AND HIGH ORDER SOBOLEV SPACES ON EUCLIDEAN SPACES

by

XIAOYUE CUI

DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Graduate School

of Wayne State University,

Detroit, Michigan

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

2015

MAJOR: MATHEMATICS

Approved By:

Advisor

Date

DEDICATION

To my family

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my advisor, professor Guozhen Lu, for his endless support and care, spiritual guidance and academic training. To me, he is the best mentor with rich knowledge and responsibility. His help is selfless from important to trivial. Without Prof. Lu, my advisor and committee chair, it is likely my projects never would have been finished. His willingness to boldly pursue interesting mathematics no matter how hard is an inspriation to me. It is my great honor to be his student, and he is my lifetime role model.

Next, I would like to thank Professor Pao-Liu Chow, Professor Jose-Luis Menaldi, Professor Peiyong Wang and Professor Weisong Shi for serving on my committee, and for the guidance and help for my PhD study.

I cannot accomplish my first two projects without the help of my dear friend and collaborator Lam Nguyen. I will never forget the every week meetings at Wayne State with the two of us trying to see how we would ever finish the projects. I enjoyed the work with him very much and learned a lot from him. I want to thank him to show me the spirit of doing research and the beauty of mathematics.

During my graduate study, Professors Guozhen Lu, Peiyong Wang, Pao-Liu Chow, Tao Mei, Tze-Chien Sun, Alex Korostelev, Bertram Schreiber, Ualbai Umirbaev and Po Hu have contributed to my solid knowledge. Ms. Mary Klamo, Ms. Patricia Bonesteel, Ms. Schultz Shereen, Dr. John Breckenridge, Dr. Daniel Isaksen, have trained me and supported me on teaching and many other aspects. Prof. Guozhen Lu, Peiyong Wang, Tao Mei, Alex Korostelev, Bertram Schreiber and Ms. Mary Klamo, Ms. Patricia Bonesteel wrote me strong recommendation letters for my job hunting. Dr. Daniel Frohart supported me a lot for my graduate student travel awards. I would like to express my gratitude to them. I must also recognize a number of friends Xiaolong Han, Yayuan Xiao, Jiuyi Zhu, Lu Zhang, Mengxia Dong, Jiawei Shen, Jungang Li, Hailong Guo, Yuan Quan, Zhixin Yang, Yuan Tian and Wei Ouyang who helped me a lot in my graduate study and my life. I will never forget the five years I spent in Wayne State University with all these dear friends.

I would like to thank my family, and my friends, who have made my life meaningful and colorful.

Finally, I would like to thank Ms. Barbara Malicke, Ms. Joyce Wynn, Ms. Tiana Fluker, Ms. Maria Vujic and the entire Mathematics Department. The kind and prompt service makes the department a great place to study and work. I also want to thank the NSF grants(DMS-1301595) which supported me a lot in my research.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Dedica	tion	ii
Acknow	wledgements	iii
Chapte	er 1: Introduction	1
1.1	Background and Main Issues	1
1.2	Preliminary of Heisenberg group and Carnot group	9
1.3	Outline of the Dissertation	13
1.4	Notation Index	14
Chapte	er 2:New Characterizations of Sobolev spaces on Heisenberg groups	15
2.1	Some Useful Lemmas	15
2.2	Main Results	23
2.3	Proof of Main Results	25
2.4	The Case $p = 1$	28
2.5	Some generalizations and variants	33
Chapte	er 3: New Characterizations of Sobolev Spaces on Carnot Groups	41
3.1	Some Useful Lemmas	41
3.2	Main Results	43
3.3	The Case $p = 1$	44
3.4	Some generalizations and variants	45
Chapte	er 4: New Characterizations of Second Order Sobolev Spaces on Euclidean	
	Spaces	47
4.1	Main Results	47

4.2	Characterizations Using the Second Order Differences	51
4.3	Characterizations Using the Taylor Remainder	61
4.4	More Characterizations of Second Order Spaces: Combinations of First Order Dif-	
	ference and Taylor Remainder	66
Chapte	er 5:New Characterizations of High Order Sobolev spaces on Euclidean	
	Space	74
5.1	Main Results	74
5.2	Characterization Using mth-Differences	77
5.3	Characterization Using (m-1)th-Taylor Remainder	87
Chapte	er 6: L^p -differentiability of the functions in Sobolev space on Heisenberg	
	groups	98
6.1	main results	98
6.2	Some Useful Lemmas	98
6.3	Proof of main results	104
Chapte	er 7: Concluding Remarks and Future Directions	.11
Refere	$\mathrm{nces} \ldots \ldots$.12
Abstra	ct	.16
Autobi	iographical Statement	18

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background and Main Issues

This dissertation focuses on new characterizations of Sobolev spaces . It encompasses an in-depth study of Sobolev spaces on Heisenberg groups, as well as Carnot groups, second order and high order Sobolev spaces on Euclidean spaces. In this introductory chapter, we present the motivation of the study, outline of our approaches, and certain results.

Roughly speaking, a Sobolev space is a space containing functions with adequately many derivatives and endowed with a norm that judges both the size and regularity of a function. Here, the derivatives are in a suitable weak sense to form the space as a Banach space. There are many ways to define a Sobolev space: by the delicate and abstract theory of distributions; by consideration as the natural expansion of monotone, absolutely continuous and BV functions; etc. The most common one is to describe a Sobolev space $W^{k,p}$ as a vector space of functions equipped with a norm that is a combination of L^p -norms of the function itself as well as its weak derivatives up to a given order k.

Since Sobolev spaces appear and play important roles in many branches of modern mathematics such as partial differential equations, calculus of variations, differential geometry, complex analysis, probability theory, optimization and control theory, etc, there has been a substantial effort to characterize Sobolev spaces in many different directions. In his paper [19], Gagliardo used the semi-norm

$$|f|_{W^{s,p}(\Omega)} = (\int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^{N + sp}} dx dy)^{1/p}, \ p > 1.$$

to characterize functions in $W^{s,p}$. However, when $s \to 1^-$, we have that $|f|_{W^{s,p}(\Omega)}$ does not converge to the semi-norm

$$|f|_{W^{1,p}(\Omega)} = (\int_{\Omega} |\nabla f(x)|^p dx)^{1/p}.$$

In their recent paper [5], Bourgain, Brezis and Mironescu investiaged this situation and found that the scaling $(1-s)^{1/p}$ in front of $|f|_{W^{s,p}(\Omega)}$ reclaims the question. This discovery drove them to a new characterization of the Sobolev space. Indeed, Bourgain, Brezis and Mironescu proved that **Theorem 1.1.** Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a smooth, bounded domain, $1 , <math>\rho_n$ be a sequence of radial mollifiers in \mathbb{R}^N and $f \in L^p(\Omega)$. Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \iint_{\Omega} \iint_{\Omega} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho_n \left(x - y \right) dx dy = K_{p,N} |f|_{W^{1,p}(\Omega)}$$
(1.1)

with the convention that $|f|_{W^{1,p}(\Omega)} = \infty$ if $f \notin W^{1,p}(\Omega)$. Here $K_{p,N}$ depends only on p and N.

We note here that ρ_n is a sequence of radial mollifiers in \mathbb{R}^N , i.e.

$$\rho_n(x) = \rho_n(|x|), \ \rho_n \ge 0, \ \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \rho_n(x) dx = 1$$

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_n(r) r^{N-1} dr = 0 \text{ for every } \delta > 0.$$

The case p = 1 is more elegant. Indeed, it's interesting to note that though the left hand side of (1.1) is finite, we may still not have $f \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$. Nevertheless, if $f \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$, then (1.1) holds. In fact, the following result was showed in [5]:

Theorem 1.2. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a smooth, bounded domain and ρ_n be a sequence of radial mollifiers in \mathbb{R}^N . Then there exists constants C_1 , $C_2 > 0$ such that for every $f \in L^1(\Omega)$:

$$C_{1} |Df|(\Omega) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \iint_{\Omega} \iint_{\Omega} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x - y|} \rho_{n} (x - y) dxdy$$

$$\leq \limsup_{n \to \infty} \iint_{\Omega} \iint_{\Omega} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x - y|} \rho_{n} (x - y) dxdy \leq C_{2} |Df|(\Omega)$$

$$(1.2)$$

where $|Df|(\Omega)$ is the total variation of the measure Df, the distributional derivative of f, and $|Df|(\Omega) = \infty$ if $f \notin BV(\Omega)$.

Thus the BV semi-norm is really the limiting case of the characterization of $W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ as $p \to 1$. The fact that $C_1 = C_2 = K_{1,N}$ was proved by Bourgain, Brezis and Mironescu in one dimensional case, and by Dávila in [14]. This can be stated as follows:

Theorem 1.3. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be an open, bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary and ρ_n be a

sequence of radial mollifiers in \mathbb{R}^{N} . Then for $f \in L^{1}(\Omega)$:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \iint_{\Omega} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x - y|} \rho_n (x - y) \, dx \, dy = K_{1,N} \left| Df \right| (\Omega) \tag{1.3}$$
$$|(\Omega) = \infty \text{ if } f \notin BV (\Omega) \, .$$

where $|Df|(\Omega) = \infty$ if $f \notin BV(\Omega)$. Thus the BV semi-norm is really the limiting case of the characterization of $W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ as $p \to 1$.

We can see that the above results contribute to the new characterizations of the Sobolev spaces $W^{1,p}(\Omega)$, $1 , and the space <math>BV(\Omega)$ when Ω is a smooth domain. We note here that there are statements similar to those in Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 1.3 when the smooth bounded domain Ω is replaced by \mathbb{R}^N . However, these characterizations are in general false for arbitrary open and bounded sets, by a construction of Brezis in [7].

In 2006, H-M. Nguyen [34] studied some new characterizations of Sobolev spaces that are closely related to those of Bourgain, Brezis and Mironescu [5]. Indeed, the following two theorems were conjectured by Brezis and confirmed in [34]:

Theorem 1.4. Let 1 . Then

(a) There exists a constant $C_{N,p}$ depending only on N and p such that

$$\iint_{\substack{|g(x)-g(y)|>\delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+p}} dx dy \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla g(x)|^p dx, \ \forall \delta > 0, \ g \in W^{1,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^N\right)$$
(b) If $g \in L^p\left(\mathbb{R}^N\right)$ satisfies

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \iint_{|g(x)-g(y)|>\delta} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+p}} dx dy < \infty$$

then $g \in W^{1,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^N\right)$.

(c) Moreover, for any $g \in W^{1,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^{N}\right)$,

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \iint_{|g(x) - g(y)| > \delta} \frac{\delta^p}{|x - y|^{N+p}} dx dy = \frac{1}{p} K_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla g(x)|^p dx$$

where

$$K_{N,p} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} |e \cdot \sigma|^p \, d\sigma \text{ for any } e \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}.$$

Theorem 1.5. Let 1 . Then

(a) There exists a constant $C_{N,p}$ depending only on N and p such that

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \iint_{|g(x)-g(y)|\leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |g(x)-g(y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+p}} dxdy + \iint_{|g(x)-g(y)|>1} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+p}} dxdy$$
$$\leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla g(x)|^{p} dx, \ \forall g \in W^{1,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^{N}\right).$$
(b) If $g \in L^{p}\left(\mathbb{R}^{N}\right)$ satisfies
$$(f = \varepsilon |g(x) - g(y)|^{p+\varepsilon} \qquad f = 1$$

 $\sup_{\substack{0<\varepsilon<1\\|g(x)-g(y)|\leq 1}} \underbrace{\iint}_{\substack{|g(x)-g(y)|\leq 1}} \frac{\varepsilon |g(x)-g(y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+p}} dxdy + \underbrace{\iint}_{\substack{|g(x)-g(y)|> 1}} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+p}} d<\infty$ then $g \in W^{1,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^{N}\right)$.

(c) Moreover, for any $g \in W^{1,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^{N}\right)$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{|g(x) - g(y)| \le 1} \frac{\varepsilon |g(x) - g(y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x - y|^{N+p}} dx dy = K_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla g(x)|^p dx.$$

Moreover, the delicate case p = 1, the case of bounded domain with smooth boundary and other variants and generalizations were also demonstrated in [34]. These results were generalized further by Bourgain and H-M. Nguyen [6] and H-M. Nguyen [35].

Attempting to achieve similar characterizations for higher order Sobolev spaces, Borghol studied in [8] some properties of high order Sobolev spaces $W^{k,p}(\Omega)$ where $1 and <math>BV^k(\Omega)$ when p = 1 where $k \ge 2$ and Ω is a bounded smooth domain of \mathbb{R}^N in the spirit of Bourgain, Brezis and Mironlescu [5] using k - th differences. More precisely, Borghol verified that

Theorem 1.6. Assume Ω is a convex smooth domain. Let 1 and let f be a p-integrablefunction in Ω . Then $f \in W^{k,p}(\Omega)$ iff

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\Omega} \iint_{\Omega} \frac{\left| \sum_{j=0}^{k} (-1)^{j} {k \choose j} f\left(\frac{k-j}{k}x + \frac{j}{k}y\right) \right|^{p}}{|x-y|^{kp}} \rho_{\varepsilon} \left(x-y\right) dxdy < \infty$$

Moreover, when $f \in W^{k,p}(\Omega)$, we have $|_{p}$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\Omega} \iint_{\Omega} \frac{\left| \sum_{j=0}^{k} (-1)^{j} \binom{k}{j} f\left(\frac{k-j}{k}x + \frac{j}{k}y\right) \right|^{r}}{\left| x - y \right|^{kp}} \rho_{\varepsilon} \left(x - y \right) dx dy = \iint_{\Omega} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \left| D^{k} f(x) \left(\sigma, ..., \sigma \right) \right|^{p} d\sigma \right) dx.$$

Theorem 1.7. Assume Ω is a convex smooth domain and let $f \in L^{1}(\Omega)$. Then $f \in BV^{k}(\Omega)$ iff

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\Omega} \iint_{\Omega} \frac{\left| \sum_{j=0}^{k} (-1)^{j} {k \choose j} f\left(\frac{k-j}{k}x + \frac{j}{k}y\right) \right|}{|x-y|^{k}} \rho_{\varepsilon} \left(x-y\right) dx dy < \infty,$$

and in this case we have $|_{k}$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} \frac{\left| \sum_{j=0}^{k} (-1)^{j} {k \choose j} f\left(\frac{k-j}{k}x + \frac{j}{k}y\right) \right|}{|x-y|^{k}} \rho_{\varepsilon} \left(x-y\right) dx dy = \frac{1}{|\mathbb{S}^{N-1}|} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \left(\int_{\Omega} \left| D^{k} f(x) \left(\sigma, ..., \sigma\right) \right| dx \right) d\sigma.$$

In 2011, Bojarski, Ihnatsyeva and Kinnunen [4] used a Taylor $(k-1)$ -remainder to consider

the higher order Sobolev spaces in the sense of Bourgain, Brezis and Mironlescu [5]. Indeed, if we denote

$$T_y^k f(x) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le k} D^{\alpha} f(y) \frac{(x-y)^{\alpha}}{\alpha!}$$
$$R^k f(x,y) = f(x) - T_y^k f(x)$$

then Bojarski, Ihnatsyeva and Kinnunen could set up the following results:

Theorem 1.8. Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^N , 1 , <math>k be a positive integer and let $f \in W^{k-1,p}(\Omega)$. Then $f \in W^{k,p}(\Omega)$ iff

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\Omega} \iint_{\Omega} \frac{\left| R^{k-1} f(x, y) \right|^p}{|x - y|^{kp}} \rho_{\varepsilon} \left(x - y \right) dx dy < \infty,$$

and in this case

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\Omega} \iint_{\Omega} \frac{\left| R^{k-1} f(x,y) \right|^p}{|x-y|^{kp}} \rho_{\varepsilon} \left(x-y \right) dx dy$$
$$= \iint_{\Omega} \iint_{\partial B(0,1)} \left| \sum_{|\alpha|=k} \frac{D^{\alpha} f(x)}{\alpha!} v^{\alpha} \right|^p dv dx.$$

We note here that the pointwise characterization of the Sobolev space in the spirit of Hajlasz [20] was made by Bojarski [2].

There have also been definitions and characterizations of Sobolev spaces in metric measure spaces (namely, homogeneous spaces in the sense of Coifman-Weiss [11]). To describe this, we need to introduce some preliminaries on metric spaces. Let (S, ρ, μ) be a metric space with a metric ρ and a doubling measure μ , namely, for all $x, y, z \in S$, ρ satisfies

$$\rho(x, y) \le \rho(x, z) + \rho(z, y),$$

and the measure μ satisfies the condition

$$\mu(B(x,2r)) \le A_{\mu}\mu(B(x,r)), \qquad x \in \mathcal{S}, \ r > 0,$$

for an absolute constant A_{μ} , where by definition $B(x,r) = \{y \in S : \rho(x,y) < r\}$, and $\mu(B(x,r))$ denotes the μ -measure of B(x,r). Such a metric space is usually called as a metric space of homogeneous type in the sense of Coifman and Weiss. As usual, we refer to B(x,r) as the ball with center x and radius r, and, if B is a ball, we write x_B for its center, r(B) for its radius and cBfor the ball of radius cr(B) having the same center as B. We always assume that (S, ρ) is locally compact and μ is doubling.

A notion of first order Sobolev space in an metric space using the pointwise estimates was first given by Hajlasz [20]. Another definition of Sobolev spaces of first order on metric spaces using the Poincaré inequalities seemed to have first appeared in the work by Franchi, Lu and Wheeden in [17]. This is in turn based on the equivalence of the representation formulae (pointwise estimates) and the Poincaré inequalities established in [17]. In the article by Lu and Wheeden [30], the authors introduce the notion of polynomials in metric spaces (S, ρ, μ) and prove a relationship between high order Poincaré inequalities and representation formulas involving fractional integrals of high order (see also [32]). Motivated by this and the definitions of Sobolev spaces of first order in metric spaces, Liu, Lu and Wheeden define in [25] Sobolev spaces of high order in such metric spaces (S, ρ, μ) . They prove that several definitions are equivalent if functions of polynomial type exist. In the case of stratified groups, where polynomials do exist and high order Poincaré inequalities do hold (see [27], [28], [32], [10]), we show that our spaces are indeed equivalent to the Sobolev spaces defined by Folland and Stein in [15]. Our results also give some alternate definitions of Sobolev spaces in the classical Euclidean spaces and the relevant notions of Sobolev spaces or gradients in metric spaces in Hajlasz [20], Cheeger [9], Korevaar and Schoen [23], Franchi, Lu and Wheeden [17], Franchi, Hajlasz and Koskela [16], Heinonen and Koskela [21] to high order Sobolev spaces.

To explain in more details what we have described above on Sobolev spaces on metric spaces, we now define what we will mean by polynomial functions on S following [30] (see [30], [25] for more details of the exposition).

Let (S, ρ, μ) be a metric space of homogeneous type, and let Ω be an open set in S. Our results rely on the existence of a linear class of functions P(x) (called polynomial functions) which satisfy both

(P1) For every metric ball $D \subset \Omega$,

ess
$$\sup_{x \in D} |P(x)| \le \frac{C_1(\mu)}{\mu(D)} \int_D |P(y)| d\mu(y),$$

where the essential supremum is taken with respect to μ ;

(P2) If D is any metric ball in Ω and E is a subball of D with $\mu(E) > \gamma \mu(D), \gamma > 0$, then

$$\| P \|_{L^{\infty}_{\mu}(E)} \geq C_2(\gamma, \mu) \| P \|_{L^{\infty}_{\mu}(B)}.$$

In stratified groups, including standard Euclidean space, (P1) and (P2) are known to be true for polynomials in those settings (see [15] and [27]), with constants $C_1(\mu), C_2(\gamma, \mu)$ which depend additionally only on the degree of the polynomial.

The role of degree of a polynomial is replaced by an exponent which measures the order of smoothness of a given locally integrable function f in the sense of assuming that the following Poincaré estimate holds for f and a positive integer k: there exist $q \ge 1$ and a function g such that for every ball $B \subset \Omega$ and some function $P_k(B, f)$,

$$\frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} |f - P_k(B, f)| \, d\mu \le Cr(B)^k \left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} |g|^q d\mu\right)^{1/q},\tag{1.4}$$

with C independent of B. $P_k(B, f)$ in (1.4) may be thought of as an approximation to f. In (1.4), g and q are allowed to depend on f but not on B. The function $P_k(B, f)$ may also depend on g, q and μ , and we sometimes write $P_k(B, f) = P_k(B, f, g, q, \mu)$. The important assumption for us will be that (P1) and (P2) hold for a linear class that contains $P_k(B, f)$ for all $B \subset \Omega$, with constants $C_1(\mu), C_2(\gamma, \mu)$ depending additionally only on k.

When (1.4) holds for a given f, we will say that f satisfies an L^q to L^1 Poincaré inequality of order k for every ball $B \subset \Omega$. For a stratified group, every smooth function f satisfies (1.4) with q = 1 and $g = |X^k f|$ for several choices of polynomials of degree k - 1 by the results in [27], [28].

Thus, using the notion of polynomials, several equivalent definitions of high order Sobolev classes on a domain Ω in a metric space (S, ρ, μ) with a doubling measure μ are given in [25]. We will use $\int_E f(x)d\mu(x)$ to denote $\frac{1}{\mu(E)}\int_E f(x)d\mu(x)$, and $||f||_{L^p_{\mu}(E)}$ to denote the L^p norm of f on E with respect to μ . We now recall two definitions of Sobolev classes given in [25].

Definition 1.9. Given a positive integer m and $1 , we define the Sobolev class <math>A^{m,p}(\Omega)$ to be the set of functions $f \in L^p(\Omega)$ so that for each $k = 1, \dots, m$, there exist q_k with $1 \le q_k < p$, functions $g_k(x)$ with $0 \le g_k \in L^p(\Omega)$, and polynomials $P_k(B, f)$ with

$$\int_{B} |f(x) - P_k(B, f)(x)| d\mu(x) \le r(B)^k \left(\int_{B} g_k^{q_k}(x) d\mu(x) \right)^{1/q_k}$$
(1.5)

for every ball $B \subset \Omega$. The polynomials $P_k(B, f)$ are assumed to belong to a linear class which satisfies (P1) and (P2) with constants depending only on k, γ, μ . If $f \in A^{m,p}(\Omega)$, we define

$$||f||_{A^{m,p}(\Omega)} = ||f||_{L^{p}(\Omega)} + \inf_{\{g_{k}\}} \sum_{k=1}^{m} ||g_{k}||_{L^{p}(\Omega)},$$

where the infimum is taken over all sequences such that (1.5) holds for f for k = 1, ..., m.

It is easy to see that $A^{m,p}(\Omega)$ is a linear space; moreover, $|| \cdot ||_{A^{m,p}(\Omega)}$ is a norm if all $q_k = 1$. **Definition 1.10.** Given a positive integer m and $1 , we define the Sobolev class <math>B^{m,p}(\Omega)$ to be the set of functions $f \in L^p(\Omega)$ so that for each $k = 1, \dots, m$ there exist functions $0 \le g_k \in L^p(\Omega)$ and polynomials $P_k(B, f)$ such that

$$|f(x) - P_k(B, f)(x)| \le r(B)^k g_k(x)$$
(1.6)

for μ -a.e. $x \in B$ for every metric ball $B \subset \Omega$. The polynomials $P_k(B, f)$ are assumed to belong to a

linear class which satisfies (P1) and (P2) with constants depending only on k, γ, μ . If $f \in B^{m,p}(\Omega)$, let

$$||f||_{B^{m,p}(\Omega)} = ||f||_{L^p(\Omega)} + \inf_{\{g_k\}} \sum_{k=1}^m ||g_k||_{L^p(\Omega)}.$$

The class $B^{m,p}(\Omega)$ is a Banach space with norm $|| \cdot ||_{B^{m,p}}$.

Then by a result of [25], we have

Theorem 1.11. Definition 1.9 and Definition 1.10 are equivalent.

In the spirit of H-M. Nguyen's paper [34], I will establish the similar results on Heisenberg groups and Carnot groups in this thesis.

1.2 Preliminary of Heisenberg group and Carnot group

Let $\mathbb{H} = \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ be the *n*-dimensional Heisenberg group whose group structure is given by

$$(z,t) \cdot (z',t') = (z+z',t+t'+2Im(z \cdot \overline{z'})),$$

for any two points (z,t) and (z',t') in \mathbb{H} . The Lie algebra of \mathbb{H} is generated by the left invariant vector fileds

$$T = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, X_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + 2y_i \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, Y_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} - 2x_i \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$$

for i = 1, ..., n. These generators satisfy the non-commutative relationship

$$[X_i, Y_j] = -4\delta_{ij}T.$$

with the Lie bracket given by the commutator

$$([X,Y]f)(x) \doteq (X(Yf))(x) - (Y(Xf))(x)$$

where X, Y are lie algebras on Heisenberg groups. Moreover, all the commutators of length greater than two vanish, and thus this is a nilpotent, graded, and stratified group of step two.

For each real number $r \in \mathbb{R}$, there is a dilation naturally associated with Heisenberg group structure which is usually denoted as

$$\delta_r(z,t) = (rz, r^2t)$$

However, for simplicity we will write ru to denote $\delta_r u$. The Jacobian determinant of δ_r is r^Q , where

Q = 2n + 2 is the homogeneous dimension of \mathbb{H} .

We use $\xi = (z, t)$ to denote any point $(z, t) \in \mathbb{H}$ and $\rho(\xi) = (|z|^4 + t^2)^{\frac{1}{4}}$ to denote the homogeneous norm of $\xi \in \mathbb{H}$. With this norm, we can define a Heisenberg ball centered at $\xi = (z, t)$ with radius $R : B(\xi, R) = \{v \in \mathbb{H} : |\xi^{-1}v| < R\}$. The volume of such a ball is $\sigma_Q = C_Q R^Q$ for some constant depending on Q. We also use $\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f$ to express the horizontal subgradient of the function $f : \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{R}$:

$$\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(z,t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} (X_j f) X_j + Y_j f Y_j)$$

Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{H} . We use $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ to denote the completion of $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ under the norm $\|f\|_{W^{1,p}(\Omega)} = (\int_{\Omega} (|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f|^p + |f|^p) du)^{1/p}.$

In fact, Heisenberg group is an explicit example of Carnot groups.

Definition 1.12. A **Carnot group** \mathbb{G} is a simply connected Lie group with a stratified Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , i.e. a nilpotent Lie algebra that can be decomposed into a direct sum of linear subspaces called layers, $\{W_j\}_{j=1}^k$, in such a way that the first layer generates the whole algebra:

$$\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{m} W_j, W_{j+1} = [W_1, W_j], \forall j < k, W_j = 0, \forall j > k.$$

The postive integer k is called the step of \mathfrak{g} .

We now introduce some basic properties of such groups.

Definition 1.13. let $\gamma_{X,x}(t)$ the integral curve of $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ passing through $x \in \mathbb{G}$

$$\gamma'_{X,x}(t) = X(\gamma_{X,x}(t))$$
$$\gamma_{X,x}(0) = x.$$

Then we define the **exponential map** on \mathfrak{g} as

$$\exp(X) \doteq \gamma_{X,\mathfrak{e}}(1) \in \mathbb{G}$$

and it is a local diffeomorphism of a neighborhood of $0 \in \mathfrak{g}$ to a neighborhood of $\mathfrak{e} \in \mathbb{G}: d \exp(0) = \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{g}}$, which extends to a global diffeomorphism if \mathbb{G} is simply connected.

Definition 1.14. Given a stratified Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , we can define algebra **dilations** as a 1-parameter group $\{\Delta_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda>0}$ of automorphisms of \mathfrak{g} which act on layers as

$$\Delta_{\lambda}(X) = \lambda^j X, \forall X \in W_j.$$

We can deduce algebra dilations on \mathbb{G} by the exponential mapping. We call a 1-parameter group of automorphisms of \mathbb{G} group dilations $\{\delta_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda>0}$:

$$\delta_{\lambda}(\delta_{\mu}(x)) = \delta_{\lambda\mu}(x), \\ \delta_{\lambda}(x \cdot y) = \delta_{\lambda}(x) \cdot \delta_{\lambda}(y), \\ \forall x, y \in \mathbb{G}, \\ \forall \lambda, \mu > 0.$$

The quantity $Q = \sum j \dim(W_j)$ is called the homogeneous dimension of \mathbb{G} .

IDENTIFICATION WITH \mathbb{R}^N : we can identify \mathbb{G} with \mathbb{R}^N endowed with the induced group law since the exponential map is a global diffeomorphism. If we set $m_j = \dim(W_j)$, then $\sum m_j = N$, which differs from Q if \mathfrak{g} has more than one layer. Given a basis $\{X_1, \ldots, X_{m_1}, X_{m_1+1}, \ldots, X_{m_1+m_2}, \ldots, X_N\}$ of \mathfrak{g} , the action of group dilations reads

$$\delta_{\lambda}(x_1, ..., x_N) = (\lambda x_1, ..., \lambda x_{m_1}, \lambda^2 x_{m_1+1}, ..., \lambda^2 x_{m_1+m_2}, ..., \lambda^k x_N).$$

SUB-RIEMANNIAN STRUCTURE: the first layer of the algebra \mathfrak{g} can be identified with a linear subspace of the tangent space of \mathbb{G} at the origin and defines, by left invarients, a canonical subbundle $H\mathbb{G}$ of the tangent bundle $T\mathbb{G}$, whose fibers at point $x \in \mathbb{G}$ will be denoted by $H_x\mathbb{G}$.

Definition 1.15. For a smooth function $f : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}$, we define its **horizontal gradient** as

$$\nabla_X f = \sum_{j=1}^{m_1} (X_j f) X_j$$

The map $\nabla_X f$ defines a horizontal vector field. The coordinates of $\nabla_X f(x)$ in $H_x \mathbb{G}$ with respect to the chosen orthonomal basis $\{X_1(x), \dots, X_{m_1}(x)\}$ are given by $\{X_1 f(x), \dots, X_{m_1} f(x)\}$

Definition 1.16. A homogeneous norm is a continuous function $|\cdot|_{\mathbb{G}} : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ with the

following properties:

$$(1)|x|_{\mathbb{G}} = 0 \Leftrightarrow x = 0;$$

$$(2)|x^{-1}|_{\mathbb{G}} = |x|_{\mathbb{G}};$$

$$(3)|\delta_{\lambda}(x)|_{\mathbb{G}} = \lambda |x|_{\mathbb{G}}.$$

A homogeneous norm induces a left-invariant homogeneous distance by

$$d(x,y) = |y^{-1} \cdot x|_{\mathbb{G}}$$

with $x, y \in \mathbb{G}$. We define the ball centered at x with radius r in Carnot group \mathbb{G} by $B(x, r) = \{y \in \mathbb{G} \text{ such that } d(x, y) < r\}.$

The following corollary states three basic properties of the measure under changes of variables. **Corollary 1.17.** Let \mathbb{G} be a Carnot group and $f : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}$ an integrable function on \mathbb{G} , then the Harr measure of \mathbb{G}

1 . is invariant under left and right translations:

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} f(y \cdot x) dx = \int_{\mathbb{G}} f(x \cdot y) dx = \int_{\mathbb{G}} f(x) dx \ \forall y \in \mathbb{G}$$

2 . scales under group dilations by the homogeneous dimension of \mathbb{G} :

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} f(x)dx = \lambda^Q \int_{\mathbb{G}} f(x)dx \ \forall \lambda > 0;$$

- 3 . is affected by $\mathbb G\text{-changes}$ of basis as the Lebesgue measure on $(\mathbb R^N,+),$ i.e. putting ξ =
 - $\phi^A(x) = (Ax', x'')$ with $x' \in \mathbb{R}^{m_1}$ we have:

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} f(x)dx = \int_{\mathbb{G}} f(\xi)|det A|d\xi \ \forall A \in GL(m_1, \mathbb{R}).$$

Definition 1.18. A continuous function $f : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be in $\mathfrak{C}^1_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{G},\mathbb{R})$ if $X_j f : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}$ exist and are continuous for $j = 1, \dots, m_1$.

Definition 1.19. (Sobolev space $W^{1,p}_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{G})$) Let \mathbb{G} be a Carnot group and let $p \ge 1$ be fixed. We denote by $W^{1,p}_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{G})$ the set of functions $f \in L^p(\mathbb{G})$ such that $X_j f \in L^p(\mathbb{G})$ for $j = 1, \dots, m_1$,

endowed with the norm

$$||f||_{W^{1,p}(\mathbb{G})} = (\int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^p dx)^{1/p} + (\int_{\mathbb{G}} |\nabla_X f(x)|_X^p dx)^{1/p}.$$

In particular, the classical density result of smooth functions still holds, see [18].

1.3 Outline of the Dissertation

The rest of the dissertation is arranged as follows. In Chapter 2, the new characterizations of Sobolev spaces on Heisenberg groups are studied. We consider the case for p > 1 and p = 1. It's worthy to note that one of the main techniques in the proof of Theorem 1.4 is to use the uniformity in every directions of the unit sphere in the Euclidean spaces. More precisely, to deal with the general case $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$, it is often to be assumed that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..0, 1)$ and hence, one just needs to work on 1-dimensional case. This can be done by using the rotation in the Euclidean spaces. In the case of Heisenberg groups, this type of property is not available because of the structure of the Heisenberg groups, in particular, the dilation. Hence, we need to find a different approach to these characterizations.

In Chapter 3, we study the new characterizations of Sobolev spaces on Carnot groups which is a more general case than the Heisenberg groups. In fact, the Carnot groups have more complicated group structure than the Heisenberg groups. Even the main idea in this project is similar to the characterizations of Sobolev spaces on Heisenberg groups, there are still several lemmas we use in this chapter which are different from Chapter 2.

In Chapter 4, we consider the new characterizations of Sobolev spaces on second order Sobolev spaces on Euclidean spaces. We will present here several types of characterizations: by second order differences and by the Taylor remainder, and by the differences of the first order gradient. Such characterizations are inspired by the works of Bourgain, Brezis and Mironescu [5] and H.M. Nguyen [34, 35] on characterizations of first order Sobolev spaces in the Euclidean space.

In Chapter 5, we extend the results of Chapter 4 to the high order Sobolev spaces $W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for

m > 2 on Euclidean spaces. We also establish several types of characterizations: by mth differences and by the m - 1th Taylor remainder.

In Chapter 6, we give a new approach for the characterization of Sobolev space on Heisenberg group by considering L^p differentiability of Sobolev functions. In this section, we introduce a variant of the notion of L^p differentiability introduced by Calderón and Zygmund and prove that functions in a Sobolev space on Heisenberg group posses this type of L^p -derivative. We show that our formulation in fact characterizes the Sobolev space on Heisenberg group.

Finally in Chapter 7, concluding remarks are given, and several possible directions are proposed for future study.

1.4 Notation Index

Before proceeding further, we compile the following list of notation index to be used in the entire dissertation.

\mathbb{C}^n	n-dimensional complex spaces, where n is a positive integer
H	n-dimensional Heisenberg group
G	Carnot group
\mathbb{R}_+	$\{z \in \mathbb{R} : z > 0\}$
x	Euclidean norm of $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$
abla f	gradient of $f(x)$ w.r.t. x
a.e.	almost everywhere
	end of proof
$GL(m_1,\mathbb{R})$	the group of $m_1 \times m_1$ invertible matrices of real numbers
g	lie algebra of Carnot group
$ \cdot _{\mathbb{H}}$	homogeneous norm of Heisenberg group

CHAPTER 2 NEW CHARACTERIZATIONS OF SOBOLEV SPACES ON HEISENBERG GROUPS

2.1 Some Useful Lemmas

The following elementary lemma was proved and used in [34]. For the sake of completeness, we

include a proof.

Lemma 2.1. Let Ω be a measurable set in \mathbb{R}^m , Φ and Ψ be two measurable nonnegative functions

on Ω , and $\alpha > -1$. Then

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Phi(x)>\delta} \delta^{\alpha} \Psi(x) \, dx d\delta = \int_{\Phi(x)\leq 1} \frac{1}{\alpha+1} \Phi^{\alpha+1}(x) \, \Psi(x) \, dx + \int_{\Phi(x)>1} \frac{1}{\alpha+1} \Psi(x) \, dx$$

Proof. Using Fubini's theorem, we get

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Phi(x)>\delta} \delta^{\alpha} \Psi(x) \, dx d\delta$$

$$= \int_{\Phi(x)>1} \int_{0}^{1} \delta^{\alpha} \Psi(x) \, d\delta dx + \int_{\Phi(x)\leq 1} \int_{0}^{\Phi(x)} \delta^{\alpha} \Psi(x) \, d\delta dx$$

$$= \int_{\Phi(x)>1} \frac{1}{\alpha+1} \Psi(x) \, dx + \int_{\Phi(x)\leq 1} \frac{1}{\alpha+1} \Phi^{\alpha+1}(x) \, \Psi(x) \, dx.$$
inpleted.

The proof is now completed.

Next lemma is crucial in establishing our new characterizations of Sobolev spaces on the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H} . In the Euclidean spaces, H.M. Nguyen [34] used the property that every two points can be connected by a line-segment and then used the mean-value theorem to control the difference of |f(x) - f(x + he)| (where $h \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $e \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$) by the Hardy-Littlewood maximal function of the partial derivative of f in the direction of e. Such an argument does not work on the Heisenberg group. Therefore, we need to adapt a new argument by using the representation formula on the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H} [26]. **Lemma 2.2.** Let $g \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$, 1 . Then we have

$$\iint_{D(u)-g(v)|>\delta} \frac{\delta^p}{|u^{-1}v|^{Q+p}} du dv \le C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} g(u)|^p du, \ \forall \delta > 0$$

 $|g(u)-g(v)| > \delta^{||v||}$ where $C_{Q,p}$ is a positive constant depending only on Q and p.

Proof. First, we recall the following pointwise estimate on stratified groups proved in [26], for any metric ball B in \mathbb{H} and every $u \in B$, we have

$$|f(u) - f_B| \le C \int_{cB} \frac{|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(v)|}{|u^{-1}v|^{Q-1}} dv$$

where f_B is the average of f over B and c is a positive uniform constant bigger than or equal to 1.

Then we can show that

$$|f(u) - f(v)| \le A_{Q,p}\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)\left(M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(u) + M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(v)\right) \text{ for a.e. } u, \ v \in \mathbb{H}$$
(2.1)

where M denoted the Hardy-Littlewood maximal function

$$M(f)(u) = \sup_{r>0} \frac{1}{|B(u,r)|} \int_{B(u,r)} f(v) dv$$

and $A_{Q,p}$ is the universal constant depending only on Q and p.

Now noting that by (2.1):

$$\begin{aligned} \{|f(u) - f(v)| > \delta\} &\subset \left\{ A_{Q,p}\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right) \left(M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(u) + M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(v) \right) > \delta \right\} \\ &\subset \left\{ \rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right) M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(u) > \frac{\delta}{2A_{Q,p}} \right\} \cup \left\{ \rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right) M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(v) > \frac{\delta}{2A_{Q,p}} \right\}, \end{aligned}$$

we get

$$\begin{split} & \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv \\ & |f(u) - f(v)| > \delta \end{split} \\ & \leq \int_{\mathbb{H}} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v) M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f|)(u) > \frac{\delta}{2A_{Q,p}}} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv + \int_{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v) M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f|)(v) > \frac{\delta}{2A_{Q,p}}} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv. \end{split}$$

Denote

$$I_{1} := \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta^{p}}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv,$$
$$I_{2} := \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta^{p}}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv.$$

Now, we estimate I_1 .

 Set

$$v = u \cdot h\sigma$$

where

$$\sigma \in \Sigma = \{ u \in \mathbb{H} : |u| = 1 \},\$$
$$h \in [0, \infty)$$

then

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &= \int_{\Sigma} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma \\ & h M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f|)(u) > \frac{\delta}{2A_{Q,p}} \\ & \leq \int_{\Sigma} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\frac{\delta}{2A_{Q,p}M} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f|(u)} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma \\ & = \frac{1}{p} \iint_{\Sigma} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} [2A_{Q,p}M |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f|(u)]^{p} du d\sigma \\ & \leq \frac{(2A_{Q,p})^{p}}{p} \iint_{\Sigma} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} [M |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f|(u)]^{p} du d\sigma \\ & \leq C_{Q,p} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^{p} du. \end{split}$$

Similarly, to estimate I_2 , we put

 $u=v\cdot h\sigma$

Noting that $\rho\left(u^{-1}\cdot v\right) = \left|v^{-1}u\right|$, we still can get

$$I_2 \le C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^p \, du.$$

The proof now is completed. \Box

Before we state and prove the next lemma, we like to make the following remark. Let $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$, 1 . We denote

$$I(\delta) = \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv.$$

By Lemma 2.2, $\liminf_{\delta \to 0} I(\delta)$ does exist. In the setting of Euclidean spaces [34], this limit is rather easy to evaluate. More precisely, by polar coordinates and the rotations in the Euclidean spaces, it is often assumed in [34] that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..0, 1)$. Thus, to deal with the general case $\sigma \in$ \mathbb{S}^{N-1} , the author in [34] just needs to consider the one-dimensional case. Then, using real analysis techniques such as the Maximal function, Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, Hoai-Minh Nguyen finds successfully the exact value of $\liminf_{\delta \to 0} I(\delta)$. In our setting of Heisenberg group \mathbb{H} , this approach is not available because of the underlying geometry. Hence, we need to propose a new method in order to calculate $\liminf_{\delta \to 0} I(\delta)$. Indeed, our main idea is that we will first study the relations of $I(\delta)$ and the following quantity:

$$J(\varepsilon) = \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv.$$

In fact, we can prove the following results:

Lemma 2.3. Let $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H}), 1 . There hold$

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} J\left(\varepsilon\right) &\geq \frac{1}{p} \liminf_{\delta \to 0} I\left(\delta\right) \\ \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} J\left(\varepsilon\right) &\leq \frac{1}{p} \limsup_{\delta \to 0} I\left(\delta\right). \end{split}$$

Proof. By Lemma 2.2, $\liminf_{\delta \to 0} I(\delta)$ and $\limsup_{\delta \to 0} I(\delta)$ exist. Assume that

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{\delta \to 0} I\left(\delta\right) &= C\\ \limsup_{\delta \to 0} I\left(\delta\right) &= D. \end{split}$$

We first prove that

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} I(\delta) \, d\delta \ge pC.$$
(2.2)

Indeed, since

$$\liminf_{\delta \to 0} I\left(\delta\right) = C,$$

for every $\tau > 0$, we can find a number $X(\tau) \in (0,1)$ such that

$$I(\delta) > C - \tau$$
 for all $\delta \in (0, X(\tau))$.

Then

$$\begin{split} & \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} I\left(\delta \right) d\delta \\ &= \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\int_{0}^{X(\tau)} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} I\left(\delta \right) d\delta + \int_{X(\tau)}^{1} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} I\left(\delta \right) d\delta \right] \\ &\geq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\tau)} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} I\left(\delta \right) d\delta \\ &\geq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\tau)} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left(C - \tau \right) d\delta \\ &\geq p \left(C - \tau \right). \end{split}$$

Since τ is arbitrary, we now can conclude that

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} \iint_{|f(u) - f(v)| > \delta} \frac{(p + \varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{p + \varepsilon - 1}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q + p}} du dv d\delta \ge pC.$$

Using Lemma 2.1 with $\alpha = p + \varepsilon - 1$, $\Phi(u, v) = |f(u) - f(v)|$, $\Psi(u, v) = \frac{1}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}}$, we obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\iint_{\|\mathcal{H}\| \mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv + \iint_{\|\mathcal{H}\| \mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv \right] \ge pC.$$

Noting that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv = 0,$$

we have

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \iint_{\|f(u) - f(v)| \le 1} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv \ge pC.$$

Similarly, since

$$\limsup_{\delta \to 0} I\left(\delta\right) = D,$$

for every $\tau > 0$, we can find a number $X(\tau) \in (0,1)$ such that

$$I(\delta) < D + \tau$$
 for all $\delta \in (0, X(\tau))$.

Then

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} I(\delta) \, d\delta \\ &= \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\int_{0}^{X(\tau)} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} I(\delta) \, d\delta + \int_{X(\tau)}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} I(\delta) \, d\delta \right] \\ &\leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\int_{0}^{X(\tau)} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} (D+\tau) \, d\delta + (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon X(\tau)^{\varepsilon-1} C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^{p} \, du \int_{X(\tau)}^{1} 1 \, d\delta \right] \\ &\leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\tau)} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} (D+\tau) \, d\delta \\ &\leq p (D+\tau) \, . \end{split}$$

Since τ is arbitrary, we now can conclude that $_1$

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} \iint_{|f(u) - f(v)| > \delta} \frac{(p + \varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{p + \varepsilon - 1}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q + p}} du dv d\delta \le p D.$$

Using Lemma 2.1 with $\alpha = p + \varepsilon - 1$, $\Phi(u, v) = |f(u) - f(v)|$, $\Psi(u, v) = \frac{1}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}}$, we obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\iint_{\|f(u) - f(v)| \le 1} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv + \iint_{\|f(u) - f(v)| > 1} \frac{\varepsilon}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv \right] \le pD.$$

Noting that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{H} \ \mathbb{H} \\ |f(u) - f(v)| > 1}} \frac{\varepsilon}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv = 0,$$

we have

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv \le pD.$$

Lemma 2.4. There holds

$$\frac{1}{p}K_{Q,p}\int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(u)|^{p} du \leq \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{H} \ \mathbb{H} \\ |f(u)-f(v)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^{p}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv,$$

for any $f \in W^{1,p}\left(\mathbb{H}\right), \ 1 .$

Proof. First, we notice by the change of variable that

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv = \int_{\Sigma} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma$$

$$|\frac{f(u \cdot \delta h \sigma) - f(u)}{\delta h}|_{h>1}$$
Now, fix $\sigma = (\sigma', \sigma_{2n+1}) \in \Sigma$, with $\sigma' \in \mathbb{C}^n$, we will show that

 \sim

$$\frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \left| \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u) \cdot \sigma' \right|^p du \le \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{H} \ 0 \\ \left| \frac{f(u \cdot \delta h \sigma) - f(u)}{\delta h} \right| h > 1}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}} dh du.$$
(2.3)

Indeed, since for a.e. $(h, u) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{H}$:

$$\frac{1}{h^{p+1}}\chi_{\left\{\left|\frac{f(u\cdot\delta h\sigma)-f(u)}{\delta h}\right|h>1\right\}}(h,u) \xrightarrow{\delta\to 0} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}}\chi_{\left\{\left|\langle\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(u),\sigma'\rangle\right|h>1\right\}}(h,u),$$

by Fatou's lemma, we have ∞

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{\delta \to 0} & \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{h^{p+1}} dh du \geq \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}} \chi_{\{|\langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u), \sigma' \rangle| h > 1\}}(h, u) dh du \\ & \left| \frac{f(u \cdot \delta h \sigma) - f(u)}{\delta h} \right|_{h > 1} \\ & = \frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \left| \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u), \sigma' \rangle \right|^{p} du. \end{split}$$

Now, again by the Fatou's lemma, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \iint_{|f(u) - f(v)| > \delta} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv &= \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \iint_{\substack{\Sigma \ \mathbb{H} \ 0}} \int_{\Sigma \ \mathbb{H} \ 0} \int_{h>1} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma \\ &\left| \frac{f(u \cdot \delta h \sigma) - f(u)}{\delta h} \right|_{h>1} \\ &\geq \int_{\Sigma} \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H} \ 0} \int_{\mathbb{H} \ 0} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma \\ &\left| \frac{f(u \cdot \delta h \sigma) - f(u)}{\delta h} \right|_{h>1} \\ &\geq \frac{1}{p} \iint_{\Sigma \ \mathbb{H}} \left| \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u), \sigma' \rangle \right|^p du d\sigma \\ &= \frac{1}{p} K_{Q,p} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^p du. \end{split}$$

Lemma 2.5. Let $f \in C_0^1(\mathbb{H})$. Then

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le K_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^{p} du.$$

Proof. By setting $v = u \cdot h\sigma$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv = \int_{\Sigma} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u \cdot h\sigma) - f(u)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{h^{p+1}} du dh d\sigma.$$

$$\int_{|f(u) - f(v)| \le 1} \frac{|f(u \cdot h\sigma) - f(u)| \le 1}{|f(u \cdot h\sigma) - f(u)| \le 1}$$
In the following, C will be a constant independent of $u, h, \sigma, \varepsilon$.

Since $f \in C_0^1(\mathbb{H})$, by triangle inequality and Taylor expansion [31], we have

$$|f(u \cdot h\sigma) - f(u)| \le |\nabla f(u) . h\sigma'| + Ch^2 \text{ for } (\sigma, u, h) \in \Sigma \times B_A \times (0, R).$$

Also, we can find M > 0 such that $|\nabla f(u) \cdot \sigma'| \leq M$ for all $(\sigma, u) \in \Sigma \times B_A$.

Hence

$$|f(u \cdot h\sigma) - f(u)|^{p+\varepsilon} \leq \left[\left| \nabla f(u) . h\sigma' \right| + Ch^2 \right]^{p+\varepsilon}$$
$$\leq \left| \nabla f(u) . h\sigma' \right|^{p+\varepsilon} + Ch^{p+\varepsilon+1}.$$

Thus

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} & \iint_{\Sigma B_{A}} \int_{0}^{R} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u \cdot h\sigma) - f(u)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma \\ & \leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\Sigma B_{A}} \int_{0}^{R} \frac{\varepsilon |\nabla f(u) \cdot h\sigma'|^{p+\varepsilon} + C\varepsilon h^{p+\varepsilon+1}}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma \\ & \leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\Sigma B_{A}} \int_{0}^{R} \frac{\varepsilon |\nabla f(u) \cdot h\sigma'|^{p+\varepsilon}}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma \\ & \leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\Sigma B_{A}} \int_{0}^{R} \frac{\varepsilon |\nabla f(u) \cdot \sigma'|^{p+\varepsilon}}{h^{1-\varepsilon}} dh du d\sigma \\ & \leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} R^{\varepsilon} \iint_{\Sigma B_{A}} |\nabla f(u) \cdot \sigma'|^{p+\varepsilon} du d\sigma \\ & \leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} R^{\varepsilon} M^{\varepsilon} \iint_{\Sigma B_{A}} |\nabla f(u) \cdot \sigma'|^{p+\varepsilon} du d\sigma \\ & \leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} R^{\varepsilon} M^{\varepsilon} \iint_{\Sigma B_{A}} |\nabla f(u) \cdot \sigma'|^{p} du d\sigma \\ & \leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|\nabla H f(u)\|^{p} du. \end{split}$$

2.2 Main Results

The first aim of this chapter is to prove the following estimates for functions in the Sobolev space $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$:

Theorem 2.6. Let $1 and <math>f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$. Then

(a) There exists a positive constant $C_{Q,p}$ depending only on Q, p such that

$$\sup_{\substack{0<\varepsilon<1\\|f(u)-f(v)|\leq 1\\(b) \text{ There holds}}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u)-f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv + \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{1}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv \leq C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^{p} du.$$
(b) There holds
$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u)-f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv = K_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^{p} du.$$

where $K_{Q,p}$ is a constant defined as follows

$$K_{Q,p} = \int_{\Sigma} \left| \langle e, \sigma' \rangle \right|^p d\sigma = \int_{\Sigma} |\langle (e, 0), \sigma \rangle|^p d\sigma$$

for any $(e, 0) \in \Sigma$.

(c) There exists a positive constant ${\cal C}_{Q,p}$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^p du, \ \forall \delta > 0.$$

(d) Moreover

$$\liminf_{\delta \to 0} \iint_{\substack{\mathbb{H} \ \mathbb{H} \\ |f(u) - f(v)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv = \frac{1}{p} K_{Q,p} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \left| \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u) \right|^p du dv$$

Using Theorem 2.6, we set up new characterizations of the Sobolev space $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$ which is the

main purpose of this paper. More precisely, we prove that

Theorem 2.7. Let $1 and <math>f \in L^p(\mathbb{H})$. Then the following are equivalent:

(1)
$$f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H}).$$

(2)

$$\sup_{\substack{0<\varepsilon<1\\|f(u)-f(v)|\leq 1}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv + \int_{\substack{\mathbb{H}}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{1}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty$$
(3)

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty.$$

(4) There exists a nonnegative function $F \in L^{p}(\mathbb{H})$ such that

$$|f(u) - f(v)| \le \rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right) \left(F(u) + F(v) \right) \text{ for a.e. } u, \ v \in \mathbb{H}.$$

(5) The L^1 to L^p Poincaré inequalities hold for every metric ball B in \mathbb{H} . Namely, there exists

a function $g\in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{H})$ and an absolute constant C>0 independent of the ball B such that

$$\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |f(u) - f_B| du \le Cr(B) \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |g|^q du\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

for some $1 \le q < p$, where r(B) is the radius of the ball B.

The following remarks are in order. First, the proofs of the main theorems (e.g., Theorem B)

in [34] rely on the underlying geometry of the Euclidean spaces, such as that any two points can be connected by a line segment. Second, it's worthy to note that one of the main techniques in the proof of Theorem B is to use the uniformity in every directions of the unit sphere in the Euclidean spaces. More precisely, to deal with the general case $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$, it is often to be assumed that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..0, 1)$ and hence, one just needs to work on 1-dimensional case. This can be done by using the rotation in the Euclidean spaces. In the case of Heisenberg groups, this type of property is not available because of the structure of the Heisenberg groups, in particular, the dilation. Hence, we need to find a different approach to this characterization. In fact, we will use the representation formula on the Heisenberg group proved in [26] to obtain estimate (4.1). This estimate will allow us to establish a useful lemma (Lemma 2.2 in Section 2.1. Third, as we have shown in [25], (1), (4) and (5) are all equivalent. Therefore, the new ingredient here is that (1), (2) and (3) are equivalent.

2.3 **Proof of Main Results**

Proof of Theorem 2.6:

(a) First, by Lemma 2.2, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{H}\\ u \to -f(v) > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^p du, \ \forall \delta > 0.$$
(2.4)

As consequences, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{1}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^p du,$$

$$(2.5)$$

Now, multiplying (2.4) by $\varepsilon \sigma^{\varepsilon - 1}$, $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ and integrating the expression obtained with respect

to σ over (0, 1), we can deduce that

$$\int_{0}^{1} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \delta^{p+\varepsilon-1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv d\delta \leq C_{Q,p} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \left| \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u) \right|^{p} du$$

Using Lemma 2.1 with $\alpha = p + \varepsilon - 1$, $\Phi(u, v) = |f(u) - f(v)|$, $\Psi(u, v) = \frac{1}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}}$, we obtain $\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv + \int_{\|f(u) - f(v)| > 1} \frac{\varepsilon}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^{p} du.$ $|f(u) - f(v)| \le 1$ Thus, $\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb$

$$\iint_{\substack{f(u)-f(v)|\leq 1}} \frac{\varepsilon \left|f(u)-f(v)\right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv \leq C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^{p} du.$$
(2.6)

 $|f(u)-f(v)| \le 1$ By (2.5) and (2.6), we get the assertion (a).

- (b) From Lemma 2.3, 2.4, 2.5 and the density argument, we have (b).
- (c) This is Lemma 2.2.
- (d) This is a consequence of Lemma 2.3, 2.5, 2.4 and the density argument.

Proof of Theorem 2.7:

The proof is divided into 6 steps.

Step 1: (1) \Rightarrow (2). This is a consequence of part (a) of Theorem 2.6 and the fact that $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$.

Step 2: (2) \Rightarrow (1). First, we will assume further that $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{H})$. Then from the assumption

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left|f(u) - f(v)\right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv + \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{1}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty,$$

it's easy to deduce that

$$L(f) = \sup_{0 < \varepsilon < 1} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty.$$

Now, let (γ_k) be a sequence of smooth mollifiers on \mathbb{H} and set

$$f_k := f * \gamma_k$$

Since $f_k \in L^p(\mathbb{H}) \cap C^{\infty}(\mathbb{H})$, so $f_k \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$. By using Theorem 2.6 (b), we can conclude that

$$K_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f_{k}(u)|^{p} du \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f_{k}(u) - f_{k}(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv$$
$$\leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f_{k}(u) - f_{k}(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv$$

From Jensen's inequality and the convexity of the function $x^{p+\varepsilon}$, we can obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f_k(u) - f_k(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le L(f)$$

Hence,

$$K_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f_k(u)|^p \, du \le \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} \, du \, dv \le L(f).$$

Thus, with an extra assumption $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{H})$, we have that $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$.

For the general case, we make use of the truncated function. For R > 0, define

$$f_R(u) = \begin{cases} f(u) , \text{ if } |f(u)| < R \\ \frac{Rf(u)}{|f(u)|}, \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$

•

 $\mathbb{H}.$

It's clear that $f_R \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{H})$ and $f_R(u) \xrightarrow{R \to \infty} f(u)$ pointwise for a.e. $u \in \mathbb{H}$. Moreover, it can be checked that

$$\left|f_{R}\left(u\right)-f_{R}\left(v
ight)
ight|\leq\left|f\left(u
ight)-f\left(v
ight)
ight|$$
 for all $u,v\in$

As a consequence, one has

$$\begin{split} & \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \underbrace{\prod_{\mathbb{H}}}_{\|f_{R}(u) - f_{R}(v)| \leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f_{R}(u) - f_{R}(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv \\ &= \iint_{\substack{\mathbb{H}}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \underbrace{\prod_{\mathbb{H}}}_{\|f_{R}(u) - f_{R}(v)| \leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f_{R}(u) - f_{R}(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv + \iint_{\substack{\mathbb{H}}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \underbrace{\prod_{\mathbb{H}}}_{\|f_{R}(u) - f_{R}(v)| \leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f_{R}(u) - f_{R}(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv \\ &\leq \iint_{\substack{\mathbb{H}}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \underbrace{\frac{\varepsilon \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv + \iint_{\substack{\mathbb{H}}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \underbrace{\frac{\varepsilon}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv.}_{p \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv. \end{split}$$

Also,

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{1}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv \leq \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{1}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv$$

$$|f_R(u) - f_R(v)| > 1$$

Thus, we have $f_R \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$. Moreover, by part (b) of Theorem 2.6, one has

$$\begin{split} K_{Q,p} & \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f_{R}(u)|^{p} \, du \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f_{R}(u) - f_{R}(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv \\ \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv + \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv \right] \\ = \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv. \end{split}$$

Since R > 0 is arbitrary, we can deduce that $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$.

Step 3: (1) \Rightarrow (3). This is a consequence of part (c) of Theorem 2.6 and the fact that $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$.

Step 4: (3) \Rightarrow (1). Suppose that $f \in L^p(\mathbb{H})$ and there is a constant C > 0 such that for all $\delta \in (0, 1)$:

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C.$$
(2.7)

Multiplying (2.7) by $\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1}$, $0 < \varepsilon < 1$, and integrating with respect to δ over (0, 1), by Lemma

2.1 with
$$\alpha = p + \varepsilon - 1$$
, $\Phi(u, v) = |f(u) - f(v)|$, $\Psi(u, v) = \frac{1}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}}$, one has

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C (p+1).$$

$$|f(u) - f(v)| \le 1$$

Also, by Fatou's lemma, we also get

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{1}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty.$$

As a consequence of Step 2, we have $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$.

|f|

The proof is now completed. \Box

2.4 The Case p = 1

In this section, we will investigate the special case p = 1. First, we recall the definition of the space $BV(\Omega)$ of functions with bounded variation in $\Omega \subset \mathbb{H}$.

Definition 2.8 (Horizontal vector fields). The space of smooth sections of $H\Omega$, the horizontal subbundle on Ω , is denoted by $\Gamma(H\Omega)$. The space $\Gamma_c(H\Omega)$ denotes all the elements of $\Gamma(H\Omega)$ with support contained in Ω . Elements of $\Gamma(H\Omega)$ are called horizontal vector fields.

Definition 2.9 (H-BV functions). We say that a function $u \in L^1(\Omega)$ is a function of H-bounded variation if

$$|D_H u|(\Omega) = \sup\left\{\int_{\Omega} u \operatorname{div} \phi d\xi : \phi \in \Gamma_c(H\Omega), \ |\phi| \le 1\right\} < \infty,$$

where the symbol div denotes the Riemannian divergence. We denote by $BV(\Omega)$ the space of all functions of H-bounded variation.

In this section, we will prove the following property:

Theorem 2.10. Let f be a function in $L^1(\mathbb{H})$ satisfying

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{H} \ \mathbb{H} \\ |f(u)-f(v)|>\delta}} \frac{\delta}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+1}} du dv < \infty.$$

Then $f \in BV(\mathbb{H})$.

Proof. Assume that $f \in L^{1}(\mathbb{H})$ and

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{H} \ \mathbb{H} \\ f(u) - f(v)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+1}} du dv < C$$
(2.8)

for some positive constant C > 0.

Proceeding similarly as in Step 4 of the proof of Theorem 2.7, multiplying (2.8) by $\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon -1}$, 0 <

 $\varepsilon < 1,$ integrating with respect to δ over $(0,1)\,,$ and then using Lemma 2.1, we have

$$\iint_{\mathbb{H}} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+1}} du dv \le 2C.$$

By Fatou's lemma, from (2.8), we also get

$$\int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{1}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+1}} du dv < C.$$

Now, we also split the proof into 2 steps:

Step 1: We suppose further that $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{H})$. Now, we define f_k as in Step 2 of the proof of

Theorem 2.7. Noting that the function $t^{1+\varepsilon}$ is still convex on \mathbb{R}^+ , we can also have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f_k(u) - f_k(v) \right|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+1}} du dv &\leq \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+1}} du dv \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+1}} du dv \\ &+ \int_{\substack{|f(u) - f(v)| \leq 1 \\ |f(u) - f(v)| > 1}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+1}} du dv \\ &\leq 2C + \varepsilon \left[2 \left\| f \right\|_{\infty} \right]^{1+\varepsilon} C. \end{split}$$

Now, we can repeat the proofs of (b) in Theorem 2.6 and Step 2 in Theorem 2.7 to conclude that $f_k \in BV(\mathbb{H})$ and

$$K_{Q,1} \|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f_k\| \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon |f_k(u) - f_k(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+1}} du dv$$
$$\leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \{ 2C + \varepsilon [2 \|f\|_{\infty}]^{1+\varepsilon} C \}$$
$$= 2C.$$

Hence $f \in BV(\mathbb{H})$.

Step 2: The general case. Similarly, we also introduce the truncated function

$$f_R(u) = \begin{cases} f(u) \text{ if } |f(u)| < R\\ \frac{Rf(u)}{|f(u)|} \text{ otherwise} \end{cases} \quad \text{for } R > 0.$$

Then one has $f_R \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}), f_R(u) \xrightarrow{R \to \infty} f(u)$ pointwise for a.e. $u \in \mathbb{H}$, and

$$|f_R(u) - f_R(v)| \le |f(u) - f(v)| \text{ for all } u, v \in \mathbb{H}.$$

As a consequence, one gets

$$\begin{split} & \iint_{\|f_{R}(w)-f_{R}(v)|\leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |f_{R}(w)-f_{R}(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv \\ & = \int_{\|f_{R}(w)-f_{R}(v)|\leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |f_{R}(u)-f_{R}(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv + \int_{\|f_{R}(w)-f_{R}(v)|\leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |f_{R}(u)-f_{R}(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv \\ & \leq \int_{\|f_{R}(w)-f_{R}(v)|\leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u)-f(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv + \int_{\|f_{R}(w)-f(v)|>1} \frac{\varepsilon}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv. \\ & \text{Also,} \\ & \iint_{\|f_{R}(w)-f_{R}(v)|\leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u)-f(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv \leq \int_{\|f_{R}(w)-f(v)|>1} \frac{1}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv. \\ & \text{Thus, we have } f_{R} \in BV(\mathbb{H}) . \text{ Moreover,} \\ & K_{Q,1} \|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f_{R}\| \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\|f_{R}(w)|\leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |f_{R}(u)-f_{R}(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv + \int_{\|f_{R}(w)-f_{R}(v)|>1} \frac{\varepsilon |f_{R}(u)-f_{R}(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv \\ & \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\int_{\|f_{R}(w)-f_{R}(v)|\leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u)-f(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv + \int_{\|f_{R}(w)-f(v)|>1} \frac{\varepsilon}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv \right] \\ & = \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\|f_{R}(w)-f_{R}(v)|\leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u)-f(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv. \\ & = \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\|f_{R}(w)-f_{R}(v)|\leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u)-f(v)|^{1+\varepsilon}}{\rho(u^{-1}\cdot v)^{Q+1}} dudv. \end{aligned}$$

Since R > 0 is arbitrary, we can deduce that $f \in BV(\mathbb{H})$.

Using Theorem 2.10, we can also have the following Lipschitz type characterization of BV space: **Theorem 2.11.** Let $f \in L^1(\mathbb{H})$ be such that there exists a nonnegative function $F \in L^1(\mathbb{H})$ satisfying

$$|f(u) - f(v)| \le \rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right) \left(F(u) + F(v) \right) \text{ for a.e. } u, v \in \mathbb{H}.$$
(2.9)

Then $f \in BV(\mathbb{H})$.

Before we begin our proof of this theorem, we like to make some remarks. We note that in the

paper [20], the author defined the Sobolev spaces $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$ for p > 1 if the above estimate (2.9) holds for $F \in L^p(\mathbb{H})$. But that definition does not hold for p = 1. Therefore, our theorem can be viewed as the borderline case of the Sobolev space when p = 1 on the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H} .

Proof. First, we note here that for all $\delta \in (0, 1)$:

$$\{|f(u) - f(v)| > \delta\} \subset \left\{\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)\left(F(u) + F(v)\right) > \delta\right\}$$
$$\subset \left\{\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)F(u) > \frac{\delta}{2}\right\} \cup \left\{\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)F(v) > \frac{\delta}{2}\right\}.$$

Hence, one receives

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+1}} du dv$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+1}} du dv + \int_{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)F(v) > \frac{\delta}{2}} \frac{\delta}{\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+1}} du dv.$$

We denote

$$I_{1} := \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+1}} du dv,$$
$$I_{2} := \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+1}} du dv.$$

We now estimate I_1 .

Setting

$$v = u \cdot h\sigma$$

where

$$\sigma \in \Sigma = \{ u \in \mathbb{H} : |u| = 1 \},\$$
$$h \in [0, \infty)$$

one has

$$\begin{split} I_1 &= \int_{\Sigma} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta}{h^2} dh du d\sigma \\ & \stackrel{hF(u) > \frac{\delta}{2}}{\leq} \\ & \leq \int_{\Sigma} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\frac{\delta}{2F(u)}}^{\infty} \frac{\delta}{h^2} dh du d\sigma \\ & = 2 \int_{\Sigma} \int_{\mathbb{H}} F(u) du d\sigma \\ & = C_Q \int_{\mathbb{H}} F(u) du. \end{split}$$

Similarly, by noting that $\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v) = |v^{-1}u|^{u}$, we also have

$$I_2 \le C_Q \int_{\mathbb{H}} F(u) du.$$

Hence, we have

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+1}} du dv < \infty.$$

$$\inf_{\substack{|f(u)-f(v)| > \delta \\ 0 \in BV(\mathbb{H})}. \quad \Box$$

By Theorem 2.10, we obtain $f \in BV(\mathbb{H})$.

2.5 Some generalizations and variants

In this section, we will study some generalizations of the above results. The next Theorem

is a generalized result of Theorem 2.7:

Theorem 2.12. Let $f \in L^{p}(\mathbb{H})$, $1 and <math>F : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ be continuous such that $\int_{0}^{\infty} F(t) t^{-p-1} dt = 1.$

 Set

$$F_{\delta}(t) = \delta^{p} F\left(\frac{t}{\delta}\right), \ \delta > 0.$$

Then we have

(a) If

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(|f(u) - f(v)|\right)}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty$$

and

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{H} \ \mathbb{H} \\ |f(u) - f(v)| > \delta}} \frac{1}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty, \ \forall \delta > 0,$$

then $g \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$.

(b) If $g \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$ and

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} F_{\delta}(t) t^{-p-1} dt < \infty, \ \forall \delta > 0,$$

then

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(|f(u) - f(v)|\right)}{\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C_{Q,p} \int_{0}^{\infty} F_{\delta}\left(t\right) t^{-p-1} dt \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^{p} du, \ \forall \delta > 0.$$

Proof. (b) Setting

$$D_1(f) = \{(u,v) \in \mathbb{H} \times \mathbb{H} : M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(u) \ge M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(v)\}$$
$$D_2(f) = \{(u,v) \in \mathbb{H} \times \mathbb{H} : M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(u) < M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(v)\},\$$

then

$$\iint_{\mathbb{H}} \underbrace{\iint_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(|f(u) - f(v)|\right)}{\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv}_{D_{1}(f)} = \underbrace{\iint_{D_{1}(f)} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(|f(u) - f(v)|\right)}{\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv}_{D_{2}(f)} + \underbrace{\iint_{D_{2}(f)} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(|f(u) - f(v)|\right)}{\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv}_{D_{2}(f)} + \underbrace{\iint_{D_{2}(f)} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(|f(u) - f(v)|\right)}{\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv}_{D_{2}(f)}$$

Now, we will first concern

$$I_{1} = \iint_{D_{1}(f)} \frac{F_{\delta}(|f(u) - f(v)|)}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv.$$

Using (4.1), (i) and noting that on the domain $D_1(f)$, one has

$$M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(u) \ge M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(v),$$

we get

$$I_{1} \leq \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(2A_{Q,p}\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right) M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(u)\right)}{\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv.$$

Now, by the change of variables and Fubini's theorem, we obtain

$$I_1 \leq \int_{\Sigma} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(2A_{Q,p}hM(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(u)\right)}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma.$$

Now, for every $\sigma \in \Sigma$, we can have the following estimate:

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(2A_{Q,p}hM(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(u)\right)}{h^{p+1}} dh du = \int_{\mathbb{H}} \left[2A_{Q,p}M(|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f|)(u)\right]^{p} du \int_{0}^{\infty} F_{\delta}\left(t\right) t^{-p-1} dt$$
$$\leq C_{Q,p} \int_{0}^{\infty} F_{\delta}\left(t\right) t^{-p-1} dt \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(u)|^{p} du.$$

Similarly, by noting that $\rho(u^{-1} \cdot v) = |v^{-1}u|$, we can also receive

$$I_{2} \leq C_{Q,p} \int_{0} F_{\delta}(t) t^{-p-1} dt \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^{p} du.$$

Hence, we can conclude that

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(|f(u) - f(v)|\right)}{\rho\left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C_{Q,p} \int_{0}^{\infty} F_{\delta}\left(t\right) t^{-p-1} dt \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^{p} du.$$

(a) The assumptions on F, we can find four positive constants m, M, λ and σ with m < M such that

$$|\{t \in [m, M] : F(t) \ge \lambda\}| \ge \sigma.$$

Since F is continuous on $[0,\infty)$, there exists an interval $A \neq \emptyset$ such that

$$A \subset \left\{t \in [m,M]: F(t) \geq \lambda\right\}.$$

Sincw,

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(|f(u) - f(v)|\right)}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty,$$

we get

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta^p \chi_A\left(\frac{|f(u)-f(v)|}{\delta}\right)}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty.$$

This implies

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \int\limits_{0}^{1} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon+p-1} \chi_A\left(\frac{|f(u)-f(v)|}{\delta}\right)}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv d\delta < \infty.$$

By Fubini's theorem,

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \int\limits_{0}^{1} \frac{\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon+p-1} \chi_A\left(\frac{|f(u)-f(v)|}{\delta}\right)}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} d\delta du dv < \infty.$$

Since

$$\frac{|f(u) - f(v)|}{\delta} \le M,$$

we have

$$\delta^{\varepsilon+p-1} \ge M^{-p-\varepsilon+1} \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{\varepsilon+p-1}$$

Hence

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \iint_{\substack{\mathbb{H} \ |\mathbb{H} \\ |f(u)-f(v)| \le m}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u)-f(v)|^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} \int_{0}^{1} \chi_A \left(\frac{|f(u)-f(v)|}{\delta}\right) d\delta du dv < \infty.$$
(2.10)

Moreover, since $A \subset [m, M]$,

$$\int_{0}^{1} \chi_{A}\left(\frac{t}{\delta}\right) d\delta = \int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_{A}\left(\frac{t}{\delta}\right) d\delta = t \int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_{A}\left(\frac{1}{\delta}\right) d\delta = C(A)t, \ t \le m.$$
(2.11)

Here

$$C(A) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_A\left(\frac{1}{\delta}\right) d\delta > 0$$

From (2.10) and (2.11), we get

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left|f(u) - f(v)\right|^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty.$$

Also,

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{H} \ \mathbb{H} \\ |f(u) - f(v)| > m}} \frac{1}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty.$$

Setting

$$\widetilde{f} = \frac{f}{m},$$

and using Theorem 2.7, we get $\widetilde{f} \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$. Hence $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$. \Box

The second result in this section is to weaken the statement (3) in Theorem 2.7. More precisely,

we will prove that

Theorem 2.13. Let $1 and <math>f \in L^{p}(\mathbb{H})$ be such that

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta_n^p}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty.$$

Here $(\delta_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is some arbitrary sequence of positive numbers with

$$\delta_0 = 1$$

$$\delta_n \le \delta_{n-1} \le 2\delta_n$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \delta_n = 0.$$

Then $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$.

We notice that one could replace number 2 in the condition of the sequence (δ_n) by an arbitrary number c > 1.

Proof. Setting

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\delta_n^p}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv < C,$$

then, it's clear that

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{1}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv < C.$$

$$(2.12)$$

So we just need to prove for all $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$,

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{H} \ \mathbb{H} \\ |u| = f(v)| \le 1}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C_{Q,p}$$

since by Theorem 2.7, we get the assertion.

Now, for every $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, since

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{H} \ \mathbb{H} \\ |f(u) - f(v)| > \delta_n}} \frac{\delta_n^p}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv < C,$$

we get for every $n \ge 0$:

$$\varepsilon \left(\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_n^{\varepsilon - 1} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \iint_{\|f(u) - f(v)\| > \delta_n} \frac{\delta_n^p}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C \varepsilon \left(\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_n^{\varepsilon - 1}.$$

Hence

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left(\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_n^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C \sum_{n\geq 0} \varepsilon \left(\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_n^{\varepsilon-1}.$$
(2.13)

Now, if we denote $h(\delta) = \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1}$, then we have by the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem

and noting that \boldsymbol{h} is a decreasing function:

$$1 = \int_{0}^{1} h(\delta) d\delta \qquad (2.14)$$
$$= \sum_{n \ge 0} \int_{n+1}^{\delta_n} h(\delta) d\delta$$
$$\ge \sum_{n \ge 0} (\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}) h(\delta_n)$$
$$= \sum_{n \ge 0} \varepsilon (\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}) \delta_n^{\varepsilon - 1}.$$

Thus, from (2.13), one has

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left(\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_n^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv \le C$$
(2.15)

Noting that

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left(\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_n^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv$$
(2.16)

$$\geq \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \sum_{\substack{n \geq 0 \\ |f(u) - f(v)| \leq 1}} \sum_{n \geq 0} \frac{\varepsilon \left(\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_n^{\varepsilon + p - 1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q + p}} \chi_{\{|f(u) - f(v)| > \delta_n\}}\left(u, v\right) du dv.$$

Now, fix (u, v) such that

$$0 < |f(u) - f(v)| \le 1$$

and denote $\boldsymbol{n}_{(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v})}$ the smallest integer number such that

$$\delta_{n_{(u,v)}} < |f(u) - f(v)|$$

Then

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{\varepsilon \left(\delta_{n} - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_{n}^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} \chi_{\{|f(u) - f(v)| > \delta_{n}\}}\left(u, v\right)$$

$$= \sum_{n\geq n_{(u,v)}} \frac{\varepsilon \left(\delta_{n} - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_{n}^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} \chi_{\{|f(u) - f(v)| > \delta_{n}\}}\left(u, v\right).$$

$$= \sum_{n\geq n_{(u,v)}} \frac{\varepsilon \left(\delta_{n} - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_{n}^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}}.$$
(2.17)

We claim that

$$\frac{|f(u) - f(v)|}{2} \le \delta_{n_{(u,v)}} < |f(u) - f(v)|.$$
(2.18)

Indeed, we could suppose by contradiction that

$$\delta_{n_{(u,v)}} < \frac{|f(u) - f(v)|}{2} < |f(u) - f(v)| \le \delta_{n_{(u,v)} - 1},$$

then

$$\begin{split} \delta_{n_{(u,v)}-1} - \delta_{n_{(u,v)}} &> |f(u) - f(v)| - \frac{|f(u) - f(v)|}{2} \\ &= \frac{|f(u) - f(v)|}{2} \\ &> \delta_{n_{(u,v)}} \end{split}$$

which is impossible by the assumption of the sequence $\left(\delta_{n}\right) .$

Set

$$k(\delta) = \frac{\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon + p - 1}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q + p}} \text{ on the interval } 0 \le \delta < |f(u) - f(v)|.$$

Noting that this function is increasing, arguing as (2.14), we obtain by (2.18):

$$\frac{1}{(p+1)2^{p+1}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} \leq \frac{1}{(p+\varepsilon)2^{p+\varepsilon}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{|f(u) - f(v)|} k(\delta) d\delta$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{\delta_{n}(u,v)} k(\delta) d\delta$$

$$= \sum_{n \geq n(u,v)} \int_{n+1}^{\delta_{n}} k(\delta) d\delta$$

$$\leq \sum_{n \geq n(u,v)} (\delta_{n} - \delta_{n+1}) k(\delta_{n})$$

$$= \sum_{n \geq n(u,v)} \frac{\varepsilon (\delta_{n} - \delta_{n+1}) \delta_{n}^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}}.$$
(2.19)

Hence, by (2.15), (2.16), (2.17) and (2.19), we get

$$C \geq \sum_{n\geq 0} \iint_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left(\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_n^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv$$

$$\geq \iint_{\substack{|f(u) - f(v)| \leq 1}} \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{\varepsilon \left(\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_n^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} \chi_{\{|f(u) - f(v)| > \delta_n\}} \left(u, v\right) du dv$$

$$= \iint_{\substack{|f(u) - f(v)| \leq 1}} \sum_{n\geq n_{(u,v)}} \frac{\varepsilon \left(\delta_n - \delta_{n+1}\right) \delta_n^{\varepsilon+p-1}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv$$

$$\geq \iint_{\substack{|H| \in \mathbb{H} \\ |f(u) - f(v)| \leq 1}} \frac{1}{(p+1) 2^{p+1}} \frac{\varepsilon \left|f(u) - f(v)\right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv.$$

Thus we can conclude the assertion

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{\varepsilon \left|f(u) - f(v)\right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v\right)^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty.$$

By Theorem 2.7 (statement 2), we have $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$. \Box

CHAPTER 3 NEW CHARACTERIZATIONS OF SOBOLEV SPACES ON CARNOT GROUPS

3.1 Some Useful Lemmas

In this section, we will introduce several useful lemmas which are used to prove the main

results.

Lemma 3.1. Let $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{G})$, 1 . Then we have

$$\iint_{(u)-f(v)|>\delta} \frac{\delta^p}{|u^{-1}v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv \le C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^p du, \ \forall \delta > 0$$

 $|f(u)-f(v)| > \delta^{1-\frac{1}{2}}$ \mathbb{G} where $C_{Q,p}$ is a positive constant depending only on Q and p.

The proof is similar to the proof of Lemma 2.2.

Lemma 3.2. Let $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{G})$, 1 . We denote

$$I(\delta) = \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{\delta^p}{|u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv$$
$$J(\varepsilon) = \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv.$$

Then

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} J(\varepsilon) \ge \liminf_{\delta \to 0} I(\delta)$$

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} J(\varepsilon) \le p \limsup_{\delta \to 0} I(\delta) .$$

The proof of this lemma is similar to Lemma 4.3.

Remark: In the setting of Euclidean spaces, $\liminf_{\delta \to 0}$ is rather easy to evaluate. However, in our setting of Carnot group, the similar approach is not available because of the underlying geometry. That is why we try to find the relations of $I(\delta)$ and $J(\varepsilon)$.

The following is from [1]

Lemma 3.3. If $f \in C^1_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{G}, \mathbb{R})$ then

$$\omega_x(h) \doteq |f(x \cdot h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_X f(x), h' \rangle_X|$$

is such that

i) $\frac{\omega_x(h)}{|h|_{\mathbb{G}}} \to 0$ as $h \to 0$, uniformly for x on compact sets; ii) $\frac{\omega_x(h)}{|h|_{\mathbb{G}}} \le C_K \ \forall x \in Kcompact, \ \forall |h|_{\mathbb{G}} < 1.$

Lemma 3.4. There holds

$$\frac{1}{p}K_{Q,p}\int_{\mathbb{G}}|\nabla_X f(u)|^p du \le \liminf_{\delta \to 0} I(\delta),$$

for any $f \in C^1_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{G},\mathbb{R}), 1 and <math>K_{Q,p} = \int_{\Sigma} |\langle v', y' \rangle|^p dy$ with $y', v' \in \mathbb{R}^{m_1}$ and $|v'|_{\mathbb{R}}^{m_1} = 1$.

Proof. First, we notice by the change of variable that

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{\delta^p}{|u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv = \int_{\substack{\sum \\ |\frac{f(u \cdot \delta h \sigma) - f(u)}{\delta h}|h > 1}} \int_0^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma.$$

Now, fix $\sigma = (\sigma', \sigma'') \in \sum$, with $\sigma' \in \mathbb{R}^{m_1}$, we will show that

$$\frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\langle \nabla_X f(u), \sigma' \rangle_X|^p du \le \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{G} \\ |\frac{f(u \cdot \delta h \sigma) - f(u)}{\delta h}|h > 1}}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}} dh d\delta.$$

Here, $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the inner product in \mathbb{R}^{m_1} . Indeed, since for a.e. $(h, u) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{G}$, by lemma 3.3 :

$$\frac{1}{h^{p+1}}\chi_{\left\{\left|\frac{f(u\cdot\delta h\sigma)-f(u)}{\delta h}\right|h>1\right\}}(h,u) \stackrel{\delta\to 0}{\to} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}}\chi_{\left\{\left|\langle\nabla_X f(u),\sigma'\rangle_X\right|h>1\right\}}(h,u),$$

by Fatou's lemma, we have

$$\liminf_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}} dh du \ge \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}} \chi_{\{|\langle \nabla_X f(u), \sigma' \rangle_X | h > 1\}}(h, u) dh du$$
$$\left| \frac{f(u \cdot \delta h \sigma) - f(u)}{\delta h} \right|_{h > 1} = \frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \left| \langle \nabla_X f(u), \sigma' \rangle_X \right|^p du.$$

Now, again by the Fatou's lemma, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \iint_{|f(u) - f(v)| > \delta} \frac{\delta^p}{\rho \left(u^{-1} \cdot v \right)^{Q+p}} du dv &= \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\Sigma} \iint_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma \\ \left| \frac{f(u \cdot \delta h \sigma) - f(u)}{\delta h} \right|_{h > 1} \\ &\geq \int_{\Sigma} \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{p+1}} dh du d\sigma \\ &\geq \frac{1}{p} \iint_{\Sigma} \iint_{\mathbb{G}} \left| \langle \nabla_X f(u), \sigma' \rangle_X \right|^p du d\sigma \\ &= \frac{1}{p} K_{Q,p} \iint_{\mathbb{G}} |\nabla_X f(u)|^p du. \end{split}$$
Here, $K_{Q,p} = \iint_{\Sigma} |\langle v', y' \rangle|^p dy$ with $y', v' \in \mathbb{R}^{m_1}$ and $|v'|_{\mathbb{R}}^{m_1} = 1.$

This expression does not depend on v', since by an orthogonal \mathbb{G} -change of basis which does not alter the measure nor the homogeneous norm(so that also the domain of integration does not change), it is possible to choose any other unitrary vector of \mathbb{R}^{m_1} by rotation: set $A \in O(m_1, \mathbb{R})$ and $u' = A^T v'$, then $\int_{\Sigma} |\langle v', y' \rangle|^p dy = \int_{\Sigma} |\langle v', Ay' \rangle|^p dy = \int_{\Sigma} |\langle u', y' \rangle|^p dy$. \Box

Lemma 3.5. Let $f \in C^1_{\mathbb{G}}$ with compact support in \mathbb{G} . Then

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} J(\varepsilon) \le K_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\nabla_X f(u)|^p \, du.$$

The proof of this lemma is similar to Lemma 2.5.

3.2 Main Results

Theorem 3.6. Let $1 and <math>f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{G})$. Then

(a) There exists a positive constant $C_{Q,p}$ depending only on Q, p such that

$$\sup_{\substack{0<\varepsilon<1}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv + \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{1}{|u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv \leq C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\nabla_X f(u)|^p du.$$
(b) There holds
$$K_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} f(u)|^p du = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u) - f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\rho (u^{-1} \cdot v)^{Q+p}} du dv.$$

where $K_{Q,p}$ is a constant defined as follows

 \sim

$$K_{Q,p} = \int\limits_{\Sigma} |\langle v', y'\rangle|^p dy$$

with $y', v' \in \mathbb{R}^{m_1}$ and $|v'|_{\mathbb{R}}^{m_1} = 1$.

|f|

(c) There exists a positive constant ${\cal C}_{Q,p}$ such that

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{G}\\(u)-f(v)|>\delta}} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{G}\\\mathbb{G}}} \frac{\delta^p}{|u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv \le C_{Q,p} \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\nabla_X f(u)|^p du, \ \forall \delta > 0.$$

(d) Moreover

$$\frac{1}{p}K_{Q,p}\int_{\mathbb{G}} |\nabla_X f(u)|^p \, du = \liminf_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{G} \ \mathbb{G} \\ |f(u) - f(v)| > \delta}} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{G} \ \mathbb{G} \\ |f(u) - f(v)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv.$$

Theorem 3.7. Let $1 and <math>f \in L^p(\mathbb{G})$. Then the following are equivalent:

(1)
$$f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{G}).$$

(2)

(3)
$$\sup_{\substack{0<\varepsilon<1\\ [f(u)-f(v)|\leq 1\\ |f(u)-f(v)|\leq 1}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{\varepsilon |f(u)-f(v)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|u^{-1}\cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv + \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{1}{|u^{-1}\cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty.$$

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{\delta^p}{|u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty.$$

(4) There exists a nonnegative function $F \in L^{p}(\mathbb{G})$ such that

$$|f(u) - f(v)| \le |u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}} \left(F(u) + F(v) \right) \text{ for a.e. } u, \ v \in \mathbb{G}.$$

The proofs of Theorem 3.6 and 3.7 are similar to Theorem 2.6 and 2.7.

3.3 The Case p = 1

In this section, we will investigate the special case p = 1. At the beginning, we recall the definition of the space $BV(\Omega)$ of functions with bounded variation in $\Omega \subset \mathbb{G}$.

Definition Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{G}$ be open and $f \in L^1(\Omega)$. Then, f has bounded \mathbb{G} -variation in Ω if

$$|\nabla_{\mathbb{G}f}|(\Omega) \doteq \sup\{\int_{\Omega} f div_{\mathbb{G}}(\psi) dL^n : \psi \in C_0^1(\Omega, H\mathbb{G}), |\psi| \le 1\} < \infty$$

where $|\nabla_{\mathbb{G}f}|(\Omega)$ is called \mathbb{G} -variation of f in Ω . We denote by $BV_{\mathbb{G}}(\Omega)$ the vector space of functions of bounded \mathbb{G} -variation in Ω .

Theorem 3.8. Let f be a function in $L^1(\mathbb{G})$ satisfying

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \int\limits_{\substack{\mathbb{G}} \\ |f(u)-f(v)|>\delta} \frac{\delta}{|u^{-1}\cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+1}} du dv <\infty.$$

Then $f \in BV(\mathbb{G})$.

The proof of this theorem is similar to Theorem 2.10.

Using Theorem 3.8, we can also have the following Lipschitz type characterization of BV space: **Proposition 3.9.** Let $f \in L^1(\mathbb{G})$ be such that there exists a nonnegative function $F \in L^1(\mathbb{G})$ satisfying

$$|f(u) - f(v)| \le |u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}} \left(F(u) + F(v) \right) \text{ for a.e. } u, \ v \in \mathbb{G}.$$

Then $f \in BV(\mathbb{G})$.

The proof of this proposition is similar to Theorem 2.11.

3.4 Some generalizations and variants

In this section, we will study some generalizations of the above results. The next Theorem is a generalized result of Theorem 3.7:

Theorem 3.10. Let $f \in L^p(\mathbb{G})$, $1 and <math>F : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ be continuous such that $\int_0^\infty F(t) t^{-p-1} dt = 1.$

 Set

$$F_{\delta}(t) = \delta^{p} F\left(\frac{t}{\delta}\right), \ \delta > 0$$

Then we have

(a) If

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \int\limits_{\mathbb{G}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(|f(u) - f(v)|\right)}{|u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty$$

and

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{G} \ \mathbb{G}}} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{G} \ \mathbb{G}}} \frac{1}{|u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv < \infty, \ \forall \delta > 0,$$
$$|f(u) - f(v)| > \delta$$

then $g \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{G})$.

(b) If
$$g \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{G})$$
 and

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} F_{\delta}(t) t^{-p-1} dt < \infty, \ \forall \delta > 0,$$

then

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{F_{\delta}\left(|f(u) - f(v)|\right)}{|u^{-1} \cdot v|_{\mathbb{G}}^{Q+p}} du dv \le C_{Q,p} \int_{0}^{\infty} F_{\delta}\left(t\right) t^{-p-1} dt \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(u)|^{p} du, \ \forall \delta > 0.$$

The proof of this Theorem is similar to Theorem 2.12.

CHAPTER 4 NEW CHARACTERIZATIONS OF SECOND OR-DER SOBOLEV SPACES ON EUCLIDEAN SPACES

4.1 Main Results

The first purpose of this chapter is to prove the following estimates for functions in the Sobolev spaces $W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

Theorem 4.1. Let $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $1 . Then there exists a constant <math>C_{N,p}$ such that

(1)

$$\begin{aligned} & \left|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\right| \leq 1 \\ & = \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} \int \left|D^2g\left(x\right)\left(\sigma,\sigma\right)\right|^p dx d\sigma. \end{aligned}$$

Here we have used the notation

$$\left|D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)\right| = \sum_{1 \le i_{1}, i_{2} \le N} \sigma_{i_{1}}\sigma_{i_{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}g}{\partial x_{i_{1}}\partial x_{i_{2}}}(x).$$

We will use this notation frequently throughout this chapter..

Theorem 4.2. Let $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $1 . Then there exists a constant <math>C_{N,p}$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx, \forall \delta > 0.$$

 $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^p dx d\sigma.$

3.

$$\sup_{\substack{0<\varepsilon<1\\|g(x)-g(y)-\nabla g(y)(x-y)|\leq 1}} \frac{\varepsilon |g(x)-g(y)-\nabla g(y)(x-y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy$$
$$+ \int_{\substack{\|g(x)-g(y)-\nabla g(y)(x-y)|> 1}} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx.$$

4.

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon |g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y)(x-y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ &= \frac{1}{2^{p+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma. \end{split}$$

Using Theorems 4.1 and 4.2, We can set up the new characterizations of the Sobolev space $W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ using the method of second order differences and the Taylor remainder of first order which are our main aims of this chapter. Indeed, we prove the following two theorems:

Theorem 4.3. Let $g \in A^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $1 where <math>A^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is the set of all $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $\exists \{g_n\}$ and A(g) > 0:

$$1) || g_n ||_p \le A(g);$$

$$2) \left| g_n(x) + g_n(y) - 2g_n\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| \le A(g);$$

$$3) \left| g_n(x) + g_n(y) - 2g_n\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| \le A(g) \left| g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| \text{ a.e. } x, y \in \mathbb{R}^N;$$

$$4) g_n \to g \text{ a.e.}$$

Then the following are equivalent:

 $<\infty$.

Theorem 4.4. Let $g \in B^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $1 where <math>B^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is the set of all $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $\exists \{g_n\}$ and B(g) > 0:

$$1) || g_n ||_p \le B(g);$$

$$2) |g_n(x) - g_n(y) - \nabla g_n(y) (x - y)| \le B(g);$$

$$3) |g_n(x) - g_n(y) - \nabla g_n(y) (x - y)| \le B(g) |g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y) (x - y)| \text{ a.e. } x, y \in \mathbb{R}^N;$$

$$4)g_n \to g \text{ a.e.}$$

Then the following are equivalent:

(1)
$$g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$$

(2)

$$\sup_{\substack{0<\delta<1\\|g(x)-g(y)-\nabla g(y)(x-y)|>\delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy < \infty$$
(3)

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon |g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y)(x-y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy < \infty$$

Next, we will also study the characterizations of $W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ by the differences of the first order gradient in the spirit of Bourgain, Brezis and Mironescu [5] and H.M. Nguyen [34,35]. More precisely, we will prove that

Theorem 4.5. Let $g \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $1 . Then <math>g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ iff

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{|(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x - y)|^p} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy \le C, \ \forall n \ge 1,$$

for some constant C > 0. Moreover,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\left| (\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x - y) \right|^p}{|x - y|^{2p}} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbf{S}^{N-1}} \left| D^2 g\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \sigma \right) \right|^p d\sigma dx.$$

Here $(\rho_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of nonnegative radial mollifiers satisfying ∞

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\tau}^{\infty} \rho_n(r) r^{N-1} dr = 0, \ \forall \tau > 0,$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \rho_n(r) r^{N-1} dr = 1.$$

Theorem 4.6. Let $g \in C^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $1 where <math>C^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is the set of all $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that

1)
$$||g_n||_p \leq C(g);$$

2) $|(\nabla g_n(x) - \nabla g_n(y)) \cdot (x - y)| \leq C(g);$
3) $|(\nabla g_n(x) - \nabla g_n(y)) \cdot (x - y)| \leq C(g) |(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x - y)|$ a.e. $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^N;$
4) $g_n \to g$ a.e.

Then the following are equivalent:

 $\exists \{g_n\} \text{ and } C(g) > 0:$

(1)
$$g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$$

(2)

$$\sup_{\substack{0<\delta<1\\|(\nabla g(x)-\nabla g(y))\cdot(x-y)|>\delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dxdy < \infty$$

(3)

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon |\left(\nabla g\left(x\right) - \nabla g\left(y\right)\right) \cdot (x-y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy < \infty$$

It is worthy noting that if we use the term $|\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)|$ instead of $|(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x-y)|$,

then Theorem 4.5 is just a easy consequence of Theorem 1.1. Indeed, if

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}}\int_{|(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y))|^{p}} \rho_{n}\left(|x - y|\right) dxdy \leq C, \ \forall n \geq 1,$$

then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\left| \left(\frac{\partial g}{\partial x_i}(x) - \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_i}(y) \right) \right|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy \le C, \ \forall n \ge 1, \ \forall i = 1, ..., N.$$

Hence, by Theorem 1.1, $\frac{\partial g}{\partial x_i} \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^N) \quad \forall i = 1, ..., N$ which means that $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. However,

in our case, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\left| (\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x - y) \right|^p}{|x - y|^{2p}} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\left| (\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \right|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy.$$

4.2 Characterizations Using the Second Order Differences

In this section, we will investigate the characterizations of second order Sobolev spaces $W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ in terms of the second order differences, namely Theorems 4.1 and 4.3.

In order to prove the above two theorems, we will study the following useful lemmas. First of all, we will need to use the following basic lemma from Fourier analysis.

Lemma 4.7. Let $1 . Then there exists a constant <math>C_{N,p} > 0$ such that for every $1 \le i \le N$ we have for every $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$

$$||\frac{\partial^2}{\partial^2 x_i}g||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)} \le C_{N,p}|| \bigtriangleup g||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)}.$$

Proof. It suffices to prove that the operator $T = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i} \cdot \triangle^{-1}$ is bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$. It is easy to see that the operator T is a multiplier operator with the symbol $\frac{\xi_i^2}{|\xi|^2}$ which is a Marcinkiewicz multiplier

which is known to be bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$. The operator T can also be viewed as a composition of two Riesz transforms and is known to be bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$. We refer to Stein's book [38].

Lemma 4.8. There exists a constant $C_{N,p} > 0$ such that for all $\delta > 0$, all $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx.$$

$$|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| > \delta$$
(4.1)

Proof. First, using the polar coordinates, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^p}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx d\sigma$$

$$|g(x)+g(y)-2g(\frac{x+y}{2})| > \delta \qquad |g(x)+g(x+h\sigma)-2g(x+\frac{h}{2}\sigma)| > \delta$$
prove (4.1), it's enough to prove that for every $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$, we can obtain

Hence, to prove (4.1), it's enough to prove that for every $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$, we can obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^p}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx.$$

$$(4.2)$$

$$\left|g(x)+g(x+h\sigma)-2g\left(x+\frac{n}{2}\sigma\right)\right|>\delta$$

Because of the rotation, we now can assume without loss of generality that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$.

By the mean value theorem, one has

$$\begin{split} \left| g(x) + g(x + he_N) - 2g\left(x + \frac{h}{2}e_N\right) \right| \\ &= \left| \left[g(x + he_N) - g\left(x + \frac{h}{2}e_N\right) \right] - \left[g\left(x + \frac{h}{2}e_N\right) - g(x) \right] \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{x_N + \frac{h}{2}}^{x_N + h} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_N} \left(x', s\right) ds - \int_{x_N}^{x_N + \frac{h}{2}} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_N} \left(x', s\right) ds \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{x_N}^{x_N + \frac{h}{2}} \left[\frac{\partial g}{\partial x_N} \left(x', s + \frac{h}{2}\right) - \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_N} \left(x', s\right) \right] ds \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{x_N}^{x_N + \frac{h}{2}} \left(\int_{s}^{s + \frac{h}{2}} \frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2} \left(x', t\right) dt \right) ds \right| \\ &\leq \int_{x_N}^{x_N + hx_N + h} \left| \frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2} \left(x', t\right) \right| dt ds \\ &\leq \int_{x_N}^{x_N + h} hM_N \left(\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2} \right) (x) ds \\ &\leq h^2 M_N \left(\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2} \right) (x) . \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \\ |g(x)+g(x+h\sigma)-2g(x+\frac{h}{2}\sigma)| > \delta & h^{2}M_{N} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}g}{\partial x_{N}^{2}}\right)(x) > \delta \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\sqrt{\frac{\delta}{M_{N} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}g}{\partial x_{N}^{2}}\right)(x)}}} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \\ &= \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| M_{N} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}g}{\partial x_{N}^{2}} \right)(x) \right|^{p} dx \\ &\leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta g|^{p} dx. \end{split}$$

The proof of Lemma 4.8 is now completed.

Lemma 4.9. There holds

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\delta \to 0} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\substack{|x-y|^{N+2p} \\ |g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \frac{1}{2^{2p+1} p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \left| D^2 g\left(x\right) \left(\sigma,\sigma\right) \right|^p dx d\sigma \\ & \int_{\substack{|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| > \delta}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left| f(x,y) \right|^p dx dx dy = \frac{1}{2^{2p+1} p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \left| D^2 g\left(x\right) \left(\sigma,\sigma\right) \right|^p dx d\sigma \\ & \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left| f(x,y) \right|^p dx dx dy = \frac{1}{2^{2p+1} p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left| D^2 g\left(x\right) \left(\sigma,\sigma\right) \right|^p dx d\sigma \\ & \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int$$

Proof. Again, by changing of variables, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N 0} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N 0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx d\sigma.$$

$$|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| > \delta \qquad \left|\frac{g(x)+g(x+\sqrt{\delta}h\sigma)-2g\left(x+\frac{h}{2}\sqrt{\delta}\sigma\right)}{h^{2\delta}}\right| h^2 > 1$$

Define $g_{\delta}: \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$g_{\delta}(\sigma) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx.$$
$$\left| \frac{g(x) + g(x + \sqrt{\delta}h\sigma) - 2g\left(x + \frac{h}{2}\sqrt{\delta}\sigma\right)}{h^{2}\delta} \right| h^{2} > 1$$

We first prove that for all $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$, $\forall \delta > 0$:

$$g_{\delta}(\sigma) \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p \, dx. \tag{4.3}$$

Indeed, again, without loss of generality, we assume that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$. Hence, we need to verify that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx. \quad (4.4)$$

$$\left| \frac{g(x',x_N) + g(x',x_N + \sqrt{\delta}h\sigma) - 2g\left(x',x_N + \frac{h}{2}\sqrt{\delta}\sigma\right)}{h^{2\delta}} \right| h^2 > 1$$

Similar to what is done in Lemma 4.8, we have

$$\left|\frac{g(x',x_N) + g(x',x_N + \sqrt{\delta}h\sigma) - 2g\left(x',x_N + \frac{h}{2}\sqrt{\delta}\sigma\right)}{h^2\delta}\right| \le M_N\left(\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2}\right)(x).$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N 0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \\ \left| \frac{g(x',x_N) + g(x',x_N + \sqrt{\delta}h\sigma) - 2g\left(x',x_N + \frac{h}{2}\sqrt{\delta}\sigma\right)}{h^{2}\delta} \right| h^{2} > 1 \qquad \qquad h^{2} M_N\left(\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2}\right)(x) > 1 \\ &\leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p \, dx. \end{split}$$

Next, we will show that

$$g_{\delta}(\sigma) \to \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma) \right|^{p} dx \text{ as } \delta \to 0 \text{ for every } \sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$$

$$(4.5)$$

where

$$\left|D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)\right| = \sum_{1 \le i_{1}, i_{2} \le N} \sigma_{i_{1}}\sigma_{i_{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}g}{\partial x_{i_{1}}\partial x_{i_{2}}}(x).$$

Again, without loss of generality, we suppose that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$. We write

$$g_{\delta}\left(\sigma\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} G_{\delta}\left(x,h\right) dh dx$$

where

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) = \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} \chi_{\left\{ \left| \frac{g(x) + g(x + \sqrt{\delta}h\sigma) - 2g\left(x + \frac{h}{2}\sqrt{\delta}\sigma\right)}{h^{2}\delta} \right| h^{2} > 1 \right\}} (x,h).$$

Noting that for all $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$:

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) \to \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} \chi_{\{|D^2g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|h^2 > 4\}}(x,h) \text{ as } \delta \to 0 \text{ for a.e. } (x,h) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times [0,\infty) ,$$

and

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) \leq \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} \chi_{\left\{h^{2} M_{N}\left(\frac{\partial^{2} g}{\partial x_{N}^{2}}\right)(x) > 1\right\}}(x,h) \in L^{1}\left(\mathbb{R}^{N} \times [0,\infty)\right).$$

Hence, by Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, we get (4.5).

Using (4.3) and (4.5) and the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem again, we can conclude that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \left| D^2 g\left(x\right) \left(\sigma,\sigma\right) \right|^p dx d\sigma.$$

$$|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| > \delta$$

Proof of Theorem 4.1:

(1) and (2) are consequences of Lemma 4.8 and Lemma 4.9.

Now we will prove (3). By (1), we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\|x-y\|^{N+2p}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx, \ \forall \delta > 0.$$

$$|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| > \delta$$

$$(4.6)$$

In particular,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\|x-y\|^{N+2p}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx.$$

$$|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| > 1$$

$$(4.7)$$

Now, from (4.6), one has

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy d\delta \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta g|^{p} dx.$$
$$|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| > \delta$$

Using Lemma 2.1, we deduce

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\|x-y\|^{N+2p}} \frac{\varepsilon \left|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\|x-y\|^{N+2p}} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy + \left|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\right| > 1} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy$$
(4.8)

$$\leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p \, dx.$$

From (4.7) and (4.8), we get the assertion (3).

Now, set

$$G\left(\delta\right) = \int \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int \frac{\delta^p}{\left|x - y\right|^{N+2p}} dx dy.$$
$$|g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| > \delta$$

So by the previous results, we have

$$G(\delta) \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p \, dx, \ \forall \delta > 0$$

and

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} G\left(\delta\right) = \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} \int \left| D^2 g\left(x\right) \left(\sigma,\sigma\right) \right|^p dx d\sigma.$$

Now, we claim that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} G(\delta) \, d\delta = \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0} \left| D^2 g(x)(\sigma,\sigma) \right|^p \, dx d\sigma.$$
(4.9)

Indeed, for every $\epsilon > 0$, we can find a number $X(\epsilon) \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$\left|G\left(\delta\right) - \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \left|D^{2}g\left(x\right)\left(\sigma,\sigma\right)\right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right| < \epsilon \text{ for all } \delta \in \left(0, X\left(\epsilon\right)\right).$$

Now, we have:

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{X(\epsilon)}^{1} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left[G\left(\delta \right) - \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \left| D^2 g\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \sigma \right) \right|^p dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \\ & \leq \int_{X(\epsilon)}^{1} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left| G\left(\delta \right) - \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int \left| D^2 g\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \sigma \right) \right|^p dx d\sigma \right| d\delta \\ & \leq \int_{X(\epsilon)}^{1} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon X\left(\epsilon \right)^{\varepsilon - 1} \left[C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left| \Delta g \right|^p dx \right] d\delta \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{0}^{X(\epsilon)} (p+\varepsilon) \, \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left[G\left(\delta\right) - \frac{1}{2^{2p+1} p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| D^{2}g\left(x\right)\left(\sigma,\sigma\right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\epsilon)} (p+\varepsilon) \, \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left| G\left(\delta\right) - \frac{1}{2^{2p+1} p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| D^{2}g\left(x\right)\left(\sigma,\sigma\right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right| d\delta \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\epsilon)} (p+\varepsilon) \, \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \epsilon d\delta \\ &\leq p\epsilon. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{0}^{1} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left[G\left(\delta \right) - \frac{1}{2^{2p+1} p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \left| D^{2} g\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \sigma \right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \le p\epsilon, \ \forall \epsilon > 0.$$
 we can get

Hence we can get

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} G\left(\delta\right) d\delta = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[\frac{1}{2^{2p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| D^{2}g\left(x\right)\left(\sigma,\sigma\right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta$$
$$= \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| D^{2}g\left(x\right)\left(\sigma,\sigma\right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma.$$

Consequently, we have $\frac{1}{2}$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N} \\ |g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| > \delta}} \frac{(p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{p+\varepsilon-1}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dxdyd\delta = \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| D^{2}g\left(x\right)\left(\sigma,\sigma\right) \right|^{p} dxd\sigma.$$

Now, using Lemma 2.1 with $\alpha = p + \varepsilon - 1$, $\Phi(x, y) = \left|g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\right|, \Psi(x, y) = 0$

 $\frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+2p}}$, we obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\iint_{|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| \leq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}} \iint_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g\left(x\right)\left(\sigma,\sigma\right)|^{p} dx d\sigma.$$

Noting that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\left|g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\right| > 1} \frac{\varepsilon}{\left|x - y\right|^{N+2p}} dx dy = 0,$$

we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\substack{|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| \le 1}} \frac{\varepsilon \left|g(x)+g(y)-2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} \left|D^2g\left(x\right)\left(\sigma,\sigma\right)\right|^p dx d\sigma.$$

We have the statement (4). \Box

Proof of Theorem 4.3:

First, it is clear that statements $(1) \Longrightarrow (2)$ and $(1) \Longrightarrow (3)$ are consequences of Theorem 4.1. Now, we will prove $(3) \Longrightarrow (1)$:

First, we assume further that $|g(x) + g(y) - 2g(\frac{x+y}{2})|$ is bounded by M(g) on $\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}^N$. Then since

$$\sup_{\substack{0<\varepsilon<1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left|g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy$$
$$|g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| \le 1$$
$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy$$
$$|g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)| > 1$$
$$< \infty$$

we get

$$\sup_{0<\gamma<1}\int_{\mathbb{R}^N}\int_{\mathbb{R}^N}\frac{\gamma|g(x)+g(y)-2g(\frac{x+y}{2})|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}}dxdy=C\left(g,M\left(g\right)\right)<\infty.$$

Let η_{ε} be any sequence of smooth mollifiers and set $g^{\varepsilon} = g * \eta_{\varepsilon}$. Then we can get $g^{\varepsilon} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap$

 $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N) \subseteq W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N).$

Using (4) of Theorem 4.1, we can have

$$\begin{split} C_{N,p} & \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g^{\varepsilon}(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma \\ & \leq \sup_{0 < \gamma < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |g^{\varepsilon}(x) + g^{\varepsilon}(y) - 2g^{\varepsilon}(\frac{x+y}{2})|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ & \leq \sup_{0 < \gamma < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |g^{\varepsilon}(x) + g^{\varepsilon}(y) - 2g^{\varepsilon}(\frac{x+y}{2})|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ & = \sup_{0 < \gamma < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \{g(x-z) + g(y-z) - 2g(\frac{x+y}{2}-z)\} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z) dz|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy. \end{split}$$

Since the function $x^{p+\varepsilon}$ is convex on $[0,\infty)$, by Jensen's inequality, we can deduce

$$\begin{split} \sup_{0<\gamma<1} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \{g(x-z) + g(y-z) - 2g(\frac{x+y}{2}-z)\} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z) dz|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ & \leq \sup_{0<\gamma<1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |g(x-z) + g(y-z) - 2g(\frac{x+y}{2}-z)|^{p+\gamma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z) dz}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ & = \sup_{0<\gamma<1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |g(x) + g(y) - 2g(\frac{x+y}{2})|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \leq C\left(g, M\left(g\right)\right). \end{split}$$

So $\|g^{\varepsilon}\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)}$ is bounded. Since $g^{\varepsilon} \to g$ a.e., we get $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

In the general case, since $g \in A^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$, we can find a sequence $\{g_n\}$ and A(g) > 0 such that $\left|g_n(x) + g_n(y) - 2g_n\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\right|$ is bounded by A(g) and $\left|g_n(x) + g_n(y) - 2g_n\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\right| \le A(g)\left|g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right)\right|$

a.e. $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Then it is clear that $g_n \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ since

$$\begin{split} \sup_{0 < \varepsilon < 1} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \frac{a_n}{A(g)}(x) - 2\frac{a_n}{A(g)}(\frac{x+y}{2}) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ & \left| \frac{g_n}{A(g)}(x) + \frac{g_n}{A(g)}(y) - 2\frac{g_n}{A(g)}(\frac{x+y}{2}) \right| \le 1 \\ & + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ & \left| \frac{g_n}{A(g)}(x) + \frac{g_n}{A(g)}(y) - 2\frac{g_n}{A(g)}(\frac{x+y}{2}) \right| > 1 \\ & = \sup_{0 < \varepsilon < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \left| \frac{g_n}{A(g)}(x) + \frac{g_n}{A(g)}(y) - 2\frac{g_n}{A(g)}(\frac{x+y}{2}) \right| \le 1 \\ & + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \frac{g_n}{A(g)}(x) + \frac{g_n}{A(g)}(y) - 2\frac{g_n}{A(g)}(\frac{x+y}{2}) \right| \le 1 \\ & + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \frac{g_n}{A(g)}(x) + \frac{g_n}{A(g)}(y) - 2\frac{g_n}{A(g)}(\frac{x+y}{2}) \right| \le 1 \\ & \left| g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| \le 1 \\ & \left| g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| > 1 \\ & \leq \sup_{0 < \varepsilon < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| > 1 \\ & \leq \sup_{0 < \varepsilon < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| > 1 \\ & \leq \sup_{0 < \varepsilon < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| > 1 \\ & \leq \sup_{0 < \varepsilon < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| > 1 \\ & = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| > 1 \\ & \leq \sup_{0 < \varepsilon < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| > 1 \\ & \leq \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, by (4) in Theorem 4.1, we have

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2^{2p+1}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} \int \left| D^2 g_n\left(x\right)\left(\sigma,\sigma\right) \right|^p dx d\sigma \\ &= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| g_n(x) + g_n(y) - 2g_n\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ &\quad \left| g_n(x) + g_n(y) - 2g_n\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| \le 1 \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} C\left(A\left(g\right)\right) \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ &\quad \left| g(x) + g(y) - 2g\left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right) \right| \le 1 \\ &\leq C\left(g, A\left(g\right)\right). \end{split}$$

Hence, $||g_n||_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)}$ is bounded. Since $g_n \to g$ a.e. \mathbb{R}^N , we get $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. \Box

4.3 Characterizations Using the Taylor Remainder

The man purpose of this section is to establish Theorems 4.2 and 4.4, namely, characterizing the second order Sobolev spaces $W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ using the method of the Taylor remainder of first order.

In order to prove these two theorems, we will need to adapt the following useful lemmas:

Lemma 4.10. There exists a constant $C_{N,p} > 0$ such that for all $\delta > 0$, all $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$:

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N\\ |g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y)(x-y)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x - y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx.$$
(4.10)

Proof. Again, using the polar coordinates, we get

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \iint_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \iint_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^p}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx d\sigma.$$

$$|g(x)-g(y)-\nabla g(y)(x-y)| > \delta \qquad |g(x+h\sigma)-g(x)-h\nabla g(x)\sigma| > \delta$$

Thus, again, to prove (4.10), it's enough to prove that for every $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^p}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx.$$

$$|g(x+h\sigma)-g(x)-h\nabla g(x)\sigma| > \delta$$
(4.11)

Because of the rotation, we assume without loss of generality that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$.

Now, by the mean value theorem, one has | 1

$$\begin{aligned} |g(x+he_N) - g(x) - h\nabla g(x)e_N| &= \left| \int_0^1 \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_N} \left(x', x_N + sh \right) h ds - h \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_N} (x) \right| \\ &= \left| h \int_0^1 \left[\frac{\partial g}{\partial x_N} \left(x', x_N + sh \right) h ds - \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_N} (x', x_N) \right] ds \right| \\ &= \left| h \int_0^1 \int_{x_N}^{x_N + sh} \frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2} \left(x', t \right) dt ds \right| \\ &\leq h \int_0^1 sh M_N \left(\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2} \right) (x) ds \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} h^2 M_N \left(\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2} \right) (x) . \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} & \iint_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^p}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \leq \iint_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^p}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \\ & |g(x+h\sigma) - g(x) - h \nabla g(x)\sigma| > \delta \\ & = \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^p}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \\ & = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{N} \frac{\delta^p}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \\ & = \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left| M_N \left(\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2} \right) (x) \right|^p dx \\ & \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left| \frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2} \right|^p dx \\ & \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx. \end{split}$$

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^p dx d\sigma$$

for all $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N), 1 .$

Proof. Again, by changing of variables, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \int_{\mathbb{S}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx d\sigma$$

Define $g_{\delta}: \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$g_{\delta}(\sigma) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx$$
$$|\frac{g(x+\sqrt{\delta}h\sigma) - g(x) - \sqrt{\delta}h\nabla g(x)\sigma}{h^{2}\delta}|h^{2} > 1$$

We first prove that for all $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}, \, \forall \delta > 0$:

$$g_{\delta}(\sigma) \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx \tag{4.12}$$

Indeed, again, without loss of generality, we assume that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$. Hence, we need to verify that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx \qquad (4.13)$$

$$|\frac{g(x',x_N+\sqrt{\delta}h)-g(x',x_N)-\nabla g(x',x_N)\sqrt{\delta}he_N}{h^{2\delta}}|h^2>1$$

Similar to the proof of Lemma 4.8, we have

$$\left|\frac{g(x', x_N + \sqrt{\delta}h) - g(x', x_N) - \nabla g(x', x_N)\sqrt{\delta}he_N}{h^2\delta}\right| \le \frac{1}{2}M_N(\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2})(x)$$

Thus,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx$$

$$\frac{g(x', x_N + \sqrt{\delta}h) - g(x', x_N) - \nabla g(x', x_N) \sqrt{\delta}he_N}{h^{2\delta}} |h^2 > 1 \qquad h^2 M_N(\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2})(x) > 2$$

So we can get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx$$
$$|\frac{g(x',x_N+\sqrt{\delta}h)-g(x',x_N)-\nabla g(x',x_N)\sqrt{\delta}he_N}{h^{2\delta}}|h^2>1$$

Next we will show that

$$g_{\delta}(\sigma) \to \frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx \text{ as } \delta \to 0 \text{ for every } \sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$$
(4.14)

where

$$|D^2g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)| = \sum_{1 \le i_1, i_2 \le N} \sigma_{i_1} \sigma_{i_2} \frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_{i_1} \partial x_{i_2}(x)}.$$

Again, with loss of generality, we suppose that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$. We write

$$g_{\delta}(\sigma) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_0^{\infty} G_{\delta}(x,h) dh dx$$

where

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) = \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} \chi_{\{|\frac{g(x+\sqrt{\delta}h\sigma) - g(x) - \nabla g(x)\sqrt{\delta}h\sigma}{h^{2}\delta}|h^{2} > 1\}}(x,h).$$

Noting that for all $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$:

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) \to \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} \chi_{\{|D^2g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|h^2>2\}} \text{ as } \delta \to 0 \text{ for } a.e.(x,h) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times [0,\infty),$$

and

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) \le \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} \chi_{\{h^2 M_N(\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2})(x) > 2\}}(x,h) \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^N \times [0,\infty))$$

Hence, by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, we get (3.5) Using (3.3), (3.5) and the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem again, we can conclude that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\substack{\|g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y)(x-y)\| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x - y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma.$$

Proof of Theorem 4.2: (1) and (2) are consequences of Lemma 4.10 and Lemma 4.11. Now we will prove (3). By (1), we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx, \forall \delta > 0.$$
(4.15)

In particular,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx, \forall \delta > 0.$$

$$(4.16)$$

Now, from (3.6), one has

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\varepsilon \delta^{p+\varepsilon-1}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy d\delta \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta g|^{p} dx$$
(4.17)

Using Lemma 2.1, we deduce

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon |g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y)(x-y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ & + \int_{|g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y)(x-y)| > 1} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ & \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx. \end{split}$$

$$H(\delta) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx$$

So from what we have proved, we have

$$H(\delta) \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx, \forall \delta > 0.$$

and

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} H(\delta) = \frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma.$$
(4.18)

Indeed, for every $\theta > 0$, we can find a number $X(\theta) \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$|H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma| < \theta \text{ for all } \delta \in (0, X(\theta)).$$

Now, we have

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{X(\theta)}^{1} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{X(\theta)}^{1} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} |H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma |d\delta \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{X(\theta)}^{1} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta g|^{p} dx \right] d\delta \\ &= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} (p+\varepsilon)(1-X(\theta)^{\varepsilon}) \left[C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta g|^{p} dx \right] \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} &|\int_{0}^{X(\theta)} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta |\\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\theta)} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{\varepsilon-1} |H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma |d\delta |\\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\theta)} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{\varepsilon-1} \theta d\delta \\ &\leq p\theta. \end{split}$$

Thus, \forall sufficiently small $\theta > 0$:

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_0^1 (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^p dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \le p\theta.$$

Hence we can get

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^1 (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} H(\delta) d\delta &= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^1 (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[\frac{1}{2^{p+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^p dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \\ &= \frac{1}{2^{p+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^p dx d\sigma. \end{split}$$

Consequently, we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\varepsilon(p+\varepsilon)\delta^{p+\varepsilon-1}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy d\delta = \frac{1}{2^{p+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma.$$

Now, using Lemma 2.1 with

$$\alpha = p + \varepsilon - 1, \ \Phi(x, y) = |g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y)(x - y)|, \ \Psi(x, y) = \frac{1}{|x - y|^{N + 2p}},$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\begin{array}{c} \iint\limits_{|g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y)(x-y)| \geq 1} \frac{\varepsilon |g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y)(x-y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ + \iint\limits_{|g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y)(x-y)| > 1} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ = \frac{1}{2^{p+1}} \int\limits_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int \left| D^2 g\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \sigma \right) \right|^p dx d\sigma. \end{split}$$

Noting that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = 0,$$

we have

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon |g(x) - g(y) - \nabla g(y)(x-y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ &= \frac{1}{2^{p+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma. \end{split}$$

Proof of Theorem 4.4 is similar to the proof of Theorem 4.3 and will be omitted.

4.4 More Characterizations of Second Order Spaces: Combinations of First Order Difference and Taylor Remainder

In this section, we will study some other characterizations of the second order Sobolev spaces.

Namely, we will give characterizations motivated by the observation that $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is essentially

equivalent to $\nabla g \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

Characterization of Bourgain-Brezis-Mironescu type

Lemma 4.12. Let $g \in W^{2,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^{N}\right)$. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\left| \left(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y) \right) \cdot (x - y) \right|^p}{|x - y|^{2p}} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy \le C, \ \forall n \ge 1,$$

$$(4.19)$$

for some constant C > 0. Moreover,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\left| \left(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y) \right) \cdot (x - y) \right|^p}{\left| x - y \right|^{2p}} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbf{S}^{N-1}} \left| D^2 g\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \sigma \right) \right|^p d\sigma dx.$$
(4.20)

Proof. Since $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $\frac{\partial g}{\partial x_i} \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Using Theorem 1.1 (noting Theorem 1.1 still holds when $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^N$), we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\left| \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_i}(x) - \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_i}(y) \right|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy \le C.$$

Hence,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int \frac{\left| (\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x - y) \right|^p}{|x - y|^{2p}} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int \frac{\left| (\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \right|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy \leq C$$

for some constant C > 0.

Now, suppose that $g \in C_0^\infty (\mathbb{R}^N)$. Then by Taylor's formula, we have

$$\left| \left(\nabla g(x+h) - \nabla g(x) \right) \cdot h \right| = \left| \sum \left(\frac{\partial g}{\partial x_i}(x+h) - \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_i}(x) \right) h_i \right|$$
$$\leq \left| D^2 g(x) (h,h) \right| + c \left| h \right|^3.$$

Hence, for every $\theta > 0$:

$$|(\nabla g(x+h) - \nabla g(x)) \cdot h|^p \le (1+\theta) |D^2 g(x)(h,h)|^p + c_\theta |h|^{3p}.$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} &\int \int \limits_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\left| \left(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y) \right) \cdot (x - y) \right|^{p}}{\left| x - y \right|^{2p}} \rho_{n} \left(\left| x - y \right| \right) dx dy \\ &= \int \limits_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \frac{\left| \left(\nabla g(x + h) - \nabla g(x) \right) \cdot h \right|^{p}}{\left| h \right|^{2p}} \rho_{n} \left(\left| h \right| \right) dh dx \\ &\leq \left(1 + \theta \right) \int \limits_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \frac{\rho_{n} \left(\left| h \right| \right)}{\left| h \right|^{2p}} \left| D^{2} g\left(x \right) \left(h, h \right) \right|^{p} dh dx + c_{\theta} \left| \operatorname{supp} \left(g \right) \right| \int \limits_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \rho_{n} \left(\left| h \right| \right) \left| h \right|^{p} dh. \end{split}$$

Also,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\rho_{n}\left(|h|\right)}{|h|^{2p}} \left|D^{2}g\left(x\right)\left(h,h\right)\right|^{p} dh = \int_{0}^{\infty} \rho_{n}\left(r\right) r^{N-1} dr \int_{\mathbf{S}^{N-1}} \left|D^{2}g\left(x\right)\left(\sigma,\sigma\right)\right|^{p} d\sigma.$$

Now, let $n \to \infty$ and then $\theta \to 0$, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \frac{\left|\left(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)\right) \cdot (x - y)\right|^{p}}{\left|x - y\right|^{2p}} \rho_{n}\left(\left|x - y\right|\right) dx dy \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbf{S}^{N-1}} \int \left|D^{2}g\left(x\right)\left(\sigma, \sigma\right)\right|^{p} d\sigma dx. \quad (4.21)$$
Now, for any $A > 0$, then again by Taylor's formula:

$$\left| \left(\nabla g(x+h) - \nabla g(x) \right) \cdot h - D^2 g(x)(h,h) \right| \le C_A |h|^3 \text{ a.e. } x \in B(0,A); h \in B(0,1).$$

Then

$$|D^{2}g(x)(h,h)|^{p} \leq (1+\theta) |(\nabla g(x+h) - \nabla g(x)) \cdot h|^{p} + C_{A,\theta} |h|^{3p} \text{ a.e. } x \in B(0,A); h \in B(0,1).$$

Hence

$$\int_{B(0,A)B(0,1)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\rho_{n}(|h|)}{|h|^{2p}} \left| D^{2}g(x)(h,h) \right|^{p} dh dx \\
\leq (1+\theta) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\|h\|^{2p}} \frac{\left| \left(\nabla g(x+h) - \nabla g(x) \right) \cdot h \right|^{p}}{|h|^{2p}} \rho_{n}(|h|) dh dx + C_{A,\theta} \left| B(0,A) \right| \int_{B(0,1)} \rho_{n}(|h|) \left| h \right|^{p} dh.$$

$$= n \to \infty \text{ and } \theta \to 0:$$

Let

$$\begin{split} \int_{B(0,A)\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \left| D^2 g\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \sigma \right) \right|^p d\sigma dx &\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int \frac{\left| \left(\nabla g(x+h) - \nabla g(x) \right) \cdot h \right|^p}{\left| h \right|^{2p}} \rho_n \left(\left| h \right| \right) dh dx \\ &= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int \frac{\left| \left(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y) \right) \cdot (x-y) \right|^p}{\left| x-y \right|^{2p}} \rho_n \left(\left| x-y \right| \right) dx dy. \end{split}$$
 Since $A > 0$ is arbitrary, we get (4.20) for $C_0^\infty \left(\mathbb{R}^N \right)$ –functions.

By density argument, we also have (4.20) for $W^{2,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^{N}\right)$ –functions. **Proof of Theorem 4.5:** Assume that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{|(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x - y)|^p}{|x - y|^{2p}} \rho_n \left(|x - y|\right) dx dy \le C\left(g\right), \ \forall n \ge 1.$$

Let $g_k = g * \eta_k$ where η_k is a sequence of smooth mollifiers. Noting that $D^{\alpha}(g_k) = D^{\alpha}(g) * \eta_k$, we

have from the convexity of the function t^p on $[0,\infty)$ that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\left| \left(\nabla g_k(x) - \nabla g_k(y) \right) \cdot (x - y) \right|^p}{|x - y|^{2p}} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\left| \left(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y) \right) \cdot (x - y) \right|^p}{|x - y|^{2p}} \rho_n \left(|x - y| \right) dx dy \leq C \left(g \right)$$

Moreover, since g_k is smooth, by Lemma 4.12, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbf{S}^{N-1}} \int \left| D^{2} g_{k}(x) \left(\sigma, \sigma \right) \right|^{p} d\sigma dx \leq C\left(g \right)$$

which means that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta g_{k}(x)|^{p} dx \leq C_{1}(g) \,.$$

Since $g_k \to g$ a.e. \mathbb{R}^N , we can conclude that $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. \Box

Characterization of H.-M. Nguyen type

Lemma 4.13. There exists a constant $C_{N,p} > 0$ such that for all $\delta > 0$, all $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$:

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x-y)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx.$$

Proof. By Lemma 4.10, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \frac{\delta^{p}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \frac{\delta^{p}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \frac{\delta^{p}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy$$

$$\leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta g|^{p} dx.$$

Lemma 4.14. There holds

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x - y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma$$
 for all $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N), \ 1 .$

Proof. By changing of variables, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \int_{\mathbb{S}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx d\sigma$$

Define $g_{\delta}: \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$g_{\delta}(\sigma) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx$$
$$|\frac{(\nabla g(x+\sqrt{\delta}h\sigma) - \nabla g(x)) \cdot \sqrt{\delta}h\sigma}{h^{2}\delta}|h^{2} > 1$$

Then by the same argument as in Lemma 4.13 and by Lemma 4.11, we can prove that for all $- \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \setminus S > 0$.

$$\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}, \, \forall \delta > 0 :$$

$$g_{\delta}(\sigma) \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx.$$

Now we will show that

$$g_{\delta}(\sigma) \to \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx \text{ as } \delta \to 0 \text{ for every } \sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$$
(4.22)

Indeed, again, with loss of generality, we suppose that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$. We write

$$g_{\delta}(\sigma) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_0^\infty G_{\delta}(x,h) dh dx$$

where

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) = \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} \chi_{\{|\frac{(\nabla g(x+\sqrt{\delta}h\sigma) - \nabla g(x)) \cdot \sqrt{\delta}h\sigma}{h^{2}\delta}|h^{2} > 1\}}(x,h).$$

Noting that for all $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$:

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) \to \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} \chi_{\{|D^2g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|h^2 > 1\}} \text{ as } \delta \to 0 \text{ for } a.e.(x,h) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times [0,\infty),$$

and

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) \le \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} \chi_{\{h^2 M_N(\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_N^2})(x) > 1\}}(x,h) \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^N \times [0,\infty)).$$

Hence, by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, we get (4.22). Using the Lebesgue domi-

nated convergence theorem again, we can conclude that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^p dx d\sigma.$$

Theorem 4.15. Let $g \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $1 . Then there exists a constant <math>C_{N,p}$ such that

1.

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx, \forall \delta > 0.$$

2.

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\|(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x - y)\| > \delta} \frac{\delta^p}{|x - y|^{N + 2p}} dx dy = \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma.$$

3.

$$\sup_{\substack{0<\varepsilon<1\\|(\nabla g(x)-\nabla g(y))\cdot(x-y)|\leq 1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon |(\nabla g(x)-\nabla g(y))\cdot(x-y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dxdy$$
$$+ \int_{\substack{0<\infty\\|(\nabla g(x)-\nabla g(y))\cdot(x-y)|> 1}} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dxdy \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx.$$

4.

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon |(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x - y)|^{p + \varepsilon}}{|x - y|^{N + 2p}} dx dy \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma. \end{split}$$

Proof. (3) is just a consequence of (1), the Fatou lemma and Lemma 2.1. So we just have to prove (4). Set

$$H(\delta) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\delta^p}{|x - y|^{N+2p}}.$$

So from what we have proved, we get

$$H(\delta) \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta g|^p dx, \forall \delta > 0$$

and

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} H(\delta) = \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma.$$

Thus, for every $\theta > 0$, we can find a number $X(\theta) \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$|H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma| < \theta \text{ for all } \delta \in (0, X(\theta)).$$

Now, we have

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{X(\theta)}^{1} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{X(\theta)}^{1} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{\varepsilon-1} |H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma |d\delta \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{X(\theta)}^{1} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta g|^{p} dx \right] d\delta \\ &= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} (p+\varepsilon)(1-X(\theta)^{\varepsilon}) \left[C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta g|^{p} dx \right] \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{0}^{X(\theta)} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\theta)} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{\varepsilon-1} |H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma |d\delta| \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\theta)} (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{\varepsilon-1} \theta d\delta \\ &\leq p\theta. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_0^1 (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[H(\delta) - \frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^p dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \le p\theta, \forall \text{ sufficiently small } \theta > 0.$$

Hence we can get

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^1 (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} H(\delta) d\delta &= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^1 (p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[\frac{1}{2p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^p dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |D^2 g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^p dx d\sigma. \end{split}$$

Consequently, we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\varepsilon(p+\varepsilon)\delta^{p+\varepsilon-1}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy d\delta = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{2}g(x)(\sigma,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma.$$

Now, using Lemma 2.1 with

$$\alpha = p + \varepsilon - 1, \ \Phi(x, y) = |(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x - y)|, \ \Psi(x, y) = \frac{1}{|x - y|^{N + 2p}}$$

we obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\iint_{|(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x-y)| \le 1} \frac{\varepsilon |(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x-y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \right] \\ + \iint_{|(\nabla g(x) - \nabla g(y)) \cdot (x-y)| > 1} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy \\ = \frac{1}{2} \iint_{\substack{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N \\ 0 \ \text{ by poting that}}} \left| D^2 g(x) (\sigma, \sigma) \right|^p dx d\sigma.$$

We have the statement $(\bar{4})$ by noting that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x - y|^{N+2p}} dx dy = 0.$$

Proof of Theorem 4.6 is similar to the proof of Theorem 4.3; Theorem 4.4 and will be omitted.

CHAPTER 5 NEW CHARACTERIZATIONS OF HIGH ORDER SOBOLEV SPACES ON EUCLIDEAN SPACE

5.1 Main Results

Motivated by our work of the new characterizations of the second order Sobolev space, a natural next step is to study the characterizations of the high order Sobolev spaces $W^{m,p}$ with $m \geq 3$ which is the main purpose of this paper. Nevertheless, those characterizations are more complicated than the second order case and we use different methods to handle the high order case. We write

$$T_y^m f(x) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} D^{\alpha} f(y) \frac{(x-y)^{\alpha}}{\alpha!}$$

and

$$R^m f(x, y) = f(x) - T_y^m f(x)$$

for the Taylor polynomial of order m and the Taylor remainder of order m, respectively.

If we write $\triangle_h f(x) = f(x+h) - f(x)$, for $x, h \in \mathbb{R}^N$ then the second difference can be written as

$$\Delta_h^{(2)} f(x) = \Delta_h(\Delta_h f)(x) = f(x+2h) - 2f(x+h) + f(x)$$

Similarly, we can repeat this progress to get m-th difference which is

$$\Delta_h^{(m)} f(x) = f(x+mh) - \binom{m}{1} f(x+(m-1)h) + \dots + (-1)^{m-1} \binom{m}{m-1} f(x+h) + (-1)^m f(x)$$

If we set y = x + mh, then we can rewrite the m-th difference to be

$$\Delta^{(m)} f(x,y) = f(y) - \binom{m}{1} f(\frac{x + (m-1)y}{m}) + \dots + (-1)^{m-1} \binom{m}{m-1} f(\frac{(m-1)x + y}{m}) + (-1)^m f(x)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^m (-1)^k \binom{m}{k} f(\frac{kx + (m-k)y}{m})$$
where $\binom{m}{k} = \frac{m!}{(m-k)!k!}.$

In this paper, we first prove the following two theorems

Theorem 5.1. Let $f \in W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $1 . Then there exists a constant <math>C_{N,p}$ such that

(1)

$$|D^m f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)| = \sum_{1 \le i_1, \cdots, i_m \le N} \sigma_{i_1} \cdots \sigma_{i_m} \frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_{i_1} \cdots \partial x_{i_m}} (x).$$

Theorem 5.2. Let $f \in W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $1 . Then there exists a constant <math>C_{N,m,p}$ such that

(1)

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \le C_{N,m,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f(x)|^p dx, \ \forall \delta > 0.$$

(2)

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = \frac{1}{(m!)^p mp} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{S}^N} |D^m f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma.$$

$$\sup_{\substack{0<\varepsilon<1\\ R^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}\\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)|\leq 1}} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}\\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)|\leq 1}} \frac{\varepsilon \left|R^{m-1}f(x,y)\right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dxdy + \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}\\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)|>1}} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N}\\ R^{m-1}f(x,y)\leq 1}} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dxdy + \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}\\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)|>1}} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dxdy = \frac{1}{(m!)^{p}m} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}\\ \mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}}} |D^{m}f(x)(\sigma,\cdots,\sigma)|^{p} dxd\sigma.$$

Here

(3)

$$|D^m f(x)(\sigma, \dots, \sigma)| = \sum_{1 \le i_1, \dots, i_m \le N} \sigma_{i_1} \cdots \sigma_{i_m} \frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_{i_1} \cdots \partial x_{i_m}}(x).$$

Using Theorems 5.1 and 5.2, we can get the main aims of our paper: the new characterizations

of high order Sobolev spaces $W^{m,p}$ with $m \ge 3$:

Theorem 5.3. Let $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$, 1 . Then the following are equivalent:

(1) $f \in W^{m,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^N\right)$.

(2)

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N\mathbb{R}^N\\ \left|\Delta^{(m)}f(x,y)\right|>\delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{\left|x-y\right|^{N+mp}} dx dy < \infty.$$

(3)

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \Delta^{(m)} f(x,y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy < \infty.$$

$$\sum_{\substack{|\Delta^{(m)} f(x,y)| \le 1}} \frac{|\Delta^{(m)} f(x,y)| > 1}{|\Delta^{(m)} f(x,y)| > 1}$$

Theorem 5.4. Let $f \in W^{m-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$, 1 . Then the following are equivalent:

(1)
$$f \in W^{m,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^N\right)$$
.
(2)

$$\sup_{0<\delta<1} \int\limits_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy < \infty.$$

(3)

$$\sup_{\substack{0<\varepsilon<1\\|\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}|\leq 1}} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}\\|\mathbb{R}^{m-1}f(x,y)|\leq 1}} \frac{\varepsilon \left|\mathbb{R}^{m-1}f(x,y)\right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dxdy + \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}\\|\mathbb{R}^{m-1}f(x,y)|> 1}} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dxdy < \infty.$$

5.2Characterization Using mth-Differences

In this section, we will investigate the characterizations of high order Sobolev spaces $W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ in terms of the m-th differences. We will study some following useful lemmas to prove Theorems 5.1 and 5.3.

Lemma 5.5. There exists a constant $C_{N,m,p} > 0$ such that for all $\delta > 0$, all $f \in W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $m \ge 3$:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \le C_{N,m,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p dx.$$

$$(5.1)$$

$$|\Delta^{(m)}(x,y)| > \delta$$

Proof. First, using the polar coordinates, set $y = x + mh\sigma$ with h > 0 and $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$, we get

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\delta^{p}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = \frac{1}{m^{mp}} \iint_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx d\sigma.$$

$$|\Delta^{(m)}(x,y)| > \delta \qquad |\Delta^{(m)}(x,x+mh\sigma)| > \delta$$
Hence, to prove (5.1), it's enough to prove that for every $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$, we can obtain
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \delta^{p} dx dy = \frac{1}{m^{mp}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} dx dy = \frac{1}{m^{mp}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} dx dy dx dx dx dx$$

n

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^p}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p dx.$$
(5.2)

 $\left| \triangle^{(m)}(x,x+mh\sigma) \right| > \delta$ Because of the rotation, we now can assume that $\sigma = e_N = (0,...,0,1)$. We want to prove it by

induction, first we claim for $k\geq 3$

$$\Delta^{(k)}f(x, x + khe_N) = \int_{x_N}^{x_N + h} \int_{s_1}^{s_1 + h} \cdots \int_{s_{k-1}}^{s_{k-1} + h} \frac{\partial^k f}{\partial x_N^k}(x', s_k) ds_k ds_{k-1} \cdots ds_N$$

For k=3, by the mean value theorem, one has

$$\begin{split} \triangle^{(3)}f(x,x+3he_N) &= f(x+3he_N) - 3f\left(x+2he_N\right) + 3f\left(x+he_N\right) - f(x) \\ &= \left[\left(f(x+3he_N) - f(x+2he_N)\right) - \left(f(x+2he_N) - f(x+he_N)\right)\right] \\ &- \left[\left(f(x+2he_N) - f(x+he_N)\right) - \left(f(x+he_N) - f(x)\right)\right] \\ &= \left(\int_{x_N+2h}^{x_N+3h} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s\right) ds - \int_{x_N+h}^{x_N+2h} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}(x',s) ds\right) \\ &- \left(\int_{x_N+h}^{x_N+2h} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}(x',s) ds - \int_{x_N}^{x_N+h} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s\right) ds\right) \\ &= \int_{x_N}^{x_N+h} \left[\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s+2h\right) - \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s+h\right)\right) - \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s+h\right) - \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s\right)\right)\right] ds \\ &= \int_{x_N}^{x_N+h} \left[\int_{s+h}^{s+2h} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_N^2}(x',t) dt - \int_{s}^{s+h} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_N^2}(x',t) dt\right] ds \\ &= \int_{x_N}^{x_N+h} \left[\int_{s}^{s+h} \left(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_N^2}(x',t+h) - \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_N^2}(x',t)\right) dt\right] ds \\ &= \int_{x_N}^{x_N+h} \int_{s}^{s+h} \int_{t}^{t+h} \frac{\partial^3 f}{\partial x_N^3}(x',\tau) d\tau dt ds. \end{split}$$

Now we assume the claim holds for k = m - 1, we only need to prove the claim also holds for

k = m. Since

$$\begin{split} \triangle^{(m)}f(x,x+mhe_N) &= f(x+mhe_N) - C_m^1 f\left(x+(m-1)he_N\right) + C_m^2 f\left(x+(m-2)he_N\right) \\ &+ \dots + (-1)^{m-1}C_m^{m-1}f(x+he_N) + (-1)^m f(x) \\ &= (f(x+mhe_N) - f(x+(m-1)he_N)) - C_{m-1}^1(f(x+(m-1)he_N) \\ &- f(x+(m-2)he_N)) + \dots + (-1)^{m-2}C_{m-1}^{m-2}(f(x+2he_N) \\ &- f(x+he_N)) + (-1)^{m-1}(f(x+he_N) - f(x)) \\ &= \int_{x_N+(m-1)h}^{x_N+mh} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s\right) ds - C_{m-1}^1 \int_{x_N+(m-2)h}^{x_N+(m-1)h} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}(x',s) ds \\ &+ \dots + (-1)^{m-2}C_{m-2}^{m-2} \int_{x_N+h}^{x_N+h} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}(x',s) ds + (-1)^{m-1} \int_{x_N}^{x_N+h} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s\right) ds \\ &= \int_{x_N}^{x_N+h} \left[\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s+(m-1)h\right) - C_{m-1}^1 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s+(m-2)h\right) \\ &+ \dots + (-1)^{m-2}C_{m-2}^{m-2} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s+h\right) + (-1)^{m-1} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\left(x',s\right)] ds \\ &= \int_{x_N}^{x_N+h} \left[\triangle^{(m-1)}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\right)\left(\tilde{x},\tilde{x}+(m-1)he_N\right)\right] ds, \text{ with } \tilde{x} = (x',s) \\ &= \int_{x_N}^{x_N+h} \int_{s}^{s+h} \int_{s_1}^{s+h} \dots \int_{s_{m-2}}^{s_{m-2}+h} \frac{\partial m^{-1} f}{\partial x_N}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}\right)(x',s_{m-1}) ds_{m-1} ds_{m-2} \dots ds_1 ds \\ &= \int_{x_N}^{x_N+h} \int_{s_1}^{s_1+h} \dots \int_{s_{m-1}}^{s_{m-1}+h} \frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N}(x',s_M) ds_M ds_{m-1} \dots ds_1. \end{split}$$

 \mathbf{So}

$$\begin{aligned} |\triangle^{(m)} f(x, x + mhe_N)| &\leq \int_{x_N}^{x_N + h} \int_{s_1}^{s_1 + h} \cdots \int_{s_{m-2}}^{s_{m-2} + h} hM_N(\frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m})(x) ds_{m-1} \cdots ds_1 \\ &\leq h^m M_N(\frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m})(x) \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} & \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx \leq \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx \\ & |\Delta^{(m)}f(x,x+mhe_{N})| > \delta \\ & = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (\int_{0}^{\frac{\delta^{m}f}{\partial x_{N}^{m}}} \int_{0}^{\infty} x)^{\frac{1}{m}} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \\ & = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| M_{N} \left(\frac{\partial^{m}f}{\partial x_{N}^{m}} \right) (x) \right|^{p} dx \\ & = \frac{1}{mp} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| M_{N} \left(\frac{\partial^{m}f}{\partial x_{N}^{m}} \right) (x) \right|^{p} dx \\ & \leq C_{N,p} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| \frac{\partial^{m}f}{\partial x_{N}^{m}} \right|^{p} dx \\ & \leq C_{N,p} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla^{m}f|^{p} dx. \end{split}$$
amma 5.5 is now completed.
$$\Box$$

The proof of Lemma 5.5 is now completed.

Lemma 5.6. There holds

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ \left| \triangle^{(m)} f(x,y) \right| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int |D^m f(x) (\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma$$
for all $f \in W^{m,p} \left(\mathbb{R}^N \right), m \ge 3, \ 1$

Proof. Again, by changing of variables and set $y = x + \sqrt[m]{\delta}h\sigma$ we obtain ∞

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx d\sigma.$$
$$|\Delta^{(m)} f(x,y)| > \delta \qquad \qquad \left| \frac{\Delta^{(m)} f(x,x+\frac{m}{\delta}\delta h\sigma)}{h^{m\delta}} \right| h^m > 1$$

Define $F_{\delta}: \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$F_{\delta}(\sigma) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx.$$
$$\left| \frac{\Delta^{(m)} f(x,x+\sqrt{m}\sqrt{\delta}h\sigma)}{h^{m}\delta} \right| h^{m} > 1$$

We first prove that for all $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}, \ \forall \delta > 0$:

$$F_{\delta}(\sigma) \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p \, dx.$$
(5.3)

Indeed, again, without loss of generality, we assume that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$. Hence, we need

to verify that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{2p+1}} dh dx \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla^{m} f|^{p} dx.$$

$$(5.4)$$

$$\frac{\Delta^{(m)} f(x,x+\frac{m}{\delta}\delta he_{N})}{h^{m}\delta} \Big| h^{m} > 1$$

Similarly as in the Lemma 5.5, we have

$$\left|\frac{\Delta^{(m)}f(x,x+\sqrt[m]{\delta}he_N)}{h^m\delta}\right| \le M_N\left(\frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m}\right)(x)\,.$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int\limits_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx &\leq \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int\limits_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx \\ \frac{\Delta^{(m)} f(x,x+\sqrt[m]{\delta}he_N)}{h^{m\delta}} \Big| h^m > 1 \qquad h^m M_N \Big(\frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m} \Big)(x) > 1 \\ &\leq C_{N,p} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p \, dx. \end{split}$$

Next, we will show that

$$F_{\delta}(\sigma) \to \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{m}f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} dx \text{ as } \delta \to 0 \text{ for every } \sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$$
(5.5)

where

$$|D^{m}f(x)(\sigma,\dots,\sigma)| = \sum_{1 \le i_{1},\dots,i_{m} \le N} \sigma_{i_{1}} \cdots \sigma_{i_{m}} \frac{\partial^{m}f}{\partial x_{i_{1}} \cdots \partial x_{i_{m}}}(x).$$

Again, without loss of generality, we suppose that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$. We write

$$F_{\delta}(\sigma) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} G_{\delta}(x, h) \, dh dx$$

where

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) = \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} \chi_{\left\{ \left| \frac{\Delta^{(m)}f(x,x+\sqrt[m]{\delta}he_N)}{h^{m}\delta} \right| h^m > 1 \right\}} (x,h).$$

Noting that for all $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$:

$$G_{\delta}\left(x,h\right) \to \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} \chi_{\left\{|D^{m}f(x)(\sigma,\cdots,\sigma)|h^{m}>m^{m}\right\}}\left(x,h\right) \text{ as } \delta \to 0 \text{ for a.e. } (x,h) \in \mathbb{R}^{N} \times [0,\infty) ,$$

and

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) \leq \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} \chi_{\left\{h^m M_N\left(\frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m}\right)(x) > 1\right\}}(x,h) \in L^1\left(\mathbb{R}^N \times [0,\infty)\right).$$

Hence, by the Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, we get (5.5).

Using (5.3) and (5.5), again, using the Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, we can

conclude that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{|\Delta^{(m)}(x,y)| > \delta} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{|D^m f(x)(\sigma, \dots, \sigma)|^p} dx d\sigma.$$

Lemma 5.7. Assume that $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ satisfying

$$C\left(f\right) := \sup_{0 < \varepsilon < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \bigtriangleup^{(m)}(x, y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\left| x - y \right|^{N+mp}} dx dy < \infty.$$

Then $f \in W^{m,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^{N}\right)$ and

$$\frac{1}{m^{mp+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} \int |D^m f(x)(\sigma, \dots, \sigma)|^p \, dx d\sigma \le \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \Delta^{(m)}(x, y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy.$$

Proof. From the assumptions, and set $y = x + t\sigma$ we have

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}B_R} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \triangle^{(m)}(x,x+t\sigma) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{$$

By Taylor expansion, since $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, we can have that

$$\frac{1}{m^m} \left| D^m f(x) \left(t\sigma, \cdots, t\sigma \right) \right| \le \left| \triangle^{(m)}(x, x + t\sigma) \right| + Ct^{m+1}$$

for all $(\sigma, x, t) \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \times B_R \times (0, 1)$. Also, since

$$\left| \triangle^{(m)}(x, x + t\sigma) \right| \le Ct^m \text{ for all } (\sigma, x, t) \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \times B_R \times (0, 1),$$

we have

$$\frac{1}{m^{m(p+\varepsilon)}} \left| D^m f\left(x\right) (t\sigma, \cdots, t\sigma) \right|^{p+\varepsilon} \le \left[\left| \triangle^{(m)}(x, x+t\sigma) \right| + Ct^{m+1} \right]^{p+\varepsilon} \le \left| \triangle^{(m)}(x, x+t\sigma) \right|^{p+\varepsilon} + Ct^{mp+\varepsilon+1},$$

for all $(\sigma, x, t) \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \times B_R \times (0, 1)$.

Now, noting that

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}B_R} \int_0^1 \frac{\varepsilon t^{mp+\varepsilon+1}}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma = 0,$$

we can deduce

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} & \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}B_R} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{m^{m(p+\varepsilon)}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| D^m f\left(x \right) \left(t\sigma, \cdots, t\sigma \right) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \\ & \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}B_R} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \triangle^{(m)}(x, x+t\sigma) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma. \end{split}$$

As a consequence, we get

$$\frac{1}{m^{mp+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}B_R} \int |D^m f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^p \, dx d\sigma \le \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \triangle^{(m)}(x, y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x - y|^{N+mp}} dx dy.$$

Hence, we can conclude that $f \in W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and

$$\frac{1}{m^{mp+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} \int |D^m f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma \le \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \Delta^{(m)}(x, y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy.$$

Proof of Theorem 5.1:

(1) and (2) are consequences of Lemma 5.5 and Lemma 5.6.

Now we will prove (3). By (1), we get

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ m^m f(x,y) | > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p dx, \ \forall \delta > 0.$$
(5.6)

 $|\triangle_m^m f(x,y)| > \delta$ As a consequence, by Fatou's lemma,

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ \Delta^m f(x,y)| > 1}} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p dx.$$
(5.7)

Now, from (5.6), one has

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{|x-y|^{N+mp}} \frac{\varepsilon \delta^{p+\varepsilon-1}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy d\delta \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla^{m} f|^{p} dx$$
$$\Delta^{m} f(x,y)| > \delta$$

 $|\triangle^m f(x,y)|$ Using Lemma 2.1, we deduce

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |\Delta^m f(x,y)| \le 1}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \Delta^m f(x,y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy + \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |\Delta^m f(x,y)| > 1}} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p dx. \quad (5.8)$$

From (5.7) and (5.8), we get the assertion (3).

Now, set

$$H\left(\delta\right)= \int\limits_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}\\ |\triangle^{m}f(x,y)|>\delta}} \frac{\delta^{p}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy.$$

So be previous results, we have

$$H(\delta) \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p \, dx, \ \forall \delta > 0$$

and

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} H\left(\delta\right) = \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} \int \left|D^m f\left(x\right)\left(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma\right)\right|^p dx d\sigma.$$

Now, we claim that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} H(\delta) d\delta = \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} |D^m f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma.$$
(5.9)

Indeed, for every $\epsilon > 0$, we can find a number $X(\epsilon) \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$\left| H\left(\delta\right) - \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} \int |D^m f\left(x\right)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^p \, dx d\sigma \right| < \epsilon \text{ for all } \delta \in (0, X\left(\epsilon\right)).$$
ave:

Now, we have:

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{X(\epsilon)}^{1} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left[H\left(\delta \right) - \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \left| D^{m}f\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma \right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \\ &\leq \int_{X(\epsilon)}^{1} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left| H\left(\delta \right) - \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \left| D^{m}f\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma \right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right| d\delta \\ &\leq \int_{X(\epsilon)}^{1} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon X\left(\epsilon \right)^{\varepsilon - 1} \left[C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla^{m}f|^{p} dx \right] d\delta \end{split}$$

$$= 0.$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{0}^{X(\epsilon)} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[H\left(\delta\right) - \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| D^{m}f\left(x\right)\left(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma\right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\epsilon)} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left| H\left(\delta\right) - \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| D^{m}f\left(x\right)\left(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma\right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right| d\delta \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\epsilon)} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \epsilon d\delta \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \epsilon d\delta \\ &= p\epsilon. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{0}^{1} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left[H\left(\delta \right) - \frac{1}{m^{mp+1} p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \left| D^{m} f\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma \right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \le p\epsilon, \ \forall \epsilon > 0.$$
ence we can get

He g

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} H(\delta) \, d\delta = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[\frac{1}{m^{mp+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int |D^{m} f(x) (\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} \, dx d\sigma \right] d\delta$$
$$= \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{m} f(x) (\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} \, dx d\sigma.$$

Consequently, we have $_{1}^{1}$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N} \\ |\Delta^{m}f(x,y)| > \delta}} \frac{(p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{p+\varepsilon-1}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy d\delta = \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{m}f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma.$$

Now, using Lemma 2.1 with $\alpha = p + \varepsilon - 1$, $\Phi(x, y) = |\triangle^m f(x, y)|$, $\Psi(x, y) = \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+mp}}$, we

obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\iint_{|\triangle^m f(x,y)| \le 1} \frac{\varepsilon \left| \triangle^m f(x,y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy + \iint_{|\triangle^m f(x,y)| > 1} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}} \iint_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} |D^m f(x) (\sigma, \dots, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma.$$

Noting that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{|\triangle^m f(x,y)| > 1} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = 0,$$

we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{|\triangle^m f(x,y)| \le 1} \frac{\varepsilon \, |\triangle^m f(x,y)|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = \frac{1}{m^{mp+1}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} |D^m f(x) \, (\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^p \, dx d\sigma.$$

We have (4)

Proof of Theorem 5.3:

First, it is clear that statements $(1) \Longrightarrow (2)$ and $(1) \Longrightarrow (3)$ are consequences of Theorem 5.1.

Now, we will prove $(3) \Longrightarrow (1)$: Let η_{ε} be any sequence of smooth mollifiers and set

$$f^{\varepsilon} = f * \eta_{\varepsilon}$$

Then we can get $f^{\varepsilon} \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \cap C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \subseteq W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^{N}).$

Using the (4) of the Theorem 5.1, we can have

$$C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{m} f^{\varepsilon}(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma$$

$$\leq \sup_{0 < \gamma < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |\Delta^{(m)} f^{\varepsilon}(x, y)|^{p+\gamma}}{|x - y|^{N+mp}} dx dy$$

$$= \sup_{0 < \gamma < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \{\Delta^{(m)} f(x - z, y - z)\} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z) dz|^{p+\gamma}}{|x - y|^{N+mp}} dx dy$$

Since the function $x^{p+\varepsilon}$ is convex on $[0,\infty)$, by Jensen's inequality, we can deduce

$$\begin{split} \sup_{0<\gamma<1} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \{\Delta^{(m)} f(x-z,y-z)\} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z) dz|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \\ \leq & \sup_{0<\gamma<1} \int_{|\Delta^{(m)} f^{\varepsilon}(x,y)| \le 1} \frac{\gamma |\Delta^{(m)} f(x-z,y-z)|^{p+\gamma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z) dz}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \\ = & \sup_{0<\gamma<1} \int_{|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \{\Delta^{(m)} f(x,y)\} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z) dz| \le 1} \int_{|x-y|^{N+mp}} \frac{\gamma |\Delta^{(m)} f(x,y)|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \end{split}$$

The last step comes from changing variable and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z) dz = 1.$ Since

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \{\Delta^{(m)} f(x, y)\} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z) dz\right| = \left|\Delta^{(m)} f(x, y)\right|$$

Thus,

$$C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{m} f^{\varepsilon}(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma$$

$$\leq \sup_{0 < \gamma < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |\Delta^{m} f(x,y)|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy$$

$$= \sup_{0 < \gamma < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |\Delta^{m} f(x,y)|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy$$

$$\leq \infty from(3)$$

So $\|f^{\varepsilon}\|_{W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)}$ is bounded. Then there exists a subsequence of f^{ε} , denoted as f^{ε} , such that

$$f^{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup g \text{ in } W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

On the other hand, from the property of mollifier, we know

$$f^{\varepsilon} \to f$$
 a.e.

From the uniqueness of the limit, we get f = g a.e. in $W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. That is, $f \in W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. \Box

5.3 Characterization Using (m-1)th-Taylor Remainder

In this section, we will investigate the characterizations of high order Sobolev spaces $W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ in terms of the Taylor-remainder of order m-1.

Lemma 5.8. There exists a constant $C_{N,m,p} > 0$ such that for all $\delta > 0$, all $f \in W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \le C_{N,m,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p \, dx.$$
(5.10)

Proof. Again, using the polar coordinates, we get

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = \int_{\substack{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N \\ |R^{m-1}f(x+h\sigma,x)| > \delta}} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{m-1}f(x+h\sigma,x)| > \delta}}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^p}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx d\sigma$$

Thus, again, to prove (5.10), it's enough to prove that for every $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla^{m} f|^{p} dx.$$

$$|R^{m-1}f(x+h\sigma,x)| > \delta$$
(5.11)

Because of the rotation, we assume without loss of generality that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$. We claim for any $k \ge 3$,

$$R^{k-1}f(x+he_N,x) = h^k \int_0^1 \frac{\partial^k f}{\partial x_N^k} (x', x_N + s_k s_{k-1} s_{k-2} \cdots s_1 h) s_1^{k-1} s_2^{k-2} \cdots s_{k-2}^2 s_{k-1} ds_k ds_{k-1} \cdots ds_2 ds_1$$

We first check the claim holds for k = 3. Now, by the mean value theorem, one has

$$\begin{split} R^2 f(x+he_N,x) &= f(x+he_N) - f(x) - h\nabla f(x)e_N - \frac{h^2}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_N^2}(x) \\ &= \int_0^1 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N} \left(x', x_N + sh\right) h ds - h \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}(x) - \frac{h^2}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_N^2}(x) \\ &= h \int_0^1 \left[\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N} \left(x', x_N + sh\right) h ds - \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_N}(x', x_N) \right] ds - \frac{h^2}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_N^2}(x) \\ &= h \int_0^1 \int_{x_N}^{x_N + sh} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_N^2} \left(x', t\right) dt ds - \frac{h^2}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_N^2}(x) \\ &= h^2 \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_N^2} \left(x', x_N + tsh\right) s dt ds - h^2 \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_N^2}(x', x_N) s dt ds \\ &= h^2 \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \int_{x_N}^{x_N + tsh} \frac{\partial^3 f}{\partial x_N^3}(x', \tau) d\tau s dt ds \\ &= h^3 \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \frac{\partial^3 f}{\partial x_N^3}(x', x_N + \tau sth) s t d\tau s dt ds. \end{split}$$

By induction, assume it holds for k = m - 1. We want to prove it holds for k = m. Indeed,

$$\begin{split} R^{m-1}f(x+he_N,x) &= R^{m-2}f(x+he_N,x) - \frac{h^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} \frac{\partial^{m-1}f}{\partial x_N^{m-1}}(x) \\ &= h^{m-1} \int_0^1 \cdots \int_0^1 \frac{\partial^{m-1}f}{\partial x_N^{m-1}}(x',x_N+s_{m-1}s_{m-2}\cdots s_1h) \\ s_1^{m-2}s_2^{m-3}\cdots s_{m-3}^2s_{m-2}ds_{m-1}\cdots ds_1 - \frac{h^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} \frac{\partial^{m-1}f}{\partial x_N^{m-1}}(x) \\ &= h^{m-1} \int_0^1 \cdots \int_0^1 \frac{\partial^{m-1}f}{\partial x_N^{m-1}}(x',x_N+s_{m-1}s_{m-2}\cdots s_1h) \\ s_1^{m-2}s_2^{m-3}\cdots s_{m-3}^2s_{m-2}ds_{m-1}\cdots ds_1 \\ &- h^{m-1} \int_0^1 \cdots \int_0^1 \frac{\partial^{m-1}f}{\partial x_N^{m-1}}(x',x_N)s_1^{m-2}s_2^{m-3}\cdots s_{m-3}^2s_{m-2}ds_{m-1}\cdots ds_1 \\ &= h^{m-1} \int_0^1 \cdots \int_0^1 \{\frac{\partial^{m-1}f}{\partial x_N^{m-1}}(x',x_N+s_{m-1}s_{m-2}\cdots s_1h) - \frac{\partial^{m-1}f}{\partial x_N^{m-1}}(x',x_N)\} \\ s_1^{m-2}s_2^{m-3}\cdots s_{m-3}^2s_{m-2}ds_{m-1}\cdots ds_1 \\ &= h^m \int_0^1 \cdots \int_0^1 \int_{x_N}^{x_N+s_ms_{m-1}\cdots s_1h} \frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m}(x',s_m)ds_m \\ s_1^{m-2}s_2^{m-3}\cdots s_{m-3}^2s_{m-2}ds_{m-1}\cdots ds_1 \\ &= h^m \int_0^1 \cdots \int_0^1 \frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m}(x',x_N+s_ms_{m-1}\cdots s_1) \\ s_1^{m-1}s_2^{m-2}\cdots s_{m-2}^2s_{m-1}ds_m\cdots ds_1 \end{split}$$

Thus

$$\begin{aligned} |R^{m-1}f(x+he_N,x)| &\leq h^m \int_0^1 \cdots \int_0^1 M_N(\frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m})(x) s_1^{m-1} s_2^{m-2} \cdots s_{m-2}^2 s_{m-1} ds_m \cdots ds_1 \\ &= \frac{1}{m!} h^m M_N(\frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m})(x). \end{aligned}$$

Now we can prove 5.11

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx \\ \frac{1}{m!} h^{m} M_{N} \left(\frac{\partial^{m} f}{\partial x_{N}^{m}}\right)(x) > \delta \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\left(\frac{\delta m!}{M_{N} \left(\frac{\partial m}{\partial x_{N}^{m}}\right)(x)}\right)}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \frac{\delta^{p}}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx \\ &= \frac{1}{(m!)^{p} m p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| M_{N} \left(\frac{\partial^{m} f}{\partial x_{N}^{m}}\right)(x) \right|^{p} dx \\ &\leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| \frac{\partial^{m} f}{\partial x_{N}^{m}}(x) \right|^{p} dx \\ &\leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla^{m} f|^{p} dx. \end{split}$$

Lemma 5.9. There holds

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = \frac{1}{(m!)^p mp} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} |D^m f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma$$
for all $f \in W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N), m \ge 3, \ 1$

Proof. Again, by changing of variables and set $y = x + \sqrt[m]{\delta}h\sigma$ we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx d\sigma.$$
$$|R^{(m-1)}f(x,y)| > \delta \qquad \left| \frac{R^{(m-1)}f(x,x+\frac{m}{\delta}h\sigma)}{h^{m\delta}} \right| h^m > 1$$

Define $F_{\delta}: \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$F_{\delta}(\sigma) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx.$$
$$\left| \frac{R^{m-1}f(x,x+\frac{m}{\delta}h\sigma)}{h^{m}\delta} \right| h^{m} > 1$$

We first prove that for all $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}, \ \forall \delta > 0$:

$$F_{\delta}(\sigma) \le C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p \, dx.$$
(5.12)

Indeed, again, without loss of generality, we assume that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$. Hence, we need

to verify that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx \leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla^{m} f|^{p} dx.$$

$$\frac{R^{m-1}f(x,x+\frac{m}{\delta}he_{N})}{h^{m\delta}} \Big| h^{m} > 1$$
(5.13)

Similarly as in the Lemma 5.6, we have

$$\left|\frac{R^{m-1}f(x,x+\sqrt[m]{\delta}he_N)}{h^m\delta}\right| \leq \frac{1}{m!}M_N\left(\frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m}\right)(x)\,.$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} dh dx \\ \frac{R^{m-1}f(x,x+\sqrt{m}\sqrt{\delta}he_N)}{h^{m}\delta} \Big| h^m > 1 \qquad h^m M_N \Big(\frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m} \Big)(x) > m! \\ &\leq C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p \, dx. \end{split}$$

Next, we will show that

$$F_{\delta}(\sigma) \to \frac{1}{(m!)^{p}mp} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{m}f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} dx \text{ as } \delta \to 0 \text{ for every } \sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$$
(5.14)

where

$$|D^m f(x)(\sigma, \dots, \sigma)| = \sum_{1 \le i_1, \dots, i_m \le N} \sigma_{i_1} \cdots \sigma_{i_m} \frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_{i_1} \cdots \partial x_{i_m}} (x).$$

Again, without loss of generality, we suppose that $\sigma = e_N = (0, ..., 0, 1)$. We write

1

$$F_{\delta}(\sigma) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{0}^{\infty} G_{\delta}(x, h) \, dh dx$$

where

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) = \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} \chi_{\left\{ \left| \frac{R^{m-1}f(x,x+\frac{m}{\sqrt{\delta}he_N})}{h^{m_{\delta}}} \right| h^m > 1 \right\}} (x,h).$$

Noting that for all $\sigma \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$:

$$G_{\delta}\left(x,h\right) \to \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}}\chi_{\left\{|D^{m}f(x)(\sigma,\cdots,\sigma)|h^{m}>m!\right\}}\left(x,h\right) \text{ as } \delta \to 0 \text{ for a.e. } (x,h) \in \mathbb{R}^{N} \times [0,\infty) \ ,$$

and

$$G_{\delta}(x,h) \leq \frac{1}{h^{mp+1}} \chi_{\left\{h^m M_N\left(\frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_N^m}\right)(x) > m!\right\}}(x,h) \in L^1\left(\mathbb{R}^N \times [0,\infty)\right).$$

Hence, by the Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, we get (5.14).

Using (5.12) and (5.14), again, using the Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, we can

conclude that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = \frac{1}{(m!)^p mp} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{S}^N} |D^m f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma.$$

Lemma 5.10. Assume that $f \in W^{m-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ satisfying

$$C\left(f\right) := \sup_{0 < \varepsilon < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| R^{m-1} f(x, y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{\left| x - y \right|^{N+mp}} dx dy < \infty.$$

Then $f \in W^{m,p}\left(\mathbb{R}^N\right)$ and

$$\frac{1}{(m!)^p m} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int |D^m f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^p \, dx d\sigma \le \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left| R^{m-1} f(x, y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x - y|^{N+mp}} dx dy.$$

Proof. From the assumptions, and set $y = x + t\sigma$ we have

$$\sup_{0<\varepsilon<1} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}B_R} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\varepsilon \left| R^{m-1}f(x,x+t\sigma) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma \le C\left(f\right).$$

By Taylor expansion, since $f \in \overset{\cdot}{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \cap C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$, we can have that

$$\frac{1}{m!} \left| D^m f(x) \left(t\sigma, \cdots, t\sigma \right) \right| \le \left| R^{m-1} f(x, x + t\sigma) \right| + Ct^{m+1}$$

for all $(\sigma, x, t) \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \times B_R \times (0, 1)$. Also, since

$$\left|R^{m-1}f(x,x+t\sigma)\right| \le Ct^m \text{ for all } (\sigma,x,t) \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \times B_R \times (0,1),$$

we have

$$\frac{1}{(m!)^{(p+\varepsilon)}} \left| D^m f(x) \left(t\sigma, \cdots, t\sigma \right) \right|^{p+\varepsilon} \leq \left[\left| R^{m-1} f(x, x+t\sigma) \right| + Ct^{m+1} \right]^{p+\varepsilon} \\ \leq \left| R^{m-1} f(x, x+t\sigma) \right|^{p+\varepsilon} + Ct^{mp+\varepsilon+1},$$

for all $(\sigma, x, t) \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1} \times B_R \times (0, 1)$.

Now, noting that

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}B_R} \iint_{0}^{1} \frac{\varepsilon t^{mp+\varepsilon+1}}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma = 0,$$

we can deduce

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}B_R} \iint_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{(m!)^{p+\varepsilon}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| D^m f\left(x\right) \left(t\sigma, \cdots, t\sigma\right) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma$$
$$\leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}B_R} \iint_{0}^{1} \frac{\varepsilon \left| R^{m-1} f\left(x, x+t\sigma\right) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{t^{mp+1}} dt dx d\sigma.$$

As a consequence, we get

$$\frac{1}{(m!)^p m} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}B_R} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}B_R} |D^m f(x)(\sigma,\cdots,\sigma)|^p dx d\sigma \le \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\varepsilon \left|R^{m-1}f(x,y)\right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy.$$

Hence, we can conclude that $f \in W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and

$$\frac{1}{(m!)^{p}m} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int |D^{m}f(x)(\sigma,\cdots,\sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\varepsilon \left|R^{m-1}f(x,y)\right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy.$$

Proof of Theorem 5.2:

(1) and (2) are consequences of Lemma 5.8 and Lemma 5.9.

Now we will prove (3). By (1), we get

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N\\n^{-1}f(x,y) > \delta}} \frac{\delta^p}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \le C_{N,m,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p dx, \ \forall \delta > 0.$$
(5.15)

 $|R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > \delta$ As a consequence, by Fatou's lemma,

$$\int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > 1}} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \le C_{N,m,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p dx.$$
(5.16)

Now, from (5.15), one has

$$\int_{\substack{0 \ \mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ m^{-1}f(x,y)| > \delta}}^{1} \int_{\substack{0 \ \mathbb{R}^N \mathbb{R}^N \\ |x-y|^{N+mp}}} dx dy d\delta \le C_{N,m,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p dx$$

 $|R^{m-1}f(x,y)|$ Using Lemma 2.1, we deduce

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\substack{|x-y|^{N+mp} \\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)| \le 1}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| R^{m-1}f(x,y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy + \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N} \\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > 1}} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \le C_{N,m,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla^{m}f|^{p} dx.$$
(5.17)

From (5.16) and (5.17), we get the assertion (3).

Now, set

$$H\left(\delta\right)= \int\limits_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N}\mathbb{R}^{N}\\|R^{m-1}f(x,y)|>\delta}} \frac{\delta^{p}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy.$$

So be previous results, we have

$$H(\delta) \le C_{N,m,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla^m f|^p \, dx, \ \forall \delta > 0$$

and

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} H\left(\delta\right) = \frac{1}{(m!)^p m p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int \left| D^m f\left(x\right) \left(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma\right) \right|^p dx d\sigma.$$

Now, we claim that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} H(\delta) \, d\delta = \frac{1}{(m!)^p m} \int_{\sigma} \int_{\sigma} \int_{\sigma} |D^m f(x) (\sigma, \dots, \sigma)|^p \, dx d\sigma.$$
(5.18)

Indeed, for every $\epsilon > 0$, we can find a number $X(\epsilon) \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$\left| H\left(\delta\right) - \frac{1}{(m!)^p m p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^N} \int \left| D^m f\left(x\right) \left(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma\right) \right|^p dx d\sigma \right| < \epsilon \text{ for all } \delta \in (0, X\left(\epsilon\right)).$$

Now, we have:

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{X(\epsilon)}^{1} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left[H\left(\delta \right) - \frac{1}{(m!)^{p} m p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| D^{m} f\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma \right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \\ &\leq \int_{X(\epsilon)}^{1} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left| H\left(\delta \right) - \frac{1}{(m!)^{p} m p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \left| D^{m} f\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma \right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right| d\delta \\ &\leq \int_{X(\epsilon)}^{1} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon X\left(\epsilon \right)^{\varepsilon - 1} \left[C_{N, p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla^{m} f|^{p} dx \right] d\delta \end{split}$$

$$= 0.$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{0}^{X(\epsilon)} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[H\left(\delta\right) - \frac{1}{(m!)^{p} m p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int |D^{m} f\left(x\right) (\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\epsilon)} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left| H\left(\delta\right) - \frac{1}{(m!)^{p} m p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{m} f\left(x\right) (\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma \right| d\delta \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{X(\epsilon)} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \epsilon d\delta \\ &\leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \epsilon d\delta \\ &= p\epsilon. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{0}^{1} \left(p + \varepsilon \right) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon - 1} \left[H\left(\delta \right) - \frac{1}{(m!)^{p} m p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int \left| D^{m} f\left(x \right) \left(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma \right) \right|^{p} dx d\sigma \right] d\delta \right| \le p\epsilon, \ \forall \epsilon > 0.$$
ence we can get

He ge

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} H(\delta) \, d\delta = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} (p+\varepsilon) \varepsilon \delta^{\varepsilon-1} \left[\frac{1}{m^{mp+1}p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int |D^{m}f(x)(\sigma,\cdots,\sigma)|^{p} \, dxd\sigma \right] d\delta$$
$$= \frac{1}{(m!)^{p}m} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int |D^{m}f(x)(\sigma,\cdots,\sigma)|^{p} \, dxd\sigma.$$

Consequently, we have $\frac{1}{2}$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\substack{\mathbb{R}^{N} \mathbb{R}^{N} \\ |R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > \delta}} \frac{(p+\varepsilon)\varepsilon\delta^{p+\varepsilon-1}}{|x-y|^{N+2p}} dx dy d\delta = \frac{1}{(m!)^{p}m} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1} \mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{m}f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma.$$

Now, using Lemma 2.1 with $\alpha = p + \varepsilon - 1$, $\Phi(x, y) = \left| R^{m-1} f(x, y) \right|$, $\Psi(x, y) = \frac{1}{|x-y|^{N+mp}}$, we

obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\iint_{|R^{m-1}f(x,y)| \le 1} \frac{\varepsilon \left| R^{m-1}f(x,y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy + \iint_{|R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > 1} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy \right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{(m!)^p m} \iint_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} |D^m f(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^p dx d\sigma.$$

Noting that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{|R^{m-1}f(x,y)| > 1} \frac{\varepsilon}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = 0,$$

we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\substack{|R^{m-1}f(x,y)| \le 1}} \frac{\varepsilon \left| R^{m-1}f(x,y) \right|^{p+\varepsilon}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy = \frac{1}{(m!)^p m} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}\mathbb{R}^N} |D^m f(x)(\sigma,\cdots,\sigma)|^p dx d\sigma$$

ave the statement (4). \Box

We ha (4)

Proof of Theorem 5.4:

First, it is clear that statements $(1) \Longrightarrow (2)$ and $(1) \Longrightarrow (3)$ are consequences of Theorem 5.2.

Now, we will prove $(3) \Longrightarrow (1)$: Let η_{ε} be any sequence of smooth mollifiers and set

$$f^{\varepsilon} = f * \eta_{\varepsilon}$$

Then we can get $f^{\varepsilon} \in W^{m-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N) \subseteq W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N).$

Using the (4) of the Theorem 3.1, we can have

$$C_{N,m,p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{m} f^{\varepsilon}(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma$$

$$\leq \sup_{0 < \gamma < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |R^{m-1} f^{\varepsilon}(x,y)|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy$$

$$= \sup_{0 < \gamma < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \{R^{m-1} f(x-z,y-z)\} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z) dz|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy$$

Since the function $x^{p+\varepsilon}$ is convex on $[0,\infty)$, by Jensen's inequality, we can deduce

$$\begin{split} \sup_{0<\gamma<1} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\gamma |\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \{R^{m-1}f(x-z,y-z)\} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z)dz|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dxdy \\ & \leq \sup_{0<\gamma<1} \int_{|R^{m-1}f^{\varepsilon}(x,y)|\leq 1} \frac{\gamma |R^{m-1}f(x-z,y-z)|^{p+\gamma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z)dz}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dxdy \\ & = \sup_{0<\gamma<1} \int_{|\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \{R^{m-1}f^{\varepsilon}(x,y)\} \eta^{\varepsilon}(z)dz|\leq 1} \frac{\gamma |R^{m-1}f(x,y)|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dxdy \end{split}$$

The last step comes from changing variable and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N}\eta^{\varepsilon}(z)dz=1.$ Since

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \{R^{m-1}f(x,y)\}\eta^{\varepsilon}(z)dz\right| = \left|R^{m-1}f(x,y)\right|$$

Thus,

$$C_{N,p} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |D^{m} f^{\varepsilon}(x)(\sigma, \cdots, \sigma)|^{p} dx d\sigma$$

$$\leq \sup_{0 < \gamma < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |R^{m-1} f(x,y)|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy$$

$$= \sup_{0 < \gamma < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\gamma |R^{m-1} f(x,y)|^{p+\gamma}}{|x-y|^{N+mp}} dx dy$$

$$< \infty \text{ from (3)}$$

So $\|f^{\varepsilon}\|_{W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)}$ is bounded. Then there exists a subsequence of f^{ε} , denoted as f^{ε} , such that

$$f^{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup g \text{ in } W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

On the other hand, from the property of mollifiers, we know

 $f^{\varepsilon} \to f$ a.e.

From the uniqueness of the limit, we get f = g a.e. in $W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. That is $, f \in W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. \Box

CHAPTER 6 L^P -DIFFERENTIABILITY OF THE FUNCTIONS IN SOBOLEV SPACE ON HEISENBERG GROUPS

6.1 main results

Throughout this chapter, Ω will denote an open set of $\mathbb{H} = (\mathbb{C}^N \times \mathbb{R}, \circ, \delta_\lambda)$ whose points we denote by (z, t) with $z \in \mathbb{R}$ and $z = (z_1, ..., z_N) \in \mathbb{C}^N$.

The main theorems we want to study in this chapter are

Theorem 6.1. Let $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$. Then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq}}{|h|^{pq}} dh)^{\frac{1}{q}} = 0$$

where $1 \leq q \leq \frac{Q}{Q-p}$ if $1 \leq p < Q$, $1 \leq q < \infty$ if p = Q, and $1 \leq q < \infty$ if p > Q. Here, $e = (0, ..., 0) \in \mathbb{H}$ and $h = (h', h_{2N+1}) \in \mathbb{H}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the inner product on \mathbb{R}^{2N} .

Theorem 6.2. Let $1 and suppose <math>f \in L^p(\mathbb{H})$. Then the following are equivalent:

(1) $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$.

(2) there exists a $v \in L^p(\mathbb{H}; \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \left(\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle v(x), h' \rangle|^{pq}}{|h|^{pq}} dh \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} = 0$$

where $1 \le q \le \frac{Q}{Q-p}$ if $1 \le p < Q$, $1 \le q < \infty$ if p = Q, and $1 \le q < \infty$ if p > Q. Here, $e = (0, ..., 0) \in \mathbb{H}$ and $h = (h', h_{2N+1}) \in \mathbb{H}$.

6.2 Some Useful Lemmas

In order to prove the above two theorems, we will study the following useful lemma:

Lemma 6.3. Suppose $f \in W_0^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$ for some $1 \le p < \infty$, and that $1 \le q \le \frac{Q}{Q-p}$ if $1 \le p < Q$, $1 \le q < \infty$ if p = Q and $1 \le q \le \infty$ if p > Q. Then there exists a positive C = C(p, q, Q) such that for all 0 < r < 1

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{r^{Q+pq}} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq} dh \\ &\leq C(\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ h) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p})^{q} \\ &+ C(\int_{0}^{1} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dz ds)^{q} \end{split}$$

Proof. Since $f \in W_0^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$, then we can first assume that $f \in C_0^1(\mathbb{H})$. Then we have for a.e. $x \in \mathbb{H}$,

$$1)\lim_{r \to 0} \oint_{B(x,r)} |f(y) - f(x)|^p dy = 0$$
$$2)\lim_{r \to 0} \oint_{B(x,r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(y) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dy = 0$$

Fix such a point x. Select $\varphi \in C_0^1(B(\mathbf{e}, r))$ with $\|\varphi\|_{L^{p'}(B(\mathbf{e}, r))}$ with $1/p + 1/p' = 1, 1 \le p < \infty$. We

calculate

$$\begin{split} & \oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} \varphi(h)(f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle) dh \\ &= \int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} \varphi(h)(\int_{0}^{1} \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ \delta_{s}(h)), h' \rangle ds - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle) dh \\ &= \int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} \varphi(h)(\int_{0}^{1} \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ \delta_{s}(h)) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle ds) dh \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} \varphi(h) \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ \delta_{s}(h)) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle dh ds \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{s} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} \varphi(\delta_{s^{-1}}(z)) \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), z' \rangle dz ds \end{split}$$

The last step above comes from changing variable: $z = \delta_s(h)$, and we can get $z \in B(\mathbf{e}, sr)$, sh' = z',

 $dz=s^Q dh$ and $|B({\bf e},sr)|=s^Q|B({\bf e},r)|.$ Using hölder's inequality, we have

$$\begin{split} & \int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} \varphi(h)(f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle) dh \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{s} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} \varphi(\delta_{s^{-1}}(z)) \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x\circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), z' \rangle dz ds \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{s} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} |\varphi(\delta_{s^{-1}}(z))| |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x\circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)| |z| dz ds \\ &\leq r \int_{0}^{1} (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} |\varphi(\delta_{s^{-1}}(z))|^{p'} dz)^{\frac{1}{p'}} (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x\circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dz)^{\frac{1}{p}} ds \end{split}$$

Since

$$f_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} \left| \varphi(\delta_{s^{-1}}(z)) \right|^{p'} dz = f_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} \left| \varphi(y) \right|^{p'} dy$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} \varphi(h)(f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle) dh \leq \\ & r(f_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\varphi(y)|^{p'} dy)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \int_{0}^{1} f_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x\circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dz)^{\frac{1}{p}} ds \end{split}$$

Taking the supremum over all φ as above gives there exists a φ such that

$$\begin{split} & \oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} \varphi(h)(f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle) dh \\ &= (\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^p dh)^{\frac{1}{p}} (\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\varphi(y)|^{p'} dy)^{\frac{1}{p'}}. \end{split}$$

Then we have

$$(f_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} | f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle |^{p} dh)^{\frac{1}{p}} (f_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} | \varphi(y) |^{p'} dy)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \leq r (f_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} | \varphi(y) |^{p'} dy)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \int_{0}^{1} f_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} | \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x) |^{p} dz)^{\frac{1}{p}} ds.$$

That is, for any $1 \leq p < \infty$, we have

$$\left(f_{B(\mathbf{e},r)}\left|f(x\circ h)-f(x)-\langle\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x),h'\rangle\right|^{p}dh\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq r\int_{0}^{1}f_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)}\left|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x\circ z)-\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x)\right|^{p}dz\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}ds$$

Firstly, we consider the case $1 \le q \le \frac{Q}{Q-p}$ and $1 \le p < Q$.

Now we have the claim: There exists a constant ${\cal C}={\cal C}(Q,p)$ such that

$$(f_{B(x,r)} |g|^{\frac{Q_p}{Q-p}} dy)^{\frac{Q-p}{Q_p}} \le Cr(f_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}g|^p dh)^{\frac{1}{p}} + C(f_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |g|^p dh)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

for all $g \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$.

Apply the claim to $g(h) = f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle$, we can get

$$\begin{aligned} (\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{\frac{Q_p}{Q_{-p}}} dh)^{\frac{Q_{-p}}{Q_p}} \\ &\leq Cr(\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dz)^{1/p} \\ &+ C(\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^p dh)^{\frac{1}{p}} \end{aligned}$$

Now we prove the claim by using Poincare's inequality and embedding theorem: Since we have known

$$||g||_{L^{pq}(B(\mathbf{e},r))} \le C ||g||_{L^{p^*}(B(\mathbf{e},r))}$$
 with $1 \le p \le \frac{Q}{Q-p}$ and $p^* = \frac{Qp}{Q-p}$

and

$$(f_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} | g - g_{B(\mathbf{e},r)dh} |^{p^*})^{\frac{1}{p^*}} \le Cr(f_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} | \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} g |^p dh)^{\frac{1}{p}} \text{ with } g_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} = f_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} g dh$$

Then we have

$$\begin{split} (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |g|^{p^{*}} dh)^{\frac{1}{p^{*}}} \\ &\leq (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} (|g - g_{B(\mathbf{e},r)dh}| + |g_{B(\mathbf{e},r)}|)^{p^{*}} dh)^{\frac{1}{p^{*}}} \\ &\leq C (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |g - g_{B(\mathbf{e},r)}|^{p^{*}} + |g_{B(\mathbf{e},r)}|^{p^{*}} dh)^{\frac{1}{p^{*}}} \\ &= C (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |g - g_{B(\mathbf{e},r)dh}|^{p^{*}})^{\frac{1}{p^{*}}} + |\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} g dh| \\ &\leq Cr (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}g|^{p} dh)^{\frac{1}{p}} + C (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |g|^{p} dh)^{\frac{1}{p}} \end{split}$$

which completes the claim.

Finally, we have

$$\begin{split} (\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x), h' \rangle|^{\frac{Qp}{Q-p}} dh)^{\frac{Q-p}{Qp}} \\ &\leq Cr(\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x\circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x)|^{p} dz)^{1/p} \\ &+ C(\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x), h' \rangle|^{p} dh)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq Cr(\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x\circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x)|^{p} dz)^{1/p} \\ &+ Cr\int_{0}^{1} \oint_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x\circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x)|^{p} dz)^{\frac{1}{p}} ds \\ &\leq Cr(\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x\circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x)|^{p} dz)^{1/p} \\ &+ Cr(\int_{0}^{1} \oint_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x\circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x)|^{p} dzds)^{\frac{1}{p}} \end{split}$$

Since we have

$$||g||_{L^{pq}(B(\mathbf{e},r))} \le C ||g||_{L^{p^*}(B(\mathbf{e},r))}$$
 with $1 \le p \le \frac{Q}{Q-p}$ and $p^* = \frac{Qp}{Q-p}$

 So

$$\begin{split} &(\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq} dh)^{\frac{1}{pq}} \\ &\leq C(\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{\frac{Qp}{Q-p}} dh)^{\frac{Q-p}{Qp}} \\ &\leq Cr(\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dz)^{1/p} \\ &+ Cr(\int_{0}^{1} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dz ds)^{\frac{1}{p}} \end{split}$$

Take the power pq to both sides of the inequality above

$$\begin{split} & \oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq} dh \\ & \leq Cr^{pq} (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dz)^{q} \\ & + Cr^{pq} (\int_{0}^{1} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},sr)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dz ds)^{q} \end{split}$$

Divide r^{pq} to both sides of the above inequality and rewrite the left side, than we are done for the first case.

Secondly, we consider the case 1 $\leq q < \infty$ and p = Q.

For any $Q \leq pq < \infty$, we can find a $\tilde{p} = Q - \varepsilon$ with a small ε such that $\tilde{p}^* = pq$, then use the similar method for the first case, we can get the same conclusion.

Finally, we consider the case $1 \le q \le \infty$ and p > Q by using the Morrey's estimate [29]

Since for a.e $x \in \mathbb{H}$, we have

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \oint_{B(x,r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(y) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dy = 0$$

Choose such a point x, and write

$$g(h) = f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle$$

for $h \in B(\mathbf{e}, r)$.

Employing Morrey's estimate, we deduce

$$|g(h) - g(\mathbf{e})| \le Cr(\oint_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}g(h)|^p dh)^{1/p}$$

Since $g(\mathbf{e}) = 0$, and $\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} g(h) = \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ h) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)$, we have

$$\begin{split} & \int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq} dh \\ &= \int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |g(h)|^{pq} dh \\ &\leq C \int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} r^{pq} (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dz)^{q} dh \\ &= C r^{pq} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dz)^{q} \end{split}$$

Thus

$$\frac{1}{r^{Q+pq}} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq} dh$$
$$\leq C(\int_{B(\mathbf{e},r)} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ h) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p})^{q}$$

Then we are done with all three cases. \Box

Lemma 6.4. Suppose $\rho_z \in L^1(\mathbb{H})$ and $1 \leq p < \infty$. Then the operator $\mathfrak{G}_{\rho} : W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H}) \to L^p(\mathbb{H}; \mathbb{R}^{2N})$

is a bounded operator with the estimate

$$||\mathfrak{G}_{\rho}f||_{L^{p}} \leq C||\rho||_{L^{1}}||\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f||_{L^{p}}$$

for all $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$. Similarly $\mathfrak{G}_{\rho}: BV(\mathbb{H}) \to L^1(\mathbb{H}; \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ with the estimate

$$||\mathfrak{G}_{\rho}f||_{L^{p}} \leq C||\rho||_{L^{1}}||D_{H}f||_{L^{p}}$$

for all $f \in BV(\mathbb{H})$. Here, C = C(p,Q) > 0, $\mathfrak{G}_{\rho}f(x) = Q \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{f(x) - f(y)}{|x^{-1} \circ y|} \frac{(x^{-1} \circ y)'}{|x^{-1} \circ y|} \rho_i(x^{-1} \circ y) dy$.

Proof. Applying Hölder's inequality we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{H}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x^{-1} \circ y|} \rho(x^{-1} \circ y) dy \right)^{p} dx \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{H}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^{p}}{|x^{-1} \circ y|^{p}} \rho(x^{-1} \circ y) dy \right] \left[\int_{\mathbb{H}} \rho(x^{-1} \circ y) dy \right]^{p-1} dx \\ &||\rho||_{L^{1}}^{p-1} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^{p}}{|x^{-1} \circ y|^{p}} \rho(x^{-1} \circ y) dy dx \end{split}$$

Since we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x^{-1} \circ y|^p} \rho(x^{-1} \circ y) dy dx \le C(p, Q) ||\rho||_{L^1} ||\nabla_H f||_{L^p}^p$$

The we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} |\mathfrak{G}_{\rho}f(x)|^{p} dx \leq Q^{p} \int_{\mathbb{H}} (\int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x^{-1} \circ y|} \rho(x^{-1} \circ y) dy)^{p} dx \leq Q^{p} C(p, Q) ||\rho||_{L^{1}} ||\nabla_{H}f||_{L^{p}}^{p}.$$

The subsequent statement for BV functions follows from the density of $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}) \cap W^{1,1}(\mathbb{H})$ in BV

with respect to the strict convergence. \Box

6.3 Proof of main results

Proof of Theorem 6.1:

First, we expand the integrand on concentric rings with $0 < \varepsilon < 1$

$$\int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \frac{|f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq}}{|h|^{pq}} dh = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{Q} |B(\mathbf{e},1)|} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k}} \setminus B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+1}})} \frac{|f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq}}{|h|^{pq}} dh = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{Q} |B(\mathbf{e},1)|} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k}} \setminus B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+1}})} \frac{|f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq}}{|h|^{pq}} dh$$

Fix $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we make estimates

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{Q}|B(\mathbf{e},1)|} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k}}\setminus B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+1}})} \frac{|f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq}}{|h|^{pq}} dh \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{Q}|B(\mathbf{e},1)|} (\frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+1}})^{-pq} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k}})\setminus B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+1}})} |f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq} dh \\ &\leq \frac{2^{pq}}{|B(\mathbf{e},1)|} \frac{1}{2^{kQ}} (\frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k}})^{-Q-pq} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k}})} |f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq} dh \end{split}$$

Applying the lemma we already proved, we have

$$\begin{split} &(\frac{\varepsilon}{2^k})^{-Q-pq} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^k})} |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq} dh \\ &\leq C(\int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^k})} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ h) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dh)^q \\ &+ C(\int_0^1 \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{s\varepsilon}{2^k})} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dz ds)^q \end{split}$$

Therefore, summing in k and applying the basic inequality $(\sum_k |a_k|)^{\frac{1}{q}} \leq \sum_k |a_k|^{\frac{1}{q}}$.

we have

$$\begin{split} (\int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \frac{|f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq}}{|h|^{pq}} dh)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\leq C \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{2^k})^{\frac{Q}{q}} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon)}{2^k})} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x\circ h) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dh \\ &+ C \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{2^k})^{\frac{Q}{q}} \int_0^1 \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{s\varepsilon)}{2^k})} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x\circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dz ds \end{split}$$

Intergrating the preceding inequality over $x \in \mathbb{H}$ and making use of Tonelli's theorem we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{H}} \left(\int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \frac{|f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq}}{|h|^{pq}} dh \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} dx \\ &\leq C \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2^k}\right)^{\frac{Q}{q}} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{\varepsilon}{2^k})} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x\circ h) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dx dh \\ &+ C \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2^k}\right)^{\frac{Q}{q}} \int_0^1 \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\frac{s\varepsilon}{2^k})} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x\circ z) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dx dz ds \end{split}$$

However, since $h \in B(\mathbf{e}, \frac{\varepsilon}{2^k})$ and $z \in B(\mathbf{e}, \frac{s\varepsilon}{2^k})$ with 0 < s < 1, we have

$$\max\{\int_{\mathbb{H}}|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x\circ h)-\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x)|^{p}dx,\int_{\mathbb{H}}|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x\circ z)-\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(x)|^{p}dx\}\leq$$

$$\sup_{\eta \in B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ \eta) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dx$$

and this bound above is independent of k. Thus,

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \left(\int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \frac{|f(x\circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{pq}}{|h|^{pq}} dh \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} dx$$

$$\leq \sup_{\eta \in B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \int_{\mathbb{H}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x\circ \eta) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dx (C\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{2^{k}})^{\frac{Q}{q}})$$

As the infinite series is summable, the result follows from sending $\varepsilon \to 0$ and using the continuity of invariant in $L^p(\mathbb{H})$. \Box

Proof of Theorem 6.2:

As we have shown that $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$ implies the L^p -convergence in Theorem 6.1, it remains to show the converse. We first treat the case 1 . Let us therefore suppose that there exists $<math>v \in L^p(\mathbb{H}; \mathbb{R}^{2n})$ such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \left(\int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle v(x), h' \rangle|^{pq}}{|h|^{pq}} dh \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} = 0.$$

We then estimate

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{H}} \oint_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x)|^p}{|h|^p} dh dx \\ &\leq 2^{p-1} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle v(x), h' \rangle|^p}{|h|^p} dh dx \\ &+ 2^{p-1} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} |\frac{\langle v(x), h' \rangle}{|h|}|^p dh dx \\ &\leq 2^{p-1} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle v(x), h' \rangle|^p}{|h|^p} dh dx \\ &+ 2^{p-1} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon)} |v(x)|^p dh dx \end{split}$$

Now our assumption (we can take q = 1) is that the first term on the right hand side tends to zero as $\varepsilon \to 0$, while the second is bounded by a constant times the L^p norm of v. Take a sequence ε_n such that $\varepsilon_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ and we have

$$\limsup_{n\to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon_n)} \frac{|f(x\circ h) - f(x)|^p}{|h|^p} dh dx < \infty$$

This left hand side can be rewrite to be

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon_n)} \frac{|f(x\circ h) - f(x)|^p}{|h|^p} dh dx = \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{|f(x\circ h) - f(x)|^p}{|h|^p} \rho_n(h) dh dx$$

with $\rho_n(h) = \frac{\chi_{B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon_n)}(h)}{|B(\mathbf{e},\varepsilon_n)|}$. We can see $\rho_n(h) : \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{R}^+ \cup \{0\}$ is a family of radial mollifiers with

respect to the norm $|\cdot|_{\mathbb{H}}$ satisfies the following properties:

$$i) \int_{\mathbb{H}} \rho_n(h) dh = 1, \forall n > 0;$$

$$ii) \int_{\mathbb{H} \setminus B(\mathbf{e}, \delta)} \rho_n(h) dh \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty, \forall \delta > 0.$$

Now we prove that if $f \in L^p(\mathbb{H})$ and satisfies the inequality

$$\limsup_{n \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x)|^p}{|h|^p} \rho_n(h) dh dx < \infty,$$

then $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$.

We first assume $f \in C^1_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{H})$ then extends to any $f \in L^p(\mathbb{H})$ by density [18]. In order to prove this, we first prove a claim:

let K be a compact set, B is the unit ball with center $\mathbf{e} = (0, ...0) \in \mathbb{H}$, and $K_n = \int_B \frac{|\langle x', h' \rangle|^p}{|h|^p} \rho_n(h) dh$ with x' a unit vector of \mathbb{R}^{2N} , then

$$\int_{K} \int_{B} \frac{|\langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{p}}{|h|^{p}} \rho_{n}(h) dh dx = K_{n} \int_{K} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dx.$$

and K_n does not depend on x'.

To see this we use a lemma in [[15], Proposition 1.13]:

$$K_{n} = \int_{\mathbb{H}} \left(\frac{|\langle x', h' \rangle|^{p}}{|h|^{p+Q}} \right) \rho_{n}(h) |h|^{Q} \chi_{[0,1]}(|h|) dh$$
$$= M\left(\frac{|\langle x', h' \rangle|^{p}}{|h|^{p+Q}}\right) \int_{0}^{1} \rho_{n}(r) r^{Q-1} dr.$$

On the other hand,

$$\begin{split} \int_{B} |\langle x', h' \rangle|^{p} dh &= \int_{\mathbb{H}} (\frac{|\langle x', h' \rangle|^{p}}{|h|^{p+Q}}) |h|^{p+Q} \chi_{[0,1]}(|h|) dh \\ &= M(\frac{|\langle x', h' \rangle|^{p}}{|h|^{p+Q}}) \int_{0}^{1} r^{p+Q-1} = \frac{1}{p+Q} M(\frac{|\langle x', h' \rangle|^{p}}{|h|^{p+Q}}) \end{split}$$

So that

$$M(\frac{|\langle x',h'\rangle|^p}{|h|^{p+Q}}) = (p+Q)\int_B |\langle x',h'\rangle|^p dh$$

This expression does not depend on x', since by an orthogonal \mathbb{H} -change basis which does not alter the measure nor the homogenous norm, it is possible to choose any other unitary vector of \mathbb{R}^{2N} by rotation: set $A \in O(2N, \mathbb{R})$ and call $y' = A^T x' \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$, then

$$\int_{B}|\langle x',h'\rangle|^{p}dh=\int_{B}|\langle x',Ah'\rangle|^{p}dh=\int_{B}|\langle y',h'\rangle|^{p}dh$$

Finally, we can see

$$K_n = (p+Q) \int_B |\langle x', h' \rangle|^p dh \int_0^1 \rho_n(r) r^{Q-1} dr.$$

does not depend on x'.

To prove the claim, since

$$\int_{K} \int_{B} \frac{|\langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^{p}}{|h|^{p}} \rho_{n}(h) dh dx = \int_{K} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} \int_{B} \frac{|\langle \nu_{f}(x), h' \rangle|^{p}}{|h|^{p}} \rho_{n}(h) dh dx$$

where $\nu_{f}(x) = \frac{\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)}{|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|}$ is a unit norm horizontal vector in \mathbb{R}^{2N} , so that $\int_{B} \frac{|\langle \nu_{f}(x), h' \rangle|^{p}}{|h|^{p}} \rho_{n}(h) dh = K_{n}$

Claim is then proved.

Now, we want to prove $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$. Using the triangular inequality, we get

$$|\langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle| \le |f(x \circ h) - f(x)| + |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|$$

So that for any $p > 1, \, \theta > 0$ there exists a $C_{p,\theta} > 0$ such that

$$|\langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^p \le (1+\theta) |f(x \circ h) - f(x)|^p + C_{p,\theta} |f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^p.$$

Combining this relation with the claim we proved, with θ arbitrarily fixed, we get

$$\begin{split} K_n \int_K |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dx &\leq (1+\theta) \int_K \int_B \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x)|^p}{|h|^p} \rho_n(h) dh dx \\ &+ C_{p,\theta} \int_K \int_B \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^p}{|h|^p} dh dx \end{split}$$

 Set

$$J_n = \int_K \int_B \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^p}{|h|^p} dh dx$$

For any $\delta \in (0, 1)$, we can split the integral into two parts:

$$J_n = \int_K \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\delta)} \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^p}{|h|^p} dh dx$$
$$+ \int_K \int_{B \setminus B(\mathbf{e},\delta)} \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|^p}{|h|^p} dh dx$$
$$= J_{1,n} + J_{2,n}$$

By the mean value theorem, there exists a $s^* \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$f(x \circ h) - f(x) = \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ \delta_{s^*}(h)), h' \rangle$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle| = |\langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ \delta_{s^*}(h)) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|$$

$$\leq |h'|_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ \delta_{s^*}(h)) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|$$

$$\leq |h| |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x \circ \delta_{s^*}(h)) - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|$$

Finally, since $f \in C^1_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{H})$, we have

$$1)\frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|}{|h|} \to 0, \text{ as } h \to 0, \text{ uniformly for } x \text{ on compact sets;}$$
$$2)\frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|}{|h|} \le C_K, \forall x \in K \text{ compact }, \forall |h| < 1.$$

Then $J_{1,n}$ is arbitrarily small for any δ sufficiently small by the uniform convergence of $|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|$. To estimate $J_{2,n}$, we can control $|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle|$ and use the tail property of $\rho_n(h)$. More precisely,

(1) for any $\lambda > 0$ there exists $0 < C(\lambda, K) < 1$ such that $|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle| < (\frac{\lambda}{2|K|})^{1/p} |h|$ for all $|h| < C(\lambda, K)$ and all $x \in K$. We then have

$$J_{1,n} < \frac{\lambda}{2|K|} |K| \int_{B(\mathbf{e},\delta)} \rho_n(h) dh < \frac{\lambda}{2}, \forall \delta < C(\lambda, K), \forall n;$$
(2) Since $|f(x \circ h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x), h' \rangle| \le C_K^{1/p} |h|$ for all $x \in K$, we have

$$J_{2,n} \le C_K |K| \int_{B \setminus B(\mathbf{e},\delta)} \rho_n(h) dh, \ \forall \delta \in (0,1)$$

and the integral over the annulus can be made arbitrarily small for n large due to the tail property of $\rho_n(h)$, so that

$$J_{2,n} \le C_K |K| \frac{\lambda}{2C_K |K|} = \frac{\lambda}{2}, \ \forall n > N(\delta, \lambda, K)$$

Thus, for any fixed $\lambda > 0$, there exists an $N(\lambda, K)$ such that $J_n < \lambda$ provided $n > N(\lambda)$. We then end up with

$$K_n \int_K |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^p dx \le (1+\theta) \int_K \int_B \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x)|^p}{|h|^p} \rho_n(h) dh dx + C_{p,\theta} \lambda$$

Which is true for any n sufficiently large. This provides

$$\begin{split} \int_{K} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(x)|^{p} dx &\leq \frac{1+\theta}{K_{n}} \underset{n \to 0}{liminf} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x)|^{p}}{|h|^{p}} \rho_{n}(h) dh dx \\ &\leq \frac{1+\theta}{K_{n}} \underset{n \to 0}{limsup} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \int_{\mathbb{H}} \frac{|f(x \circ h) - f(x)|^{p}}{|h|^{p}} \rho_{n}(h) dh dx \\ &< \infty \end{split}$$

Then we get $f \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{H})$ by the density argument. \Box

CHAPTER 7 CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE DI-RECTIONS

In this dissertation, we have discussed new characterizations of Sobolev spaces on both stratified lie groups and Euclidean spaces. In chapter 2 and 3, we established several new characterizations of Sobolev spaces on Heisenberg groups and Carnot groups. One difficulties considered here is to estimate |f(x) - f(y)|. Our results include the cases 1 and <math>p = 1. In the future study, it will be interesting to study the new characterizations of the high order Sobolev space $W^{m,p}$ for $m \ge 2$ on Heisenberg goups and Carnot groups. In addition, the study of the high order BV space on Heisenberg groups and Carnot groups will also be a worthwhile undertaking.

Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 have been devoted to the new characterizations of high order Sobolev spaces in Euclidean spaces. We used two approaches: by the *m*-th order differences $(m \ge 2)$ and by the m - 1-th Taylor remainder. The question is: can we design a more general function ω in Chapter 5 and 6 such that ω is convex. With some more additional assumptions of ω , we can have a new characterizations of high order Sobolev spaces. In fact, If we let $\omega(t) = t^p$, we indeed get the cases of Chapter 5 and 6.

REFERENCES

- Barbieri, D. Approximations of Sobolev norms in Carnot groups. Commun. Contemp. Math.,13 (2011), no. 5, 765–794.
- Bojarski, B. Pointwise characterization of Sobolev classes. ISSN 0081-5438, Proceedings of the Steklov Institute of Mathematics, 2006, Vol. 255, pp. 65-81.
- [3] Bojarski, B. Sobolev spaces and Lagrange interpolation. arXiv:1201.4708.
- Bojarski, B.; Ihnatsyeva, L.; Kinnunen, J. How to recognize polynomials in higher order Sobolev spaces. arXiv:1109.2339.
- [5] Bourgain, J.; Brezis, H.; Mironescu, P. Another look at Sobolev spaces, in Optimal Control and Partial Differential Equations (J. L. Menaldi, E. Rofman et A. Sulem, eds) a volume in honour of A. Bensoussan's 60th birthday, IOS Press, 2001, p. 439-455.
- Bourgain, J.; Nguyen, H.-M. A new characterization of Sobolev spaces. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci.
 Paris 343 (2006), no. 2, 75–80.
- [7] Brezis, H. How to recognize constant functions. A connection with Sobolev spaces. (Russian)
 Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 57 (2002), no. 4(346), 59–74; translation in Russian Math. Surveys 57 (2002), no. 4, 693–708.
- [8] Borghol, R. Some properties of Sobolev spaces. Asymptot. Anal. 51 (2007), no. 3-4, 303–318.
- [9] Cheeger, J. Differentiability of Lipschitz functions on metric measure spaces Geometric and Functional Analysis 9 (1999), 428–517.
- [10] Cohn, W.S.; Lu, G.; Wang, P. Sub-elliptic global high order Poincaré inequalities in stratified Lie groups and applications. J. Funct. Anal. 249 (2007), no. 2, 393–424.
- [11] Coifman, R.; Weiss, G. Analyse harmonique non-commutative sur certains espaces homogenes.(French) Etude de certaines integrales singulieres. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 242.

Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1971.

- [12] Cui, X.; Lam, N.; Lu, G. New characterizations of Sobolev spaces on the Heisenberg group. Journal of Functional Analysis, Vol. 267, No. 8 (2014), 2962-2994
- [13] Cui, X.; Lam, N.; Lu, G. Characterizations of second order Sobolev spaces, accepted by Nonlinear Analysis Series A: Theory, Methods & Applications, 2014
- [14] Dávila, J.D. On an open question about functions of bounded variation. Calc. Var. 15 (2002), 519-527.
- [15] Folland, G. B.; Stein, E. M. Hardy spaces on homogeneous groups. Mathematical Notes, 28.
 Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1982.
- [16] Franchi, B.; Hajlasz, P.; Koskela, P. Definitions of Sobolev classes on metric spaces. Ann. Inst.
 Fourier (Grenoble) 49 (1999), no. 6, 1903–1924.
- [17] Franchi, B.; Lu, G.; Wheeden, R.L. A relationship between Poincaré-type inequalities and representation formulas in spaces of homogeneous type. Internat. Math. Res. Notices 1996, no. 1, 1–14.
- [18] Franchi, B.; Serapioni. R.; Serra Cassano F. Meyers-Serrin type theorems and relaxation of variational integrals depending on vector fields, Houston J. Math. 22(4)(1996) 859-890.
- [19] Gagliardo, E. Caratterizzazioni delle tracce sulla frontiera relative ad alcune classi di funzioni in n variabili. (Italian) Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova 27 (1957), 284-305.
- [20] Hajlasz, P. Sobolev spaces on an arbitrary metric space. Potential Anal. 5 (1996), no. 4, 403–415.
- [21] Hajlasz, P.; Koskela, P. Sobolev met Poincaré. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 145 (2000), no. 688, x+101 pp.
- [22] Hebey, E. Sobolev spaces on Riemannian manifolds. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1635.Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1996. x+116 pp.

- [23] Korevaar, N.J.; Schoen, R. M. Sobolev spaces and harmonic maps for metric space targets, Comm. Analysis and Geometry 1 (1993),561–659.
- [24] Leoni, G.; Spector, D. Characterization of Sobolev and BV spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 261 (2011), no. 10, 2926–2958.
- [25] Liu, Y.; Lu, G.; Wheeden, R.L. Some equivalent definitions of high order Sobolev spaces on stratified groups and generalizations to metric spaces. Math. Ann. 323 (2002), no. 1, 157–174.
- [26] Lu, G. Weighted Poincar and Sobolev inequalities for vector fields satisfying Hőrmander's condition and applications. Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana 8 (1992), no. 3, 367–439.
- [27] Lu, G. Local and global interpolation inequalities for the Folland–Stein Sobolev spaces and polynomials on the stratified groups. Math. Research Letters 4 (1997), 777–790.
- [28] Lu, G. Polynomials, higher order Sobolev extension theorems and interpolation inequalities on weighted Folland-Stein spaces on stratified groups. Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.) 16 (2000), no. 3, 405–444.
- [29] Lu, G. Embedding theorems into Lipschitz and BMO spaces and applications to quasilinear subelliptic differential equations. Pub. Math., Vol 40(1996), 301-329.
- [30] Lu, G.; Wheeden, R.L. High order representation formulas and embedding theorems on stratified groups and generalizations. Studia Math. 142 (2000), no. 2, 101–133.
- [31] Lu, G.; Manfredi, J.; Stroffolini, B. Convex functions on the Heisenberg group. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 19 (2004), no. 1, 1–22.
- [32] Lu, G.; Wheeden, R.L. Simultaneous representation and approximation formulas and highorder Sobolev embedding theorems on stratified groups. Constr. Approx. 20 (2004), no. 4, 647–668.
- [33] Mengesha, T. Nonlocal Korn-type characterization of Sobolev vector fields. Commun. Contemp. Math. 14 (2012), no. 4, 1250028, 28 pp.

- [34] Nguyen, H.-M. Some new characterizations of Sobolev spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 237 (2006), no. 2, 689–720.
- [35] Nguyen, H.-M. Further characterizations of Sobolev spaces. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 10 (2008), no. 1, 191–229.
- [36] Ponce, A.C. A new approach to Sobolev spaces and connections to Γ-convergence. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 19 (2004), no. 3, 229–255.
- [37] Spector, D. Characterization of Sobolev and BV Spaces. (2011), Dissertations. Paper 78.
- [38] Stein, E.M. Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions. Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 30 Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J. 1970 xiv+290 pp.

ABSTRACT

NEW CHARACTERIZATIONS OF SOBOLEV SPACES ON HEISENBERG GROUPS AND CARNOT GROUPS AND HIGH ORDER SOBOLEV SPACES ON EUCLIDEAN SPACES

by

XIAOYUE CUI

December 2015

Advisor: Dr. Guozhen Lu

Major: Mathematics

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

This dissertation concerns the new characterizations of Sobolev spaces on Heisenberg groups, Carnot groups and high order Sobolev spaces on Euclidean space. It contains two parts. The first part focus on the characterizations of the Sobolev space on Heisenberg groups and Carnot groups. Throughout this dissertation, the representation formula of Sobolev functions on Heisenberg goups and Carnot groups are used to estimate the difference of function values on two different points in Heisenberg groups and Carnot groups.

In Chapter 1, we introduce the motivation of the dissertation and give a brief review of some known characterizations of Sobolev spaces in Euclidean spaces. We also give the preliminary of the Heisenberg groups and Carnot groups which have different groups structures from the Euclidean spaces.

In Chapter 2 and 3, we study the first order Sobolev spaces on Heisenberg groups and Carnot groups. It originates from studying the asymptotic behavior of the fractional Sobolev space $W^{s,p}(0 < s < 1)$ as $s \to 1$. In Euclidean space, one of the main techniques to characterize Sobolev space is to

use the uniformity in every directions of the unit sphere in the Euclidean spaces. More precisely, to deal with the general $\delta \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$, it is often to be assumed that $\delta = e_N = (0, \dots, 0, 1)$ and hence, one just needs to work on 1-dimensional case. This can be done by using the rotation in the Euclidean spaces. In the types of Heisenberg groups and Carnot groups, this type of property is not available because of the group structure of these two types of groups. Therefore we find a different approach to this characterization. We also study the cases for p = 1 which are the characterizations of BV space.

In Chapter 4 and Chapter 5, we consider the characterizations of high order Sobolev spaces $W^{m,p}(m \ge 2)$ in Euclidean spaces. Chapter 4 focus on the second order Sobolev space's characterizations. We present several types of characterizations: by second order differences, by the first order Taylor remainder and by the differences of the first order gradient. In Chapter 5, we study the characterizations of high order Sobolev spaces $W^{m,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ in Euclidean spaces by the *m* th order differences and the m-1th order Taylor remainder which we define both in Chapter 5.

In Chapter 6, we present that the functions in a Sobolev space possess the type of L^p -derivative which is introduced by Calderón and Zygumnd. In fact, our construction of the condition characterize the Sobolev functions on Heisenberg groups.

AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL STATEMENT

XIAOYUE CUI

Education

Ph.D. in Mathematics, Dec, 2015 (expected) Wayne State University, Detroit, Michigan

M.A. in Mathematical Statistics, April, 2014 Wayne State University, Detroit, Michigan

B.S. in Mathematics, June 2010 University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China

Awards

Graduate Student Travel Award, Joint Mathematics Meetings, San Antonio, 2015

Graduate Student Travel Award, The 4th Ohio River Analysis Meeting, University of Kentucky, 2014

The Pual A. Catlin Award, Wayne State University, 2014

The Maurice J. Zelonka Endowed Mathematics Scholarship, Wayne State University, twice winner, 2013 and 2014

Outstanding Student of the Undergraduate Research Program, University of Science and Technology of China, 2008

Outstanding Student Scholarship, University of Science and Technology of China, 2007

List of Publications and Preprints

X. Cui, N.Lam and G. Lu, *Characterizations of Sobolev spaces in Euclidean spaces and Heisenberg groups*, Appl. Math. J. Chinese Univ. 2013, 28(4): 531-547

X. Cui, N. Lam and G. Lu, New Characterizations of Sobolev spaces on the Heisenberg group, Journal of Functional Analysis, Vol. 267, No. 8 (2014), 2962-2994

X. Cui, N. Lam and G. Lu, *Characterizations of second order Sobolev spaces*, accepted by Nonlinear Analysis Series A: Theory, Methods & Applications, 2014

X. Cui, N. Lam and G. Lu, On some variants of Moser-Trudinger type inequalities and their extremal functions in the Heisenberg groups, manuscript in preparation

X. Cui and G. Lu, *Characterizations of high order Sobolev spaces*, manuscript in preparation

X. Cui, New characterizations of Sobolev spaces on Carnot groups, manuscript in preparation

X. Cui and G. Lu, L^p differentiability: A new characterization of Sobolev space on Heisenberg group, manuscript in preparation